		TECHNICAL REPORT STANDARD TITLE PAGE		
1. Report No.	2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Catalog No.		
CFHR 3-5-72-176-4				
4. Title and Subtitle		5. Report Date		
BEHAVIOR OF AVIATIV LOADED	NDITIEN SUMETS	March 1976		
IN CLAY-SHALES		6. Performing Organization Code		
7. Author's)		8. Performing Organization Report No.		
Ravi P. Aurora and Lymon C	. Reese	Research Report 176-4		
9. Performing Organization Name and Addre	\$3	10. Work Unit No.		
Center for Highway Researcl	n			
The University of Texas at	Austin	11. Contract or Grant No.		
Austin, Texas 78712		13. Type of Report and Pariod Covered		
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address				
Texas State Department of H	lighways and Public	Interim		
Transportation; Transp	portation Planning Division			
P. O. Box 5051		14. Sponsoring Agency Code		
Austin, Texas /8/6/				
Work done in cooperation w	ith the Department of Transp	ortation.		
Federal Highway Administrat	tion.			
Research Study Title: "The	e Behavior of Drilled Shafts	1		
16. Abstroct				
The behavior of axial resistance to compressive is test shafts were loaded to the tension steel could be Montopolis near Austin, and detailed analyses of field shear strength of soils, th lated to the shear strength shales. A design procedure suggested for computing axis	ly loaded drilled shafts which loads from clay-shales is stu- failure using a new type of recovered after testing. The d one shaft was tested in Da data as well as laboratory a he load transferred to the co- n and in-situ dynamic penetrate, with indications of its list ial capacity with drilled sha	ch derive most of their udied. Four instrumented reaction system in which all nree shafts were tested in llas. On the basis of and field evaluation of the lay-shale has been corre- ation resistance of clay- imitations, has been afts in clay-shales.		

17. Key Words		18. Distribution Statement		
drilled shafts, axially load shales, instrumented, testing tension steel, design procedu	No restrictions. This document is available to the public through the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, Virginia 22161.			
19. Security Classif. (of this report)	20. Security Class	sif, (of this page)	21- No. of Pages	22. Price
Unclassified Unclassified		ed	184	

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-59)

BEHAVIOR OF AXIALLY LOADED DRILLED SHAFTS IN CLAY-SHALES

by

Ravi P. Aurora Lymon C. Reese

Research Report 176-4

The Behavior of Drilled Shafts Research Project 3-5-72-176

conducted for

Texas State Department of Highways and Public Transportation

> in cooperation with the U. S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration

> > by the

CENTER FOR HIGHWAY RESEARCH THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT AUSTIN

March 1976

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the Federal Highway Administration. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

PREFACE

This report is the fourth report on the findings of Research Project 3-5-72-176, "The Behavior of Drilled Shafts."

This report presents the results of an investigation of the behavior of axially loaded drilled shafts in clay-shales. The study is based on the results of load tests on four instrumented drilled shafts installed in clayshales by different construction methods. Two shafts were built by the casing method, one by the slurry displacement method, and one by the dry method. This report suggests a procedure for designing axially loaded drilled shafts for use in clay-shales with due consideration of the construction method. The procedure is suggested on the basis of evaluation and analysis of field data acquired by testing instrumented drilled shafts to failure.

The authors would like to acknowledge the work of several dedicated individuals who contributed to this report. The field work was completed with the technical assistance of Messrs. Jim Anagnos, Harold Dalrymple, Gerardo W. Quiros, the late Terrance L. Bowman, and John E. Joerns; Messrs. Horace Hoy and Chet Safe of the Texas Highway Department helped during the planning and construction phases of the project. The Farmer Foundation Company of Houston, and Martin and Martin Foundation Drilling Contractors of Dallas, made financial contributions to the project and were helpful in other ways. Brown & Root of Houston made a contribution of the special adaptor used in the reaction system. The cooperation and contributions of the above individuals and companies are gratefully acknowledged.

The authors would like also to gratefully acknowledge the support of the Federal Highway Administration.

iii

This page replaces an intentionally blank page in the original. -- CTR Library Digitization Team

ABSTRACT

The behavior of axially loaded drilled shafts which derive most of their resistance to compressive loads from clay-shales are studied. Four instrumented test shafts were loaded to failure using a new type of reaction system in which all the tension steel could be recovered after testing. Three shafts were tested in Montopolis near Austin, and one shaft was tested in Dallas. On the basis of detailed analyses of field data as well as laboratory and field evaluation of the shear strength of soils, the load transferred to the clay-shale has been correlated to the shear strength and in-situ dynamic penetration resistance of clay-shales. A design procedure, with indications of its limitations, has been suggested for computing axial capacity of drilled shafts in clay-shales.

KEY WORDS: drilled shafts, axially loaded, clay-shales, instrumented, testing, tension steel, design procedure.

This page replaces an intentionally blank page in the original. -- CTR Library Digitization Team

SUMMARY

This study is concerned with the behavior of axially loaded drilled shafts in clay-shales. Four instrumented drilled shafts were installed in clay-shale using different methods of construction. Three shafts were tested at Montopolis, near Austin; they were built using the dry method, the casing method, and the slurry displacement method. One shaft was build in Dallas according to the casing method without use of any slurry. All the test shafts had total penetration of less than 30 ft and a penetration of about 5 ft in the clay-shale. A new reaction system was devised by which all the tension steel in the anchor shafts could be recovered after testing.

From this study it was found that:

(1) the dry method of construction gives the highest load transfer as well as the highest base resistance. The slurry displacement method and the casing method give about the same response under axial loading.

(2) The reaction system used in this test program worked very satisfactorily and was highly economical.

Based on the findings of this study a design procedure was suggested for shafts penetrating about 5 ft into clay-shale and having a total penetration of under 30 ft. This page replaces an intentionally blank page in the original. -- CTR Library Digitization Team

IMPLEMENTATION STATEMENT

This study presents a procedure for the design of axially loaded drilled shafts in clay-shales for various methods of construction. A new reaction system has also been developed during this study. The design procedure as well as the reaction system is recommended for immediate implementation to achieve economy in the design of axially loaded drilled shafts in clay-shales and in performing load tests on axially loaded members such as drilled shafts and piles.

The suggested design procedure is limited to shafts penetrating about 5 ft into clay-shale and having a total penetration of no more than 30 ft. It is, therefore, recommended that further field studies be carried out on instrumented shafts of different lengths. In order to ensure economy and safety, a procedure to estimate the in situ shear strength of clay-shales should be established. This page replaces an intentionally blank page in the original. -- CTR Library Digitization Team

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACE	iii
ABSTRACT	v
SUMMARY	vii
IMPLEMENTATION STATEMENT	ix
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	
Purposes of This Study	2 2 2 4
CHAPTER 2. REVIEW OF PREVIOUS STUDIES	
Types of Studies	7 8 12 13
CHAPTER 3. SOIL-STRUCTURE INTERACTION IN DRILLED SHAFTS	
Mechanics of Soil-Structure Interaction	23 27 28 31
CHAPTER 4. GEOTECHNICAL INFORMATION	
Site Selection, General Location, and Geology	33 34 41 43 53 59 61

CHAPTER 5. INSTRUMENTATION

Basic Ideas Used for Instrumentation Measurements of Loads and Movements at the Top of	 the	• Sh	aft	•••	•••	•	63 64
Measurements of Loads at Selected Locations						•	v -
Within the Shaft			•	• •			66
Data Logging System Used for Tests	• •	•	•	• •		•	72
SHAFIER 6. CONSTRUCTION DETAILS							
Preparatory Work for Construction			•				79
Construction Details of Test Shafts			•			•	80
Details of Reaction System	• •	•	•	• •	• •	•	8
CHAPTER 7. PARTICULARS OF FIELD TESTS							
General Information		_				-	97
Details of Field Tests							9
Comments on Field Tests		÷					10
CHAPTER 8. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION OF TEST DATA							
Approach Used for Analysis of Field Data		•				•	109
Load Distribution Curves		•				•	11
Load Transfer Curves		•	•				11
Base Resistance Curves		•	•	• •		•	11
Summary of Results and Their Discussion		•	•	•		•	12
Limitations of Test Results	• •	•	•	•	•••	•	13
CHAPTER 9. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS							
Introductory Remarks	•		•				13
General Conclusions	• •		•	•	•		13
Design Conclusions	•		•				13
Suggested Design Procedure			•	•	•		13
Limitations of the Suggested Design Procedure			•	•	• •	•	14:
Recommendations for Future Studies	• •		•	•	• •	•	14
REFERENCES	• •	• •	•	•	• •		14
APPENDIX A. DRILLING LOGS	• •		•	•		• •	14
APPENDIX B. RESULTS OF IN-HOLE TESTS		• •	•	•			15'

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

During the past few decades the acceptance of drilled shafts as a foundation element has rapidly increased because they have become very economical on the basis of cost per ton of load to be supported. This strong competitive position of drilled shafts is due to many reasons. Noteworthy among the reasons is the development of construction procedures to build the drilled shafts in conformity with the proposed design and specifications.

Drilled shafts are frequently used to support bridges, high-rise buildings, elevated expressways, waterfront structures, and machine foundations. They are even used with tie backs as earth retaining walls for deep excavations. In many cases, drilled shafts offer a cost-effective and safe solution to high-capacity foundation needs. Yet, more often than not, their design is based upon empirical, or semi-empirical, procedures. Such practices can lead to under-utilization of the load-carrying capacity of a drilled shaft. On the other hand, an unsafe design may also result from the same approach.

It is, therefore, essential to understand how drilled shafts interact with the supporting soil. In this regard, the past few years have seen a flurry of research by government agencies, drilled shaft contractors, consulting engineers, and research-oriented institutions. Most of the research has been directed towards establishing design criteria for various subsurface conditions.

The study described herein, sponsored by the Texas Highway Department and the Federal Highway Administration, is an attempt to fill the gap of information on the behavior of drilled shafts which derive a significant portion of their load-carrying capacity from end resistance and side-friction in shales. Shales are a predominant geologic formation in the Central and West Texas regions. They occur at relatively shallow depths in many parts of the state. Generally, they possess high shearing strength, and are widely used as the principal load-bearing stratum for heavy structures.

1

Purposes of This Study

The main purposes of this study are to

- (1) Understand the mechanics of load transfer for drilled shafts in shales.
- (2) Determine the shear strength characteristics of the shales encountered at two different test sites in Central Texas, namely, Montopolis near Austin, and Dallas.
- (3) Study the effects of construction techniques on the load transfer response of shales.
- (4) Suggest a rational approach for design of drilled shafts installed in shales.
- (5) Identify additional areas of potentially useful research concerning drilled shafts in shales.

General Description of a Drilled Shaft

A drilled shaft is a cast-in-place concrete element, installed fully or partly below ground. It is usually cylindrical in shape throughout its length. Sometimes, it is built with an enlarged base which is monolithic with the cylindrical stem above. The drilled shaft may or may not need reinforcing steel, depending upon design and other considerations. It may be vertical or on batter. If it is properly designed, it can resist forces and moments from any direction. Its circular cross section provides equal section modulus about any axis normal to the length of the shaft. Most commonly, a drilled shaft is used to resist axial compression loads, although it is also used to resist axial tension, horizontal thrust, and overturning moments. Figure 1.1 shows a typical drilled shaft used to resist axial compression load.

The enlarged base of a drilled shaft is referred to as a bell bottom. A shaft with bell bottom is called a belled shaft or a belled-bottom shaft. A shaft without bell bottom is called a straight shaft. The terms drilled caisson, large diameter bored pile, and drilled pier are synonymous with drilled shaft. Other equivalent terms may also exist. In this study the term drilled shaft shall be used to signify a straight shaft.

Status of Information on Drilled Shafts in Shales

At the present time, published data on the behavior of drilled shafts in shales, are rather scarce. O'Neill and Reese (1970), in their state of the



Fig 1.1. Typical drilled shaft to resist axial compression load.

art report, have tabulated research work done on drilled shafts from 1951 to 1969. Further information in regard to the load transfer characteristics of drilled shafts in shales were not found upon additional literature survey. Vijayvergiya, Hudson, and Reese (1969) reported load tests performed on a 30-in. diameter, 28 ft 6 in. long drilled shaft embedded about 10 ft into a clay-shale near San Antonio, Texas. The soil profile at the test site consisted of fat clay to 18 ft underlain by clay-shale. Due to sampling difficulties, the shear strength of the clay-shale was not determined. Although the Texas Highway Department cone penetration tests were performed in the field, erratic variation in dynamic resistance was noted throughout the shale stratum. However, results of load transfer versus movement at two elevations within the shale layer were reported, on the basis of data obtained from full-scale load tests on the instrumented shaft.

The general lack of information on drilled shafts in shales is, in part, due to certain difficulties peculiar to this type of research as discussed below.

Difficulties Involved With Studies on Drilled Shafts in Shales

It is desirable to obtain the following information in a study on the behavior of drilled shafts:

- (1) plunging or failure load for the shaft,
- (2) shear strength characteristics of the surrounding soil, and
- (3) load transfer pattern along the sides and tip of the shaft.

Shales are relatively stronger than most soils encountered in nature. Consequently, the failure loads for drilled shafts in shales are rather high, and failure loads in excess of 500 tons for a single shaft, about 30-in. diameter, can be expected in many cases. Such high failure loads call for special jacks, reaction beams, and anchoring systems, which can be very expensive. Besides, the procurement, installation, and handling of the special equipment can cause delays. Therefore, some investigators have chosen to make small-scale studies in lieu of full-scale field tests on wellinstrumented drilled shafts.

The evaluation of in-situ shear strength of soils, in general, is a difficult task. Completely satisfactory procedures to ascertain the shear strength of a soil in its undisturbed natural state are not available. In the

case of stiff clays, shales, and clay-shales, the following major difficulties are encountered in accurately determining the in-situ shear strength of the soil:

- Undisturbed samples cannot be obtained, because the in-situ material has to be drilled to get any sample at all. This causes substantial disturbance.
- (2) As soon as the sample is removed from its natural state, the release of confining pressures causes micro- and macro-fissures to form. Due to these fissures, the shear strength measured by laboratory tests may be significantly lower than the actual in-situ shear strength. The extent of strength variation due to fissures cannot be precisely determined.
- (3) Progressive changes in soil properties, as well as further increase in the amount of fissures and cracks, occur during storage of samples.

The information on load transfer along the sides and tip of a drilled shaft is usually obtained by use of electrical measurement systems. Some difficulties are encountered with the use of electric systems employed in drilled shafts. Migration of water into electrical circuits, malfunction of strain gages, voids or cavities in concrete near the load-measuring cells, irregularities in the cross section of the shaft, and local crushing of concrete at some points in the shaft, are the chief causes of inaccurate load measurements.

The methods of minimizing possible errors due to the above mentioned difficulties will be discussed in later chapters.

This page replaces an intentionally blank page in the original. -- CTR Library Digitization Team

CHAPTER 2. REVIEW OF PREVIOUS STUDIES

Types of Studies

Research done on axially loaded foundation elements can be divided into three main categories:

- (1) theoretical analyses,
- (2) laboratory model tests, and
- (3) field tests.

The above categories of research are mutually complementary. Hence, individual research projects conducted in the past usually included more than one of the above categories of investigations.

Theoretical analyses are based upon mathematical treatment of an idealized model of the actual member and its surrounding soil. Idealization is done only to make the problem amenable to analysis. Thus, the results of such a study cannot be expected to predict the actual behavior of an axially loaded member. However, these results can be used to plan model tests as well as field tests. Moreover, theoretical studies lead to a better understanding of the important physical phenomena.

Laboratory model tests are done on geometrically similar but smaller versions of full-sized members. They are very economical compared to field tests, and can yield useful information, if properly planned and supervised. Their main limitation lies in their inability to simulate in situ geotechnical conditions, construction procedures, and effects of field conditions on the quality of the in-place concrete.

Field tests are run on geometrically smaller or actual size piles or shafts. Data obtained from these tests are most representative because the actual construction and site conditions are simulated throughout the test. However, they are difficult to manage and are always very expensive. Typically, one test on an instrumented drilled shaft can cost anywhere from 10 to 15 thousand dollars at the present time (1975). Besides, highly specialized field and office personnel are required for these tests. In view of the

7

useful information they furnish, field tests are still considered highly cost effective by a vast majority of engineers and research workers.

Review of Theoretical Studies

Theoretical methods of analyzing axially loaded foundation elements can be broadly classified into three major groups:

- (1) Elastic solutions using discretised pile elements.
- (2) Numerical solutions using discretised pile and soil elements.
- (3) Semi-theoretical methods based upon known or estimated relationships between pile resistance and pile movement at various depths along the pile-soil interface.

Generally, theoretical methods are applicable to piles as well as drilled shafts. Consequently, during the review of theoretical studies the terms pile and drilled shaft will be used interchangeably.

(1) <u>Elastic Solutions Using Discretised Pile Elements</u>: Mindlin (1936) derived equations for stresses and strains due to point loads acting beneath the surface of a semi-infinite elastic medium. His equations formed the basis of analytical studies by various investigators who followed the idea of discretising only the pile, not the soil, into elements as discussed further. The pile is divided into a number of discrete elements interconnected at nodal points. Pile displacements are obtained by considering stiffness of each pile element with respect to axial loading. Stresses and displacements within the soil mass are computed from Mindlin's equations assuming forces on pile elements concentrated at nodal points.

D'Appolonia and Romualdi (1963) used this approach to determine theoretical values of load transfer in end-bearing steel H-piles. They compared these values with actual measurements made on two instrumented piles. These two piles, 14BP89 and 14BP117, were driven through 40 feet of sand and gravel into weathered silty shale. Another study was done by Thurman and D'Appolonia (1965). The investigators of these two studies concluded, on the basis of theoretical computations and instrumented load tests, that methods employing theories of elasticity can be used to predict pile movement and load transfer. They pointed out that the accuracy of the computed results was greatly affected by three factors: the coefficient of lateral earth pressure, the modulus of elasticity of the soil, and the elastic-plastic tip movement.

Mindlin's equations were also used by Salas and Belzunce (1965) who reported an approach to solve for stresses along a loaded pile taking negative friction into account. They assumed that the soil medium could be represented by a Bossinesq half-space and that the pile was a line. They suggested the solution of their integral equation by electronic computer.

Poulos and Davis (1968) used Mindlin's equations to determine the settlement behavior of a single axially loaded incompressible cylindrical pile in an ideal elastic soil mass. They considered the pile as a number of uniformly loaded cylindrical elements together with a uniformly loaded circular base. Their analyses yielded solutions for the distribution of shear stresses along the pile and the displacements of various segments of the pile. They further extended the analyses to a single pile with an enlarged base and showed that, theoretically, an enlarged base had major significance only for relatively short piles. Mattes and Poulos (1969) published results of a similar study on single compressible piles.

Poulos and Mattes (1969) proposed analytical methods to study the behavior of axially loaded compressible single end-bearing piles in an elastic soil medium. Their results showed good agreement with field data reported by others. They concluded that the behavior of an end-bearing pile is largely influenced by the length to diameter ratio, stiffness of the pile relative to the surrounding soil and relative stiffness of the bearing stratum.

Mattes (1969) showed that for the settlement behavior of incompressible piles the consideration of radial compatibility was an unnecessary complication, involving a large amount of computer time compared with that required when radial compatibility is ignored. Butterfield and Bannerjee (1970), (1971) confirmed the observations made by Mattes (1969) with regard to the need for consideration of radial compatibility for compressible piles as well. Their study also included the use of elastic analysis to predict load-settlement behavior of straight and underreamed piles in groups.

Poulos and Davis (1974) presented useful elastic solutions to determine load transfer, pile and soil movement for a single pile or a pile group. Their plots consider cases of end-bearing piles and floating piles as well as compressible and incompressible piles. Their work represents the state of the art of applications of analytical methods based on Mindlin's equations and theory of elasticity.

O'Neill and Reese (1970) have presented an excellent summary of theoretical and semi-theoretical methods to predict the settlement of a drilled shaft.

(2) <u>Numerical Solutions Using Discretised Pile and Soil Elements</u>: During the past decade significant advances have been made in the field of electronic computations, and it is now possible to achieve at a nominal cost rapid solutions of problems involving enormous amounts of computations. These advances have led to the introduction of numerical methods using discretised elements in both the pile and the surrounding soil. Commonly, these methods are referred to as Finite Element Methods. The Finite Element Methods permit mathematical representation of important soil characteristics such as anisotropy, nonlinearity, nonhomogeneity, and time-dependent stress-strain behavior. These methods can be used satisfactorily only if the soil properties and geotechnical conditions can be determined accurately. Reference may be made to Zienkiewicz (1967) and Desai and Abel (1972) for presentations of the formulations using the Finite Element Methods.

Due to its recent development, the Finite Element Method has not been utilized significantly in the area of drilled shafts or piles. Ellison, D'Appolonia and Thiers (1971) made a comprehensive study on five instrumented drilled shafts ranging in diameter from 25 in. to 37 in. and in length from 30 ft 6 in. to 50 ft. They applied Finite Element Method analysis to predict butt movement, tip movement, load distribution, ultimate adhesion and ultimate tip load for each shaft. They compared the predicted values with observed values. Their conclusions indicate that the Finite Element Method can be used to predict accurately the load capacity and load-deformation behavior of drilled shafts.

Desai (1974) published further data comparing actual load-settlement and transfer measurements with values predicted by analysis using the Finite Element Method for three pipe piles, ranging in diameter from 16 in. to 20 in., approximately 55 ft long, installed in sandy soils at two locations in the Mississippi Valley Region. His study shows that, with proper simulation of soil properties, useful results can be obtained by the Finite Element Method. It can be stated that, at the present time, the full potential of the Finite Element Method has not been realized due to lack of understanding of soil properties as well as inability to simulate relevant in-situ geotechnical conditions.

(3) <u>Semi-Theoretical Methods</u>: Coyle and Reese (1966) proposed a semitheoretical approach to predict load-settlement curves for axially loaded members. The method uses load transfer data obtained from full-scale field tests or laboratory model tests on instrumented piles or drilled shafts. The data are presented in the form of curves showing α , the ratio of load transfer to the shear strength (quick) of soil, as a function of the movement of the pile. Such curves are given for different depth's along the pile length. A method is presented to obtain tip load versus tip movement curves. Conceptually, the steps in the method are as follows:

- (1) Divide the pile into sufficiently short segments.
- (2) Assume a small pile tip movement.
- (3) Determine tip load corresponding to the tip movement from the applicable tip load versus tip movement curve.
- (4) Assume movement at midpoint of first pile segment (counting segment numbers from pile tip up) equal to movement of the tip. Find the load transfer, in side friction, from the load transfer curve applicable for the depth of the midpoint of segment. Linear interpolation between load transfer curves of adjacent depths is done if a load transfer curve at a particular depth is not available.
- (5) Compute load acting in side friction on the segment.
- (6) Compute load at top of segment by adding load found in (5) to the known load acting at the bottom of the segment.
- (7) Determine load acting at midpoint of the segment, using a suitable variation of load along the length of the segment.
- (8) Determine elastic compression at midpoint of the segment. For this purpose, assume a concentrated load, equal to the average of loads at the tip and midpoint of the segment, acting over half the segment length.
- (9) Compute new movement of the midpoint of the segment by adding the quantities obtained in (4) and (8).
- (10) Compute the difference between movements found in (9) and (4). Check if this difference is less than an acceptable specified value.

- (11) Repeat steps (4) through (10) until the requirement for acceptably specified value mentioned in (10) is met. In every new iteration set movement in (4) equal to movement found in (9) in the preceding iteration.
- (12) Set load at the tip of the next segment above equal to load found in (6).
- (13) Consider the next segment above and assume the movement at the midpoint of this segment equal to the movement of the top of the segment next below. Repeat steps (4) through (11) for this segment.
- (14) Repeat step (13) until the top segment of the pile has been considered and load and settlement on top of pile for the tip movement assumed in (2) have been determined.
- (15) Repeat steps (2) through (14) until all specified pile tip movements have been considered.

The above approach is easily adaptable to computer analysis. The main appeal of this method lies in predicting a load-settlement curve based on available soil information at minimal cost. Load transfer curves and tip load versus tip movement curves are needed to use this technique. Seed and Reese (1957) first developed load transfer curves. Reference is made to O'Neill and Reese (1970) for a review of work done in the area of available information with regard to load transfer curves. This semi-theoretical method has found acceptance among many practicing engineers and contractors due to its simplicity and practicality. It is to be noted that in this approach the shear stresses at one point are assumed unæffected by stresses elsewhere around the pile. This limitation may require further refinements in isolated cases.

Review of Laboratory Model Tests

Published information on laboratory model tests simulating the construction and loading sequence of drilled shafts does not exist to date. Experiments on model piles with enlarged bases were conducted at the Building Research Station in England by Cooke and Whitaker (1961). One of the principal objectives of that study was to determine the proportions of the load carried by the sides and by the base. The models, which were of brass, had a shaft diameter of 0.75 in. The shaft length varied from 12.5 in. to 48.0 in. while the base diameter varied from 0.75 in. to 3.0 in. Load was measured at the top and base of the shaft and the tests were made by the constant rate of penetration method. This study showed that the resistance due to side friction was mobilized at very small penetration movements, about 0.5 percent of the shaft diameter, while penetrations of the order of 10 to 15 percent of the base diameter were required to mobilize the ultimate bearing capacity of the base. The experiments were conducted only for London clay. In all tests, the clay filling was done around the shaft after it had been placed in vertical position inside a container having a 6-in. thick layer of clay at its bottom.

Clisby and Mattose (1971) reported data on laboratory tests conducted on models to determine the relative bearing capacity of the single- and doublebell piles. The model piles consisted of 1-in. diameter steel shafts with a 2-1/2-in. diameter steel bell or bells. The soil medium consisted of ovendried Yazoo clay with 20 percent petroleum jelly added to replace the moisture and make the clay workable. Double-bells were formed at different spacings along the vertical axis of the shaft. Their results showed that for axial spacing of bells in excess of twice the stem diameter the load carrying capacity stayed constant. This study was done in conjunction with tests on 7 drilled piles of 12-in. diameter with one or two bells which were 24 in. or 36 in. in diameter.

<u>Review of Field Tests</u>

Data on full-scale field tests have been collected only during the past two decades or so. Table 2.1 is a summary of relevant information published up to 1969 relating to full-scale load tests on drilled shafts. This table is from an earlier report by O'Neill and Reese (1970). Table 2.2 summarizes similar information published from 1970 to 1975.

It can be seen from the tables that little is known about the behavior of drilled shafts installed into shales. The study described herein is an attempt to furnish rational information regarding soil-structure interaction in shales with particular reference to drilled shafts subjected to axial loading.

13

TABLE 2.1.	SUMMARY OF FULL-SCALE LOAD TEST RESULTS	S	(UP	то	1969)
	(FROM O'NEILL AND REESE [1970])				

INVESTIGATOR (S) & REFERENCE		Neyerhof & Murdack (1953)	Golder & Leonord (1954)	Horriy (1951)	Green (1961)	DuBete (1985, 1956)
LOCATION		Southuil and Bornat, Looder Arex, England	Keasai Grava, Loodoa Arao, England	Plum Crask, Haugtan, Takss	Barakamwaad, Hartfardsbira, Expland	Callage Station, Taxas
DATE OF TE	ST (5)	1950 - 1952	(950 - 195)	1951	1952 - 1955	1933 - 1955
TESTING METNOO		Quish, Shaffs Looded to Foilare within Several Haure,	Cyclin with Lond Monn- tainad untit Equilibrium Reached in East Cysto. Tasts Required 3 Ouys par Shaft.	Cyplin - Lond Mointeined Several Days Koob Cyple.	Statio, Lung-torm, Dasign Lood Maintained 3 Yours, 6 Maaths, Alya Shart-form M.L.	Meinteinod Lood Merhod Must Taota, Rogainod 4-5 Oars. Alse a For Palloat and Doch Tasta.
SOIL DESCRIPTION		Losdon Cléy. Pranosanidoted, Planevel CH Materiat. Na Granod Walter, Stars Strangth Vecka them 0 5 Stat or S'sa 2.3 rat or 25'-30'. Canatont Balaw 30'.	Londen Gloy, Typical, Sheer Stroogth Variae from 0.4 tot at Top af Cloy to 1.9 tot at 30° Oupth.	Beaumant Ciey. Firm Yellew-Mean painted Clay Interbadded with Welerbarring Silts. Streath and Esplicitly Stated bet about 1.0 raf fadicated.	Landoo Ciay. Typisaf. Shaar Stroayth shaat I.I faf in Teat Zoon as Massared in Uncontined Compression Teste.	Legered Soudy CL and CH Material. Weler-baseing Sile at II ² , Arg. Sheer Sireagin at D.3 Tel along Siden
NUMBER	STRAIGHT	11: 12"-14"#, 20'-40' Depth.	3:18"-24"#, 23'-34.8' Bapth.	1: 20 ⁴ 4, 44' Supth,	0:12*-14*#s 10° Depte.	30: 6"-23"#, 6'- 81' Effective Depth.
OF SHAFTS	BELLEO	0	0	0	0	5: 13"# Stam, 3'# Boll, 10'-19' Effection Depth
CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURE		Borshalan Drilled with Buth Darrick-type Nood Augurs and Larry-masted Paur Augus, Dry Process, Reser- od 1-3 Days to Install East Shaff with Hood Augurs, 63 Winsten - 4 Hours with Puter Augurs.	Presumably with Parar Angers. Plata Looding Tasis Gandardod et Son- orti Loodin in Bertaham. Honce, Holes Presumably Open (hat Ganed) har Periodi at Time Longer than Hormet.	Power Augor mits Caning, No Mod. Sides at Hole Wat. Can- odersbla Skogbing, d' Water in Suttan of Bornack. Instatistican Processibly Can- plated in Dec Bay	Nocksoicet Auger In Q ² . No Nod Usad Hood Auger In Fuicked Capit (10 ³). Three Shofts Cast in Wet Notes.	All 6 [°] and 7 [°] Shatta Hand Angered, Others Installed with Power Angers, Dry Process in Each Cose,
INSTRUMENTED 7 IF SO, HOW 7		Na Sido Mascutansa Godocod Irom Baaring Copenity Equation	No Sida Arsistanan Gadycod Fram Asaring Capatily Edgation	No. Sida Bepittones Boduesd Iram Bonton Caperity Equation	¥0.	Yes, Land Collin Used of Data of & Bireighf Shells SR-4 Segres Used on Robert of Severel Shells Same Sich- ity Problems with SR-4 Sugas an Ro Sers
AVERAGE SHEAR STRENGTH REDUCTION PACTOR & AT ULTIMATE LOAD. (SOIL TEST TO WHICH REFERRED IN PARENTHESES.)		0.21-0.42 of Sootball. Woter-Camaat Relig + 0.4. 0.4-0.8 of Soraet. Woter- Camaat Relig + 0.2. (Avorege of UU Triazist and Unconfined Teste)	0 84-0 74 as referred to Arorage Bort Birength 5.0 os Referred to Constant of Minimum Solt Strongtha (Trissie) Comproseise Taste)	0.8 et 1/2 Grass Settionant Computed by Morris. Prob- obly Migh, bet & Net Loss Thus 0.5 (Average of Triesiel feste)	Not Bassard ont 70%-100% of Short- term Velue Indicated from Long Tatimana Curras for Long Tatim Tests	(.) (Average of UU THO. Triesle) and Uncestioned Tests.)
BEARING C/ FACTOR N _C (BOIL TEST REPERRED PARENTHES	TO WHICH IN IES.}	Nat Mosserad in Shaffa; but 3.4 Obtacod for Plata Leading Tasta in Barabales. (Ausrega of UP Tranial and Unconlined Tasta)	Ber Monared in Sholla; but Factors Verying hum 9.7 to 18.4 Moranet in Plate Looding Table in Lined Bochblos (Ame- Lage of Trinklet Tasts Bocasth Plates)	Rat Wassarod.	Ba ² Hausared	12: Oblemed from Shaft with Side Benstanen Dastroyad Länerage at UU IXO Trienost and Useanlined Texts }
SETTLEMEN PRODUCE S FAILURE	NT TO NDE	Not Liron.	Het Bivan.	Rat Gizas	Nal Sizen.	0.02° - 0.10° with Larger Volume Colorring in Shofts with Larger Gemetars
LOAO DISTR INFORMATI	IBUTION ON	Keet.	3684	Ress	Nose.	Good Information Obtained in al Laest One Test on Straight Shell. Approximatoly Linear Reduction in Land with Depth
TINE EFFE	ст	No lacronse in Ausietanas with time up to 18 Months.	Net Eiree	Nat Birga	See Boleo	Rot Sites.
TINE EFFECT MOISTURE CONTENT OF SOLL ADJACENT TO SHAFTS; SPECIAL TO SHAFTS; SPECIAL REMARKS.		1.3 2% to 7% increase to Marstver Content in Soll within 2 makes of Shoft- Boll Interface of Shoft- Bolton Dopton 2.3 Also Torned Driven Migs- or Resistonce Volven by Fector of 2. Laver Volco in Shofta Attributed to Soltaning at Soll by Migre- tian of Weler from Concrete.	These Tests locksdal in Shangtani 1896 Review, Strangten States Share Strangth Volume Used by Investigations tao Law. Ratesi Grace & Volume Rocampeted by Shangtan to 0.38 - 0.60.		Alter 3 Toore 6 Hooten, Ali Shetty Looded to Approxi- metety Toise Design Lood. The Measured Sertileaped for this Looding Increases for this Cooling Increases for the Corresponding Settiment gr Shert-town Shell Toots. Loodestor Perioaged Looding Bet Detrinanted to Lood- Softlyment Schwige.	1.1 Good Approximat Between Orick and M.L. Tette for Small Domater Shofts, Her a Good for Lenge Domator Bholts 2.3 Estructed Shofts Hed $\frac{1}{4} - \frac{1}{72}$ Sail Addarces to Shoft Shofters Costant Increase to Short Argenerat to Shofts Except at Mark Languet to Shoft Except at Water Costant Increase to Short Agenerat to Shofts Except at Vary Law Initial Mainburg Cantert. 4.1. Pollost Capacity was 47%. 19% at Capacetre Copacity

INVESTIGATOR (S) 6 REFERENCE		Mohan & Jain (1961)	Mahan B. Chandre (1961)	Skempton (1959)	Woodword, Lundgren & Boitons (1961)	Burland, Butler & Dukican (1966)	
LOCATION		Jobalpur, Indië	Poons, Shapet, Ujjein and Jabalgur, India	Ten Sites in Loodon Aras, England	Lomsore, Colciorere	Noorfields, Lendon Area, England	
DATE OF T	EST (S)	1937 - 1959	Lete 1950's	1950 - 1959	Not Reported	Nat Reportad	
TESTING METHOD		Shart-form Pullant and Compression., Time Incro- ments for Loading ant Specified.	Shert-term Pullout, Com- pression and Cyclic. Time Incraments for Leading Not Specified	Veriad	Shart-lerm M.L.	Shert-lerm M L. In I S Times Working Lood Followed by C.R.P. to Folloro	
SOIL DESCRIPTION		Black Catlan Soil. Highly Expansive Clay. Shear Strangth about 1–2 Tat.	Black Catton Soil Highly Expansive Clay. Shaar Strongth about O.T = 1.6 Tel	Landan Clay Typica. Shaar Strangth Yarias from 0.4 til at Tap of Clay to 2.5 til at 50' Dopth.	Laporad Stiff, Silfy ond Sondy Clay, Shoor Strangth obact 1.0 1st.	Loodan City Typical Shear Strangth obout 1 tal at Sarfaca to 2.0 tat at 50 Feat	
NUMBER AND SIZE	STRAIGHT	t): 9"-12"#, 6'-12' Oopth.	45: 5"-12"# , 5'-12" Orgth.	34: 12"-36"¢ , 8'-65' Panetratian at London Clay	3 [ia Clay], 18 "gl, 36'- 46' Dapth	1: 36 [°] p , 31 [°] Depth	
OF SHAFTS	BELLED	12: 9"- 12"# Stam, 21"- 50" Ball, 6'-12' Depth	0	0	0	2: 36"# Siem, 72"# Bell, 21' and 31' Deep	
CONSTRUCT PROCEDUR	TION E	Youd Hand Spirol Augers and Portable Hand Under- Reawers.	Not Specified.	Variad Some by Hand and Some by Power Augering,	Mechanicat Duckat Rig with Cosing Me Mud Used Shelts Concreted Immediately Atter Brütting Finished	Hochanically Bared Straight Shoft Bared and Concreted Same Day Batted Shofts Concreted Day After Daring	
INSTRUMENTEO ? IF SO, HOW ?		No. Side Resistunca Detormood Tram Pollou Tosta and Tram Campresian Tosta ao Shoila With Folso Batlama.	No. Sida Resistance Dotermin- of from Patient Tests, Teste as Badoffs with Pates Bottoms and Cyclic Taste Using Ven Wolks Wolka'd U Seprettan d Base and Side Loads	Na Sida Resistanca Doducad Iram Guarcag Capacity Equation	No. All Shofts Hed Folse Dethans to Gue Direct Road- lag al Sido Copacity.	Ba Sida Rosistanco Doducad Tran Basing Capacity Equation	
AVERAGE S STRENGTH FACTOR & A LOAD (SO)	HEAR REDUCTION T ULTIMATE	0, 3	0.45 - 0.54	0.3-06, sith 0.45 Average	D.49 - 0 57	0.8, Peok; 0.33, Rusidual for Large- displacement C.R.P. Tusts	
WHICH REP PARENTHE	ERRED IN SES.)	(Averege of Veccolined Compression Tests)	(Soil Tosts Not Specified)	(Average of Triggint Teels)	{Average of Uncentined Compression Tests }	L'Annrage af 44 Trucklet Posts)	
BEARING CAPACITY FACTOR N _E (SOIL TEST TO WHICH REFERRED IN PARENTHESES.)		0 - 0 for Straight Shafts. 3-4 for Balled Shafts. Colonissed by Sobtreeting Shaft Area Times Average Shaft Residence from Patilost Tasks from Witt- were Lood. (Average Unconfined Compression)	Not Siron	Nor Einen.	Nat Gore	Nat Givan Rosaita al Sanarat Pinta Baaring Tasta Roportad	
SETTLEMEN PRODUCE S FAILURE	NT TO BIDE	Apprasimolely C.23".	Het Given	0.4° ior ion Shafis Canorruciad with Yard Under Busa.	dat Giron	Approximately 0 23"	
LOAD DISTR	NBUTION	Nore.	Noos	No+0	Nees	No=1	
TIME EFFECT		No Long-term Battlement on Shatt Londod to My Witemate Copecity for Two Years	Rolating offer Lopis of Dao Your Showed No Sacrosco in Fristiani Rocistanda,	No Significant Chango in Capacity on Relating Several Shulls.	Not Giros	Hot Gives.	
MOISTURE CONTENT OF SOIL ADJACENT TO SHAFTS; SPECIAL FEATURES; OTHER REWARKS.		Low Ne valvas Colculatod Lor Bollad Skefta Mor Bo Dua ta Rodoced Sida Na- ulataces Inotood of Reduced Rake Capacity.	1.) Fricilas Totts So- tuoos Sail and Dry Can- arate Save Castificiant of Fricilias al 0.75 of 1 Bit Normal Pressure. 2.) Measured Radial Maistore Gradisale Adja- cant to Samo Pilas. 2-3 Statemate I Marines Satt Gradisat Increase Noor Battom.	 1 Tat Resembled os Linit for Side Resistance 2.) Low & Papters Asso- cietad with Siles where Construction one Siles and where Water Caused Deter- veration of Sides of Serebabs. 	Driven Prop Print of Stightly Santiar Dianolar Save & Factors al about 0.6 in Bama Bail, Other Bhaft Touls Performed in Bandy Bail,	1) Authors Cancinge Resident Voine of G. Should be Used to Dusing of Balled Badite 2) Anthors olde Report Reside of Tatts and a Lange Hinris by Dorrington in which $d > 0.5$ for 2 Streight Badits and a 0.3 for 2 bollod Shelte	

TABLE 2.1.	(CONTINUED)).
------------	-------------	----

INVESTIGATOR (S) & REFERENCE		Auriand £ 1963)	Frishmann & Planing (1962)	Flaming & Salter (1962)	Williams & Colmen (1965)	Whiteher & Cooks (1866)
LOCATION		Looden, Engined	Blackfriers Rend; 81. Siles Gircos; Loodos, England	Cramwell Ad., London, England	Siont Bl. Holens , London , England	Wombieş, Niddisses, Laodas, Esgland
DATE OF TE	ST (5)	Not Reparted	tist Raperted	Not Reporter	1962 - 1963	1982-1963
TESTING		Shart-tern H.L. and CRP,	Hointeined Lood,	Maintaned Lood	Maiataidad Lood and Qaiak Tosta,	Mainterent Lond in 78% Villmate Lond. CRP to Pollura
SOLL BESCRIPTIONS		Londoa Gioy. Shuur Streagth Prafilo Aur Green.	Looden Ciny. Biostériere Site Silly. Arg. Sheer Sireagh along Sucies 1.8 tot (Biostfriers), 1.6 tot (St. Siles). Arg. Sheer Sirreagh Social Biose 1 25 for (Biostfriers), 28 tot (St. Siles).	Landen Ciny. Shoor Strangth Variad Iram 0.9 tol or Tap at Ciny Ta 2.4 tof at 37 fant Pasatratian.	Landun Clay. Typocol Strangth Profile. Miningen Strangth Ecoologo Variae from 1 to 2 Parl.	London Clay Typical. Shoor Strangth Vernation 0.7 tet as Sertoca at Clay 10 i 8 ref at 80 Oppla
NUNDER AND SIZE	STRAIGHT	21 (Diaghrogans) d'a i.8', 40' Dapth	0	0	See Nomerts	6: 2'-3'\$, 30.5'-30' Peasiestion of Clay.
OF SHAFTS	atu to	0	2: 2'-5" and 3'-0"# Stans, 5'-0" and 5'-1" # Balls, 50' Prestration at Clay.	(: 4'\$ Siana, 10 ¹ -8" \$ Sall, 38' Dopth.	300 Remarks	71 2'-3's 3tems, 4'-8' Bolin, 28'-48' Panatration of Clay
CONSTRUCTO PROCEDURE		Eash Lionean Escovered with Grob. Gae Disphangm inclut- od Bry. One insthatio esting Bartpoile Storey, Each ale- ment Yeah Yea Days to Install. Bath Carod Phron Weats Balare Test.	Mechanisofiy Dorad. Biochfriers Canarabol Immedialaly. Darabola Quos Three Days of Bi Biles. Gry Presses.	Nothenises Augus.	Hand Excented B. Open Banth in 124 ¹ Orgin. Hain Hastig Dry Except in One Zann.	Coloold Power Equiphion, Isling Hermai Good Phatice Boom of Bollad Shall's Closed by Hend Med Shall's Open Que Day of Lass
INSTRUMENTED ? IF SO, HOW ?		ke.	Tee. St. Gries Shaft Lastramont- ed with Peripect and Tep of Berly, Weitrippe Strain- Repts an Verlessi Steel, Machanical Steen Wree Pasyan and Strain Wires Performed Wate.	5 4.	Bo, '	Yas Electrical Load Gatts Placed a) Pap al Batta or Sathan at Stronght Shafta.
AVERAGE SU STRENGTH R FACTOR & AT LOAD. (SOIL WHICH REFY PARENTINES	NEAR IEDUCTION INLTIMATE ITEST TO ERRED IN NES.)	Rat Binos Clamasi iasialhad mith Daasanita Starty ilad Nearly Idastici Land Satta- mai Carro as Bry Ekandol. Approximentity Sama & Pach ar Jupitad Tar Each.	Aperenimology 0.2 of Beachtriara and 0.33 of St. Bilos. Low Value of Biachtriara Afrikanda to Higher Silf Contect. (Solt Tax Preseders Bol	Ret Tostad vo Poilars, but & Prubably about 0.6 (Sail Tast Pracoders Bot	10 when Sidex of Barahaia ard Dry Minimum Constant of UU Tri-	0 44 - Als Shaffa Little Veriation with Bapth or with Size of Base {Average of UN Trias of Tests}
			Sires ?	Brogen 3	asial Tapta)	
BEARING CA FACTOR N _E . (SOIL TERT 1 REFERRED 1 PARENTHES	IPACITY TO WHICH IN HES.)	Ret Øires	Nor Obtained at Stack- frines, Br. Biles Shalt not Campintary Poiled.	Het Giren.	9 her Booring Tasta-da Blackt, Occarring at Sattlemast of 9%, of Base Diameter in Qaick Toots (Missimm Evolage of Wilsimm Evolage of Wilsiman Evolage of	6.75 - All Shaffs Mahiled at Sattlanest of 10%-20% of Bong Diamster (Avarage WU Tristich 9.0 LWistum Roslope of WU Tristich Texts)
SETTLEMEN PRODUCE SA FAILURE	IT TO IDE	Approximatoly 0.2" for Both Dry and Bostanita - approx Elamears.	Nat Bross.	Nut Sires.	0.05°= 0.4° Where told Dry Babied Broot 0.8° Where Soil Wet Bahied Broot	0.15" for 2's Shefts to 0.30" for 3's Shefts Little Orforness Between Bolled and Unbolled Shefts,
LOAD DISTMI	NUTION M	Ryant.	Rei Asperled	Reas	Rens.	N ++++
TIME EFFECT		Rot Groes.	Rot Birron.	Net Girco.	Rei Øiren.	Approximatoly 12% (nerosse in Bide Registenza in One Tear Based on Palt Teata of Ansher Shefts, herzebe Propertionet in Legerishe, ef Tyme.
MOISTURE C OF SOIL AD TO SNAFTS FEATURES; REMARKS.	XUMTENT HACENT ; SPECIAL OTHER	(.) Generally 3%-4% in- cross -> Maispire Central in Soit Near Seth Elements. Estant of Heisters Wordflum was 2-3 inable. E.) Union Stampfork Sheer Strongth Profile for Landon Clay and General Coperity Equation, & was Approxi- metely 0.8.	Stron Gapes Esperiment came Instability, har del Shur Decreaning Lond arth Capite. Ramerical Results War Bureo.		1) Jostod Belvoon Bone Bincts and Bogtinos of Process Con- Loots Saaft Liner Fractod to Soil to Obtene Fristianas Re- tisfance and Bote Copenty of Savatra Lorolo. 2) Timmedicto Sattanasof Achieved in 2 Minutes for the Liner.	 Sida Raussianca Baretaped Wen Graafter Than Fatty Softwa- od Share Strangth of Satt. Propared Design Wolkods Presonaid.

INVESTIGATOR (S) & REFERENCE		Deb & Chandra (1964)	Matich & Kozichi (1967)	Komornik & Wisemen (1967)	Van Doren, Høzerd, Stallings & Schnacke (1967)
LOCATION		Jabolgur, Ujjava, Paono and ladore, India	Brocktield , Nove Scotle	North Tal Aviv , Spraak	Wichild, Konsos
DATE OF TE	ST (S)	Nat Reported	1954	Not Reported	1966
TESTING METHOO		Laag-tarm (2 ¹ /2 years) Maintaided Laad and Shart Term Maintaided Laad	Nordloicad Load Compression an Varified Shoffs, M L. Polt- eat an Rifled Shoffs	Cyeliz	Meinteined Lood
SOIL OESCRIPTION		Block Catlan Son) Mighly Espansive Clay, Shaar Straeght Adoot 1-2 tid, Zeen of Sociesan Walstere Change fo 12 [°] Dayth	Danas Biescai Titi (CL) Approximatoly 30' Thick Overlying Beatharte Stella Average Bharr Strangth, far Till, 1.0 tst, far Bhaie, 2.8 tst	Singhiy Sandy Fot Clay Alang Sidat Sama Sand Baga Panadad in Camartad Yuliau Band, Arraya Shara Strongth al Clay 1 Stat	Sill, Sand and Billy Clay Overlanden 25 Feat Thics Overlying Weithdra-to- iniact Statio and Gynom Shan: Straegth at Shale Wai 1-10 tif. He Share Straegth Tasts in Overborden
NUMBER AND SIZE OF SHAFTS	STRAIGHT	6 9"-12"y, 6'-12' Dogit	2 Smooth Sidned, 52°, 40° Orght is TiR and Shole 2 Ritlad, 24°, One 20° in Till, One 13°6° in Shole	t - 26"# , 63 ⁻ Depie	5' 30 "p , 44'- 74' Dopta
	BELLED	7 : 0"- 12"p , 23"- 35" Bolis, 12' Depik, Des Daskis Boli	0	0	0
CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURE		Wolded Nai Spacifiad Prasamably Portabla Nood Augor	Wrchanical Apring, Two Shafts Had Arited Bordhales with a Spirel Gostra 3 [®] Osop with 19 [°] Pirab	Ecceto Welked	Machanica: Augar Gorchaia Tarangh Grechardon Pracassa urb Bantonia Siarry, Coad and Solad Get Sierry Lettic Halas Guernight Ortiling into Shalo Accumplished in the Ory
INSTRUMENTED ? IF SO, HOW ?		84	Be	80.	Yas Hydraulic Pressure Collo uud Barebalo Extessanators 34 Different Louge
AVERAGE SHEAR STRENGTH REDUCTION FACTOR ZAT ULTIMATE LOAD. (SOIL TEST TO WHICH REFERRED IN PARENTHESES.)		Approximaraly () S - All Shaffe	Unrified - 76515 that Conducted to Family, and Galbant 0 3 to Till Goned an Shaps of Load Sattlannas Corros Billed - Approximately 10 on Desin of 24 ⁶ Datif 36- andro e Bath Shake and TiB	Complete Factore Bai Achieved, bai et Loost 500 pa) Developed la Bida Frichipo la Clay Theo dt > 0.17	Campiono Foriaria Nat Achanad, but Horraum of 18000 and Joo Friction registed in Douborden Material Sonder Fahlen Har Achieved in Daela
		(Soil Teels Nat Specified)	(Anorage of UU Voccoficed and Teresist Tests)	(Average of Youn Shimir Teats)	
BEARING C FACTOR N _C (SOIL TEST REPERREO PARENTHES	APACITY TO WHICH IN BES.]	Not Gires	Nat Oblained in Tests	Not Direirad in Teste	Met Obterzad in Texts
SETTLEMEI PRODUCE S FAILURE	NT TO SHDE	Not Biosa.	Complete Failura Mai daila Actuaved in Pollagi Testa in Billed Shofts of O.C.*-1.C. Wannast	Abest O i " impligd from Logd Settlamgat Caros	H01 G.cos
LOAD DISTR	NON ON	liono	N 60 1	No10	Land Decreased Samewhol' Erratically with Dapib
TIME EFFECT		Gerriansolt Stabilized in I-3 Washbool L0-15 Timos Warbiog Load. Long-Term Shase Oxformation of Abort Ox Nether at D.3 Timos Ultimate Land.	Not Green	Net 6:***	Noi Given
MOISTURE OF SOIL AD TO SHAFTS FEATURES REMARKS.	CONTENT JACENT ; SPECIAL ; OTHER	Comparison of Hermot Balted Saatta arch Balted Shafta aith Sida Frictian Dantraynd Indiant- ed Har Side Frictian in Ensurelisty Constant with Timm at Londs of 0.3 -0.6 of Ultimate in Long Term Totto.		Authars Discass Shall Matafied a Saad at Rearby Sita with Gastania Stury Tashvisea Tast Reavity Indicated High Bide Rearstance.	•) He Eurodence at Piese of Weebooks Baimous Shafi and Sait in Orordburden others Sirting Was Used 2) Evidence Same Baima Way Have Occorred at Infor- face Batman Ororthordan and Shaip

TABLE 2.1. (CONTINUED).

TABLE 2.1. (CONTINUED).

INVESTIGATOR (S) & REFERENCE		U.S. Army Engineer District, Fort Werth, Texas (1968)	Reese & Hudsen (1966)	8kongt { 1968 }	Watt, Kurfurst, B Zoman (1969)	Rasse , Hudson B Vijayvergiya {1969}
LOCATION		Lockland Air Farco Base, Son Antonia, Taxas	Austin, Tosos	Edmantas , Albarta	Sazbalaan, Sankatchowan	San Antonia, Tazan
OATE OF TE	LST (S)	-361-1367	1988-1967	+#87	1947	1967 - 1968
TESTING NETHOD		Skart and Long Torm Mgintaisand Laad.	Qaich Tanto.	Maiatusoud Lood Laad Cyclod for Shafty in Till.	Cquilibrian Nothad,	Quich Tests.
SOIL Description		13 For of CH and GC motorel Overlying Josted Shale Shela and Overlanden Highly Expensive Conten 73 % Meatmarillasite. Anorage Shear Strangth of Overlanden 1 raf 1, at Shela (InTest Zung) 5 187.	Fol Clay with Cuttorscon Hoterial to 6 andorisin by Loan Clay, Destansailetted Shore Strangth Anoropage 2.5 (st. No Weter.	Top 20 [°] , Stiff Sity Cley. Shoer Strongh « I ta?; Vadar- ten by 3 [°] of Sit. Nocust Trill, Shoer Strongfb 3 3at, Bannath Siti.	Highly Plastic Clay (7-13' with Share Strangth + 0.8 faf Waterboeing Sitig Clay (3-18', with Share Strangth - 0 Straf Blacial Tifl 18' - 28' with Share Strangth + 1.0 taf.	Fet Clay to 16 Underland by Clay-Sould. Considerable Scoul Bhar Strangt World from 1 to Stangt World from 2 Could be Recovered
NUMBER AND SIZE OF SHAFTS	STRAIGHT	3 ±16 ⁴ #,13 ⁴ Doptk, Nosa Resistanço Dastropod	1: 24°#, 12°Bapik	2 in Clay, 16"-20\$, 16'-17' 2 Enbedment, 2 in Till , 20'-20'\$, 11'-22' Enbedment,	S' 24°5, 10.5° 28.8° Em246 - mant. Voida Basesth Bases.	15 30 °#, 66.5' Dept b
	BELLED	18"-30"0 Sten, 36"-46" 4: Bells, 39'-38'Oopth	0	•	0	•
CONSTRUCT PROCEDUR	tión E	Power Augurs with Cesing. Gry Process. After Lectrel Load Texting, Sile wen Poulod for One Year to Produce Sail Espaneien.	Nuchanical Augar. Listallad an iba Dry in Several Maars	Machanicul Augor, tastollad 18 Iba Dry 10 1-C Haura,	Nochanical Augor Drillad Balow Walor Table Withoat Use of Hud. Water in Langast Shaft Installation Regained 4 Neuro Per Shaft	Power Auger. Bry Procedure. Installed in One Day -
INSTRUMENTED ? IF SO, HOW ?		- Yee, Bonded Strein Gages Algag Reinfacsing Staal, Carlas Stress Meters Issistied Algag Sidas In Maguro Lateral Prosents.	Yee. Concrete Embedment Bages, Strate Rado, Lateral Earth Pressers Calle at Savaral Lavois	Yeo Ali Shafta Mad Elec- tronic Luad Calla Maar Baas Goserolly Rolishic Reselts. Also Visid Strem Reds	Ust Reported	Yas Canstata Embadu.ast Bagaa, Siraus Mada , Lateral Prassarra Gagas.
AVERAGE SHEAR STRENGTH REDUCTION FACTOR & AT ULTIMATE LOAD. (SOIL TEST TO WHICH REFERRED IN PARENTHESES.)		About 0.2 to 0.6 for Short Shofta in Grachurdon, on the Order of 0.3-0.3 in Shota Baced on Short Term Teating I Accrega of Vil Trincial Teata }	0.33 [Average of Unionimod Compression Faste]	0.03 to Clay. 0.93 to Toll (Assrays of Madratasd Triattasd Saccofrond Toats)	0.3 in Clay J.O in Silly Clay and Till, L Androgu of Direct Shawr and Terrona Fastai	Ngalman of Approximativity 200 Joss Freedowed to Side Priction. If Net Concerned Since Vadjisterbed Samples Could No & Recovered for Eastine Langth of Embedment
SEARING C FACTOR N _C (SOIL TEST REFERRED PARENTHE	APACITY TO WHICH IN SES.)	Uisiaere Pecter Not Clariy Oofined.	B 2 (Assage of Undistanted Vecustions and Faity Softward Unsurfaced Tourn 1	Constale Bancing Costaits Election of Moyorbol Bacamandod N _{CO} : 13-28 Possé in Till	Reeo.	Not Gives
SETTLENER PRODUCE S FAILURE	NT TO SIDE	0.05°-0.2° is 36art 56arts is Overbarden, Not Clearly Gofiand, for 3kels,	Appraximatoly 0 :"	0.12" ve Cley. Variad va Fill: 0.4" – 4 S*	Appraximatoly 0.13° for Shaft Embaddad im Plaaric Clay and Silty Clay Ner Clauriy Befinad for Othera	Not Wall-dationd Bradant Pailara from D 2° to 0.6° Sarriannas?
LOAD DISTRIBUTION INFORMATION		Gogae Forrty Stable Over Shart Form Showed Increa- od Load Trensfor Noor Battion of All Shofty.	Lood Orbirikarion Approx- imotoly Linear Only Pour Locale of Asiat Lood Transdacers	Nexe -	8444.	Yory Little Lood Traaster in Tap at Sheft; Highest Laad Yroaster L6-t8 tst3 in Clay- Skate Baar Base
TIME EFFECT		One Underroemed Shelt with Boll in Shelt Under IZO Tens Suiteised Lood Show- ed Aboot 40 Joan Nesiss in Shelt Abiot Gol One Yaar Atlor Test Site Pended	Nol Giran	Hai Giren	Raf Burga	Not Gives.
WOISTURE CONTENT OF SOIL ADJACENT TO SHAFTS; SPECIAL FEATURES; OTHER REWARKS.		L.) Strais Gages Indicated Tansus, Goring Coring, 2) Level Taris Costacted an Only Four Seatts 3) Tansie Strasses an Order of Hart of Maximum Sheer Medicized Ooring Compress una Tasting (Advertig Area Santo 4.) Lebral Pressers Cells Indicated Corth Presser Castfreided Corth Pre	Tasta Canductad Primori- 17 in Evoluaro Walbods 41 Instrumontation	1.) Process a Rossite of Model Tests of Shofts in Sit: Rg Abeut 6. C Abeut 0.0. 2.) 24 Neor Sattloment Readings Socians "Portably Oriferent" from Immediats Sattlements of Abeut 2/5" of Plunging Lood.	Gerahata Siragt Skaper Doniga Usad ta Oklain Skaper Sirasa ek, Yurtical Monakaber Geraen far Yarasa Narade Prosesan ognipat Maila al Barabala Pran Resolta, Authora Dadac- ad Maximum Prantard al Uper Acting Lateratity Garling Actual Land Tost.	Lood Treacter and Lood - cationean Carrelation Neda as Sains at Taxas Hisbard Department Care Penalmentar Tests

Investigat and Refer	or(s) ence	O'Neill and Reese (1970)	Barker and Reese (1970)	Touma and Reese (1972)
Location		Houston	Houston	Houston, George West (US 59)
Date of Te	st(s)	1968-1969	1969 - 1970	1970-1971
Testing Method(s)		Quick, Quick maintained, and cyclic		Quick and cyclic
Soil Description According to Unified Soil Classification System		0 - 29 ft CH 29 - 32 ft ML 32 - 42 ft CL 42 - 48 ft CH 48 - 51 ft CL 51 - 60 ft CH	0 - 0.75 ft concrete slab 0.75 - 14 ft SC 14 - 22 ft SM 22 - 34 ft ML 34 - 42 ft CL 42 - 70 ft CH & CL layers	15-30 ft of CL, ML, and CH soil layers overlying SP or S layer into which the shaft tipped
Number and Size of Shafts	Straight	3, 30 in. Ø, 23-45 ft depth	1, 36 in. ǿ, 60 ft depth	 3, 30 in. Ø, 25.4 - 73.5 ft depth 1, 24 in. Ø, 19.8 ft depth 1, 36 in. Ø, 54.8 ft depth
	Belled	1, 30 in. Ø, 23 ft depth	0	0
Construction Method		3 shafts by dry method 1 shaft by slurry method	Slurry method	<pre>2 shafts by dry method 3 shafts by slurry method</pre>
		and the second s		

TABLE 2.2. SUMMARY OF FULL-SCALE LOAD TEST RESULTS (1970-1975)

Investigator(s) and Reference		Beckwith and Bendenkop (1973) Report to Arizona Highway Department	Wooley and Reese (1974)	Engeling and Reese (1974)
Location		Phoenix and Tempe, Arizona	Houston	Bryan, Texas San Juan, Puerto Rico
Date of Test(s)		1972-1973	1973-1974	1973
Testing Method(s)		Maintained lo a d	Sustained load (several months)	Quick
Soil Description According to Unified Soil Classification System		Layered, weakly to strongly lime cemented CL, CH, SC and GC layers	0-32 ft CH 32-70 ft SM	Bryan: 0 - 50 ft CH with CL layer from 15 - 21 ft and MH layer from 29 - 32 ft. Puerto Rico: 0 - 23 ft SC, 23 - 41 ft CL-SC, 41 - 48 ft S, 48 - 65 ft CH fissured.
Number and Size of Shafts	S tra ight	9: 30-36 in. Ø, 15.6-35.6 ft depth	1: 30 in. ø, 62 ft depth	3: 30 - 36 in. ∅, 42 - 62 ft depth
	Belled	18: toothed or belled shape 24 - 30 in. Ø, 15.9 - 22.0 ft depth	0	0
Construction Method		Dry	Slurry method	Dry with casing Slurry method

TABLE 2.	2.	(Continued)
----------	----	-------------

Investigator(s) and Reference	O'Neill and Reese (1970)	Barker and Reese (1970)	Touma and Reese (1972)
Type of Instrumentation	Mustran cells and embedment gages	Mustran cells	Mustran cells
Average Shear Resistance Reduction Factor α at Ultimate Load	0.24 - 0.52	0.6 for clay 0.8 for sand and silt	0.3 - 0.9 for clay 0.6 - 1.8 for sand
Bearing Capacity Factor N c	8.7 - 12.6	10	Not applicable - tip in sand
Type of Soil Test To Compute α and N _c	Quick Triaxial (UU)	Quick Triaxial (UU)	Quick Triaxial
Total Number of Load Tests	9	7	5 main tests and several cyclic tests

Investigator(s) and Reference	Beckwith and Bendenkop (1973) Report to Arizona Highway Department	Wooley and Reese (1974)	Engeling and Reese (1974)
Type of Instrumentation	Tell tales and LVDT's	Mustran cells and vibrating wire gages	Mustran cells
Average Shear Resistance Reduction Factor α at Ultimate Load	Not reported	0.18	0.59 - 0.70
Bearing Capacity Factor N _c	Not reported	Tip in sand - not applicable	9
Type of Soil Test To Compute α and N _c	Not applicable	Triaxial Quick	Triaxial Quick
Total Number of Load Tests	27	1	3

* At all sites the soils were weakly to strongly lime cemented.

.

.

CHAPTER 3. SOIL-STRUCTURE INTERACTION IN DRILLED SHAFTS

Mechanics of Soil-Structure Interaction

The mechanics of soil-structure interaction can be studied in two different ways. Vesic (1970) referred to these ways as "the transfer function" approach, and "the elastic solid" approach. In this chapter the former approach is referred to as "the distribution function" approach.

The distribution function approach was first proposed by Seed and Reese (1957) as illustrated in Fig 3.1. In this method the change in the magnitude of axial force with change in depth z along the pile is represented by a curve, called the load distribution curve. The curve shows that at the top of the pile, z = 0, the load in the pile equals Q_T , the applied load. At any other depth, z, the load in the pile equals the difference between the applied load, Q_T , and the side friction force acting on the circumference of the pile, z = L, the load on the pile equals Q_B , the axial force at the base of the pile. As shown in Fig 3.1(b), Q_s represents the total force of side friction acting on the shaft. Thus,

$$Q_{\rm T} = Q_{\rm B} + Q_{\rm s} \tag{3.1}$$

If the function Q(z) defining the load distribution curve is obtained along with the displacements at the top of the pile, a simple mathematical approach can be used to study the load transfer function s(z), as explained below.

The movement of the pile wall at any depth z differs from that at depth z + dz by an amount equal to the elastic compression of the length, dz, of the pile. Also, this elastic compression is equal to the

23


Fig 3.1. Distribution function approach for a single pile.

unit strain of the pile, at depth z, multiplied by the length dz. This statement can be expressed mathematically as follows:

$$dw_z = \frac{Q_z}{AE} dz$$

or,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{w}_{z}}{\mathrm{d}z} = \frac{\mathrm{Q}_{z}}{\mathrm{AE}}$$
(3.2)

in which w_z is the movement of the pile wall at depth z , Q_z is the load acting on the pile at depth z , A is the cross sectional area of the pile, and E is the modulus of elasticity of the pile material.

Further, if the axial load acting on the pile at depth z, exceeds that at depth z + dz by the amount dQ_z , then

$$dQ_{z} = -s_{z} \cdot C \cdot dz \qquad (3.3)$$

where s represents the load transferred per unit circumferential area at depth z , and C is the circumference of the pile. Equation (3.3) can be rewritten as

$$s_{z} = -\frac{1}{C} \cdot \frac{dQ_{z}}{dz}$$
(3.4)

The above equation states that the magnitude of the load transferred per unit area from the pile to the soil, at depth z , is equal to the slope of the load distribution curve at that depth divided by the circumference of the pile.

Equation (3.4) also suggests that the load transfer information can be readily obtained once the load distribution curve is drawn. Equation (3.2) can be used to determine the displacement, w_z , at depth z, if the displacement, w_o , at the top of the pile, is known, because

$$w_{o} = w_{z} + \int_{o}^{z} \frac{Q_{z}}{AE} dz \qquad (3.5)$$

or

$$w_z = w_0 - \int_0^z \frac{Q_z dz}{AE}$$
(3.6)

With information about s_z and w_z on hand, it is possible to study the relationship between load transfer and pile movement at any depth along the pile. This relationship is usually referred to as the load transfer curve at a certain depth z. It can be expected that both the load distribution function Q(z) and the load transfer curves will be affected by changes in the applied load Q_T .

If the load distribution curve and displacement at the top of the pile for a particular load Q_T are obtained, the soil-structure interaction at that load can be analyzed by using the distribution function approach. This approach has been often used during the last decade in an attempt to rationalize the design of drilled shafts. The approach is approximate only to the extent that it does not consider the effect of load transferred to the soil at one point upon the loads at other points within the soil mass.

The "elastic solid" approach is an attempt to minimize the above noted approximation by using the equations of Mindlin (1936) as described earlier in Chapter 2. The main drawback of this approach lies in idealizing the soil as a homogeneous, elastic, isotropic medium which can be defined by the two deformation characteristics, namely, modulus of deformation and Poisson's ratio. Generally such a simplification cannot be justified for real soils.

The distribution function approach is currently the best available method for gaining an understanding of the interaction between pile and soil. The approach makes use of field data and reveals the behavior of a drilled shaft under actual geotechnical conditions. The study reported here is based upon the distribution function approach.

Methods of Studying Load Distribution in Drilled Shafts

Information about load distribution in drilled shafts is usually obtained at discrete points spaced suitably along the length of shaft. The locations of these points are selected in such a way that anticipated changes in the load distribution pattern may be properly recorded. The changes may be due to changes in the geometry of the shaft or other in-situ conditions.

Axial loads in piles or drilled shafts can be measured by load cells, tell tales, vibrating wire cells, and electrical strain gages. For details of these and other types of load measuring devices, reference is made to Perry and Lissner (1962), Snow (1965), Barker and Reese (1969), Mansur and Hunter (1970), and O'Neill and Reese (1970). Important aspects of the particular electrical strain gages used in this study are discussed later in Chapter 5. General concepts of load measurements in axially loaded drilled shafts using electrical strain gages are given in the next few paragraphs.

In an elastic material, stress and, therefore, load is proportional to strain. From elementary knowledge of mechanics of elastic materials the following equation is obtained:

$$Q_z = A E \epsilon_z \tag{3.7}$$

in which A , E , and Q_z have the same meaning as in Equation (3.2), and $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_z$ represents the strain in the shaft material at depth z . Equation (3.7) is true only if the material of the shaft is elastic, the applied vertical load Q_T is concentric with the axis of the shaft, the shaft is plumb, and any change in geometry of the shaft does not cause eccentricity between the centroid of the cross section and the line of application of the vertical load. In order to determine Q_z , all the quantities on the right hand side of Equation (3.7) must be known.

At present, it is assumed that both A and E are known, so that only \notin_z , the strain at depth z, is to be determined. If a cylindrical slice of the shaft is imagined at depth z, having a thickness ℓ parallel to the axis of the shaft and positioned concentrically, then the strain on this slice is given by

$$\epsilon_{z} = \frac{\Delta \ell}{\ell}$$
(3.8)

in which $\Delta \ell$ is the axial compression of the slice itself, due to an average load Q_z . A Mustran cell described later in Chapter 5 is a device to measure ϵ_z using the principle of equation (3.8). By installing Mustran cells at suitable depths within the shaft, load distribution along the shaft can be established with reasonable accuracy. These basic concepts are utilized in the study of axially loaded drilled shafts.

Factors Affecting Load Distribution and Total Capacity

Load distribution along the length of a drilled shaft depends, to a large extent, on the existing geotechnical conditions. The construction procedures as well as the shape and spacing of drilled shafts are greatly influenced by the environment into which the shaft is built. Those factors, in turn, affect load distribution. To get an idea of the influence of the subsurface conditions, it is helpful to consider the two extreme cases shown in Fig 3.2. In the case of a strong rock underlying a very weak soil stratum, the system is analogous to a spring of zero stiffness, representing side resistance, acting in parallel with a stiff spring, representing base resistance. Thus, any load Q_{T} applied at the top of the shaft is transferred entirely to its base. In the other case, a stiff spring, representing side resistance, is acting in parallel with a spring of zero stiffness, representing the base resistance. In this case all the load is taken up by side resistance. For simplicity, it has been assumed that the shaft is rigid, implying that all points within the shaft undergo the same movement relative to the surrounding soil: in a real system, the shaft material will be elastic, not rigid; and the shear strengths of soil layers will be neither as uniform nor abruptly contrasting as shown in the illustration. Therefore, the real load distribution curves will fall in between the two extremes shown in Fig 3.2(b) and (d). Thus, the actual shape of the curve is controlled, to a great extent, by the actual subsurface conditions which determine the relative stiffness of the in-situ soils.



Fig 3.2. Two extreme conditions showing zero and uniform load transfer due to different geotechnical conditions.

Geotechnical conditions also dictate the construction procedures which in turn affect the load distribution pattern. This will be further clarified in the next few paragraphs. Reference is made to Reese and Hudson (1968) for a formal presentation of the mechanics of drilled shafts.

The position of the groundwater table relative to the shaft often controls the method of installing the shaft. If the water table is high the drilled hole generally cannot stand open because high seepage gradients combined with relief of confining pressures cause the soil around the hole to collapse. This problem is more severe in loose, cohesionless soils which cannot stand vertical even for a short duration due to lack of cohesion and interparticle friction. Drilled holes in fissured or jointed clays can also collapse easily due to flow of water towards the hole.

The difficulties arising from high water table or soft soil conditions necessitate the use of the "casing method" or the "slurry method" as opposed to the "dry method" of construction. Each method of construction is described in detail in Chapter 6.

Highly alkaline or acidic soils tend to react with the shaft materials. This may not only alter the load distribution pattern, but may cause a considerable reduction in total capacity of the shaft, accompanied by structural damage. In such situations special types of cements, aggregates and reinforcing bars become necessary.

In expansive soils, an upward load is placed on the shaft by the swelling soil, thus changing the load transfer and concrete stresses significantly. A net tension load may result in spite of the compressive loads from the supported structure. Thus, the geometry as well as the structural details of the shaft have to be adjusted to counter the effects of swelling soils. Design values to estimate the effects of swelling on the load distribution for drilled shafts are not available. Mohan (1961), (1969), (1975) reported the use of single or multiple bells in the zone of insignificant moisture variation in black cotton soil areas in India. Newland (1968) reported foundation uplift up to 12 in. of a building in Adelaide, Australia, which was supported on a pier foundation in a swelling soil.

Farmer (1969) and Baker and Khan (1971) have cited some examples of drilled shafts where they believe the leaching out of cement was caused by ground water flow. Such a defect would inevitably impair the structural integrity of the shaft, thus causing failure of concrete before the soil fails.

Factors Affecting Load Transfer and Base Resistance

Load transfer denotes the resistance offered by soil, per unit area of soil-pile interface, when the shaft moves relative to the soil. The summation of the load transfer over the entire circumferential area of the shaft equals the side friction component, Q_s , of the axially loaded member. By its very nature, load transfer is related to the shear strength of the soil. Under ideal conditions, full shear strength should be mobilized as load transfer. Low values of load transfer do not necessarily imply low shear strength of the soil because load transfer may be affected by one or more of the following factors:

- (1) construction defects,
- (2) type of soil,
- (3) depth of soil stratum, and
- (4) type of soil underlying the base.

Presence of voids, slurry, or loose material between the shaft and the surrounding soil can significantly reduce load transfer even though the surrounding soil may be strong. Cavities within the shaft can cause unpredictable movements which will be reflected in the load transfer behavior as well. Poor quality of concrete can increase the compressibility of the shaft, thus requiring larger movement at the top to achieve maximum load transfer.

Shear strength of fissured clays and hard soils may be considerably reduced due to release of confining pressures. When a hole is drilled to install a shaft, the confining pressures on soil elements next to the shaft are either totally removed or appreciably reduced, thus causing reduction of shear strength and possibly load transfer capabilities of the soil.

Presence of soft layers under the base tends to have the effect of a soft spring. Thus, if the upper layers are stiff, there will be a greater load transfer above the base. This is shown by Poulos and Davis (1974) in their charts based on the analytical approach. Factors affecting the base resistance are generally those which affect the bearing capacity of deep footings. They are discussed by O'Neill and Reese (1970) and in several text books such as one by Terzaghi and Peck (1968). Construction defects alone can supersede all factors which can affect the base resistance of a drilled shaft.

CHAPTER 4. GEOTECHNICAL INFORMATION

Site Selection, General Location, and Geology

Site selection for the tests near Austin centered around locating easily accessible areas with shale at shallow depths and with the least possibility of collapse of a drilled hole. These criteria were set to obtain maximum information on the behavior of drilled shafts in shales within available time and resources. A study of the Geological Highway Map of Texas (1963) revealed that the Taylor and Austin formations constitute shale outcrops near Austin. The drilling records of the Texas Highway Department confirmed that shale exists in Montopolis, about 6 miles southeast of Austin near the intersection of highways SH 71 and US 183, at depths ranging from 15 ft to 30 ft. One site for a load test in shale was selected by the Texas Highway Department. The site was at the construction site for the interchange of IH 35 - SH Loop 635 in Dallas. The Texas Highway Department furnished useful subsurface information at that construction site. Their drilling logs showed that shale deposits exist within a depth of 15 to 20 ft from ground surface.

With the general knowledge of subsurface information near the intersections of highways SH 71 and US 183, the task of site selection at Montopolis narrowed down to locating an area where the difficulty of drilling through the upper soil layers was insignificant, and the shale layer was at a shallow depth. Accessibility to the area was very good, being next to two highways. Three exploratory auger holes were made in the third week of August, 1974, in the general area of the intersection. At the first location, there were considerable drilling problems due to the presence of a loose, water-bearing sand and gravel layer within 10 ft from the ground surface. Moreover, shale was found at a depth of 43 ft, which was deeper than expected at that site. Another location was chosen about 1000 ft south of the first one. Here, the shale was located at a depth of 27 ft, the hole was dry and drilling through the upper soil layers was not difficult. About 225 ft west of the second location another exploratory auger hole was made. Here, the shale was

at a depth of only 17 ft and the water-bearing sand and gravel layer, although present, did not cause drilling problems. The area around the third exploratory hole was considered most suitable for conducting research on three instrumented drilled shafts. This site is designated as the Montopolis Site. All load tests performed at this site are referred to as Montopolis Tests.

It was decided to conduct load tests on one instrumented drilled shaft at the construction site in Dallas, within the framework and schedule of the existing contract for construction of the interchange IH 35-SH Loop 635. The personnel of the Center for Highway Research at The University of Texas at Austin were assigned the task of instrumenting one of the tests shafts, and recording and analyzing the data obtained from load tests. With the cooperation of the personnel of the Texas Highway Department as well as the foundation contractor, Martin and Martin, all the necessary arrangements were made to conduct tests at this site, which is designated as the Dallas Site in this study. All load tests performed at the Dallas Site are referred to as Dallas Tests.

Figure 4.1 shows the general location of the Montopolis and Dallas Sites with regard to the predominant geologic formations in Texas. Both these sites have shales from the same geologic formation known as the Austin formation. These shales are sedimentary deposits from the Gulf Series of the Cretaceous System, which is the most recent system of the Mesozoic Era. Generally, these shales are underlain by a limestone layer which is several hundred feet thick, according to the Geological Highway Map of Texas (1963). These two sites are about 200 miles apart.

Description of Borings at the Test Sites

<u>Montopolis Site</u>: Seven borings, up to 34 ft deep, were made by different techniques at the Montopolis Site. Their layout in relation to the test shafts (MT1, MT2, and MT3) and reaction shafts (MR1, MR2, and MR3) is indicated in Fig 4.2 and Table 4.1. Five of these borings, B1, B2, B3, SP1, and TP1, were taken by the personnel and equipment of the Texas Highway Department in accordance with their procedures. G1 was the original exploratory boring made during site selection on August 21, 1974, by the contractor, Farmer Foundation Company. G2 was a special boring made for in-hole tests



Fig 4.1. Locations of the two test sites (after Barker and Reese, 1970).



O BI



See Table 4.1 for Location of Drilled Shafts and Borings shown above.

Fig 4.2.

. Locations of drilled shafts and borings at the Montopolis Site.

Symbol	Explanation	Location *
MT1	Test Shaft + Casing Method	4.5 S 7.8 E
MT2	+ Test Shaft Slurry Method	13.5 S 7.8 E
мтз	+ Test Shaft + Cased, End Bearing	9.0 S 0.0 E
MR 1	Reaction Shaft	0.0 N 0.0 E
MR2	Reaction Shaft	18.0 S 0.0 E
MR3	Reaction Shaft	9.0 S 15.6 E
B1	Wet Barrel THD Boring	55.0 S 8.0 E
в2	Wet Barrel THD Boring	10.5 S 26.0 W
в3	Wet Barrel THD Boring	2.0 N 39.0 E
G1	Exploratory Auger Hole	16.0 S 21.0 W
G2	Auger Hole for In-Hole Tests	18.0 S 26.0 W
SP1	Boring with Standard Splitspoon	12.0 S 26.0 W
TP1	Boring with THD Cone	14.0 S 26.0 W

TABLE 4.1. LOCATIONS OF DRILLED SHAFTS AND BORINGS AT THE MONTOPOLIS SITE (Reference Fig 4.1)

* With respect to MR1, distances in ft.

+ Installation method of test shaft.

with the cooperation of the contractor. A brief description of the borings at the Montopolis Site follows.

Borings B1, B2, and B3 were made to obtain 3-in. diameter continuous undisturbed samples for shear strength and identification tests in the laboratory. The samples were taken between the ground surface and a few feet below the proposed tip elevation of the test shafts. These borings, as well as TP1 and SP1, were drilled from December 6, 1974, to December 12, 1974. The construction of all shafts at the Montopolis Site had been completed earlier, in October, 1974, under a separate contract. As a result, projecting shafts and excavated soil lying around them did not allow the borings to be located any closer to the test shafts than indicated on Fig 4.2. Boring Bl, located about 42 ft south of MT1, was drilled with a 3-in. I.D. push barrel up to a 4-ft depth without any drilling mud. Thereafter, drilling mud was used along with a Modified Wet Barrel fitted with a Push Barrel, as described in the Texas Highway Department Foundation Exploration and Design Manual (1972). This boring could not be drilled beyond an 8-ft depth due to a suspicion that a drainage pipe passing through the area was in the line of drilling at this location.

Boring B2 was located away from the estimated centerline of the drainage pipe as close as possible to the test shafts. It was located approximately 26 ft west of MT3. Samples were recovered without the aid of drilling fluid to a depth of 6 ft. From 6 ft to the bottom of the hole at 34 ft, drilling mud was used. Drilling problems, caused by partial collapse of the hole, became significant from 8 ft to 14 ft in depth in spite of the drilling mud. A 5-1/2in. I.D. casing was installed from the ground surface to a depth of 14 ft to overcome this problem which was due to water-bearing sand and gravel layers in that zone. No sample was recovered from a depth of 14 ft to 16 ft due to misjudgment of depth. From the 16-ft to the 34-ft depth a Mocified Web Barrel fitted with a Push Barrel was used without any drilling problems. Work on this boring was done up to the 24-ft depth on December 6, 1974. The remaining portion of drilling was done on December 9, 1974.

Boring B3 was located on the east side of the test area, opposite B2. This was done to allow interpolation of the soil profile at each test shaft as accurately as possible. B3 was drilled from the ground surface to a depth of 22 ft on December 11, 1974; the remaining 12 ft were drilled on December 12, 1974. Drilling mud was used after taking samples up to a depth of 6 ft. After a sample at the 16-ft depth had been taken, the upper soil layers began to fall into the drilled hole despite the use of drilling mud. The caving was probably due to a 4-ft thick, water-bearing sand and gravel layer found approximately 10 ft from ground surface. A 5-1/2-in. I.D. casing was installed to a depth of 16 ft to overcome this difficulty. Drilling proceeded from the 16-ft depth to the bottom of the hole without any difficulty.

Borings TP1 and SP1 were made to measure dynamic penetration resistance of the in-situ soils using the Texas Highway Department cone and the standard split-spoon, respectively. TPl was located about 3 ft south of B2. A Wet Barrel, without the inner Push Barrel, was used to advance drilling and to get disturbed core samples, if possible. Drilling mud was used throughout the drilling process. Texas Highway Department cone penetration resistance was measured from depths of 2.5 ft to 30 ft at 2.5-ft intervals, and the last measurement was made at a depth of 33 ft. After each measurement of the THD cone penetration resistance, the hole was drilled to the next lower depth using a Wet Barrel and drilling mud. Samples thus obtained were highly disturbed and were used only for visual identification. The THD cone penetration measurements and recording were done in accordance with the current procedures of the Texas Highway Department. TPl was drilled to a 22-ft depth on December 9, 1974. No work was done on December 10, 1974, due to inclement weather. Drilling to the bottom of the hole at a depth of 33 ft was completed on December 11, 1974. The dimensions of the THD cone are shown in Fig 4.3.

SP1 was located about 2 ft south of B2. The purpose of this hole was to get the Standard Penetration Resistance, using a split-spoon sampler and a 140-pound hammer falling 30 in. However, the drilling rig available at the site was geared only for the THD cone test in which a 170-pound hammer falling 24 in. is used. In order to utilize the available equipment as far as possible, the height of fall of the 170-pound hammer was adjusted to 24.7 in. so as to produce the same energy of fall as a 140-pound hammer with a fall of 30 in. Drilling mud was used throughout the drilling operation. Penetration-resistance readings were recorded at the ground surface, and from the depth of 5 ft to 12.5 ft at 2.5-ft intervals. The top of the shale layer was hit at about a 14-ft depth, and it was decided to end the hole at that depth. Samples obtained by the splitspoon were used only for visual identification. SP1 was drilled on December 12, 1974.



Fig 4.3. Dimensions of the Texas Highway Department Cone Penetrometer (courtesy Texas Highway Department).

The exploratory hole G1, situated about 6 ft south and 5 ft east of B2, was the first hole drilled at the Montopolis Site during the process of site selection. It was drilled with a 24-in. hollow stem auger using the rig normally employed for installing drilled shafts. The main purpose of this hole was to locate the top of the shale layer. To that extent, the information obtained from this hole was useful. This hole was drilled on August 21, 1974.

The second auger hole, G2, 48 in. in diameter, was drilled for the sole purpose of obtaining in-situ shear strength of the shale at the Montopolis Site. It was located about 8 ft south of B2. The drilling was done without any drilling mud. After advancing the hole to a depth of about 16 ft, where shale existed, a 48-in. diameter casing was installed to preclude problems due to caving of the soil and gravel layer above. Some tests were performed on the shale on December 16, 1974. The hole was advanced to a depth of 18 ft on December 17, 1974, and the remaining in-situ tests were performed at that depth. Details of in-hole tests are described later in this chapter.

<u>Dallas Site</u>: The Texas Highway Department furnished all the drilling logs prepared for the construction of IH 35E - SH Loop 635 Interchange. These logs provided information on soil types, strata thicknesses, number of blows for THD penetration tests using the THD cone, and method of coring. Limited resources precluded the possibility of making additional borings to procure undisturbed samples for laboratory tests. With the cooperation of the foundation contractor, Martin and Martin, a 54-in. diameter cased hole DG1, similar to the hole G2 at the Montopolis Site, was augered to a depth of about 25 ft below the ground surface. In-hole tests on the shale were conducted at this depth on August 15, 1975; these tests are described later in this chapter. The locations of the borings in relation to the test shaft and reaction shafts are shown in Fig 4.4.

The drilling logs are presented in Appendix A.

Methods Used to Procure and Preserve Soil Samples

Undisturbed samples were obtained only at the Montopolis Site. The samples were 3 in. in diameter and were recovered by a Modified Wet Barrel fitted with a Push Barrel. Briefly, the sampler consists of two barrels,



 \star Taken by Texas Hwy. Dept., Figs 4.10 and 5.9 show information obtained from this boring.

Fig 4.4. Locations of test shaft DTl and boring B-6 at the Dallas Site.

inner and outer. The outer barrel is rigidly connected to the drill rod and rotates with the rod, whereas the inner barrel, a thin-walled tube, is connected to the outer barrel with a swivel arrangement so that it does not rotate with the outer barrel. Therefore, the torsion applied to the outer barrel is not transmitted to the core, which remains within the inner barrel due to friction. The inner barrel stays in a slightly retracted position inside the outer barrel. The outer barrel may have face-hardened saw teeth or a diamond core bit at the drilling end. In this study an outer barrel with hardened saw teeth was used because of knowledge of its successful application in the Montopolis area during the past few years. Figure 4.5 shows a Modified Wet Barrel sampler in use.

Generally, the rotating sampler was forced down to about 24 in. or so with a steady push. Then it was rotated about two turns to shear off the core at its bottom. Thereafter it was withdrawn, and the inner push barrel, with the core in it, was removed from the outer barrel as shown in Fig 4.6. The push barrel was mounted on a hydraulic jack whose piston pushed the core within the push barrel while the push barrel itself was being held tightly in position. This procedure is shown in Fig 4.7 and Fig 4.8. The extracted core was immediately double-wrapped in heavy-duty aluminum foil, properly labeled, and sealed by dipping it several times in a bucket of molten wax. The sealed samples were properly arranged as shown in Fig 4.9 and they were stored in a humidity and temperature-controlled room as soon as possible.

Disturbed samples from the Montopolis Site were stored along with the undisturbed samples. The disturbed samples were double-wrapped in heavy-duty aluminum foil, but were not sealed. The disturbed samples recovered at the Dallas Site were stored, classified, and analyzed in accordance with the procedures of the Texas Highway Department as described in their Manual referred to earlier.

Field Tests Run to Estimate Shear Strength of Soils

Dynamic penetration resistance tests and static tests using a Dutch cone and a 2.5-in. diameter plate were run to estimate the in-situ shear strength of soils. Static tests and THD cone resistance tests were done at both sites, while the Standard Penetration Test (with a modified hammer) was done only at the Montopolis Site.



Fig 4.5. Modified wet barrel sampler in use.



Fig 4.6. Inner push barrel removed from outer barrel.



Fig 4.7. Soil sample partially pushed out of the push barrel.



Fig 4.8. Soil sample almost completely pushed out of the push barrel. (Notice cracks forming on sample just after extraction.)



Fig 4.9. Soil samples sealed at site.

The THD cone test is a dynamic penetration resistance test used by the Texas Highway Department. This test is intended to determine the relative density or consistency and thereby the load-carrying capacity of in-situ soils. The test consists of counting the number of blows required to drive a "standard" cone a distance of 6 in. into the soil. Two consecutive counts of the number of blows per 6-in. penetration are taken at each depth. If the material is very hard, the penetration of the cone, in inches, is measured for each of two consecutive sets of 50 blows. The cone has the shape and dimensions indicated in Fig 4.3. A 170-pound hammer is used with a fall of 24 in. The fall of the hammer is regulated by an automatic trip mechanism. Several charts prepared by the Texas Highway Department correlate the cone penetration resistance to the allowable point-bearing load and friction load per unit area for designing axially loaded drilled shafts. Figure 4.10 shows the variation of N_{THD} and $N_{\mbox{\scriptsize SPT}}$ with depth at the Montopolis and Dallas Sites. These

 N_{THD} - and N_{SPT} -values are taken from relevant borings presented in Appendix A. The Standard Penetration Test is another dynamic penetration resistance test commonly used to approximate the density or consistency of in-situ soils. In this test a standard splitspoon is driven with a 140-pound hammer falling 30 in. The number of blows required to drive the spoon 6 in. into the soil are recorded for three consecutive 6-in. increments. A disturbed sample is also recovered in the spoon. The total number of blows required to penetrate the last two 6-in. increments is expressed as N_{SPT} . Over the past few years, it has been used extensively by practicing engineers to get a general idea of the soil strength. The chart and tables commonly used for this purpose are reported by Peck, Hanson, and Thornburn (1974). The variation of N_{SPT} with depth is shown for the Montopolis Site in Fig 4.10. The N_{SPT} values are based on the boring SP1 included in Appendix A.

Six static Dutch cone tests and five static plate load tests were run on the shale at the Montopolis Site. The main purpose of these tests was to determine the in-situ shear strength of shale, thus minimizing the effect of macro- and micro-fissures formed due to release of confining pressure.

Some planning, fabrication, and laboratory work was necessary prior to performing in-hole tests at each site. It was decided to apply downward load on the Dutch cone or plate by means of a hydraulic jack butting against the



Fig 4.10. Variation of N_{THD}^{-} and N_{SPT}^{-} values at test sites.

kelly of a heavy drill rig used for installing the drilled shaft. It was stated by the rig owners that the kelly would sustain an upward thrust of up to 15 tons. In order to measure the vertical load accurately, a calibrated pressure transducer was attached to the side of the jack. A 12-in. long steel rod, having a cone of the dimensions of a Dutch cone, was specially fabricated to be attached to the bottom of the hydraulic jack which had a threaded recess in it to receive the threaded top of the steel rod. The details of the steel rod are shown in Fig 4.11. Figure 4.12 shows the assembly ready for use. A similar threaded road, attachable to the bottom of the jack, was fabricated for conducting plate load tests. The details of the rod for the plate load tests are shown in Fig 4.13.

At the Montopolis Site, a 48-in. diameter hole was drilled to a depth of 16 ft below the ground surface to expose the underlying shale. The hole was augered without slurry and was quickly cased with a heavy steel pipe to avoid any caving of the upper water-bearing sand and gravel layer encountered during drilling. The bottom was hand-cleaned by a workman who was lowered with the help of a line operated from the drill rig. The cone was jacked against the exposed shale and readings of the pressure transducer were noted with a strain indicator for every 1/4-in. penetration. As the cone penetrated the soil, two important points were noted. First, it was almost impossible to keep the steel rod plumb because the noticeable horizontal planes of weakness in the shale caused chunks of shale to break loose. These chunks were usually about 2 in. wide and were less than 1/2 in. thick. This caused the cone to "slide" sideways: lateral displacement of the cone from its original position in excess of 2 in. was noticed, in some cases, at the end of the tests. Second, radial cracks, with vertical sides, appeared as the cone penetrated into the shale.

Static Dutch cone tests were also performed on the shale at Dallas on August 15, 1975, using the same procedures as described earlier. During these tests the two points regarding the behavior of shale during the penetration of the cone, mentioned in the preceding paragraph, were also noted.

The plate load tests were conducted in the same manner as the static Dutch cone tests. The noticeable difference in this case was that the width of the chunks of shale that broke loose during penetration of the plate were much greater than those in the cone tests. They were as wide as 6 to 8 in. Lateral displacements occurred in these tests also.



Fig 4.11. Dutch cone device used for in-hole tests.



Fig 4.12. Dutch cone device ready for use at site.



Fig 4.13. Plate load device used for in-hole tests.

The results of the static Dutch cone tests and plate load tests are included in Appendix B.

Laboratory Tests Run to Estimate Shear Strength of Soils

Undisturbed soil samples from the Montopolis Site were tested in the Geotechnical Engineering Laboratories of The University of Texas at Austin. The samples remained in a temperature and humidity-controlled room for about 6 months before testing.

Q-tests, also called "quick tests" or "unconsolidated undrained tests," were run on 3-in. diameter samples about 6 in. long. Triaxial cells were employed that used a self-compensating mercury control with a pressure range from 0 to 120 psi. Details of this type of apparatus are described by Bishop and Henkel (1964). Figure 4.14 shows a picture of the system ready for use. The rate of strain for all these undrained tests was 2 percent per minute. Various techniques, including the use of a band saw and wire saw, were tried for trimming the samples; the most satisfactory results came from the use of a fine-toothed household knife. Most of the samples were tested at a confining pressure of 10 psi, which was close to the vertical overburden pressure. Confining pressures of 20, 60, and 100 psi were also used to study the effect of variation of confining pressure on the shape of the Q-envelope. Whenever possible two samples from the same core were tested at two different confining pressures. It was found that confining pressure in excess of 10 psi had little or no effect on the shape of the Q-envelope. An increase of about 10 percent in the value of $\sigma_1 - \sigma_3$ at failure was observed in a few cases when the confining pressure was increased from 10 to 60 psi. In another case a sample tested at a confining pressure of 60 psi showed a considerably lower value of $\sigma_1 - \sigma_3$ at failure in comparison with the one tested at a confining pressure of 10 psi, although both the samples were obtained from the same core. It was concluded that the Q-envelope for this shale was essentially horizontal. The stress-strain curves obtained during triaxial tests are shown in Figs 4.15 to 4.18. A few important details were noticed during testing of the clay and shale specimens as indicated next.

In many samples, moisture was visible when the aluminum foil was unwrapped. In all cases where this happened, about a 1/8-in. to 1/4-in. thick circumferential band on the outer skin of the specimen was found to be



Fig 4.14. Triaxial test set-up ready for use.



Fig 4.15. Stress-strain curves from triaxial tests.



Fig 4.16. Stress-strain curves from triaxial tests.



Fig 4.17. Stress-strain curves from triaxial tests.



Fig 4.18. Stress-strain curves from triaxial tests.

slightly darker than the inner part of the core. Besides, this band was also judged to be softer than the inner part of the core during trimming. Generally, it was difficult to get two 6-in. long specimens from one core, although the core itself was 18 in. to 24 in. long. This happened because most shale specimens fissured along the planes of weakness, almost normal to the axis of drilling, either immediately after the core was extruded from the inner barrel at the site or perhaps during storage. The shale specimen that gave the highest shear strength value was noticeably free from any moisture seepage effects. The planes of weakness, whenever noticed, had a shiny surface that was slightly concoidal. In some specimens very fine grains of free limestone were seen sticking to the concoidal surface. All shale samples on which acid was dropped, showed effervescence.

Classification Methods Used for Clays and Shales

All clay samples were classified in accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System as shown on the plasticity chart in Fig 4.19. The soil was suitably crushed and sieved before conducting liquid limit and plastic limit tests.

As of now, there is no standard method of classifying shales. Wide difference of opinion exists with regard to the meaning and interpretation of various terms that are commonly used to describe different types of shales. Mead (1936) separated shales into two groups, which he called "soil-like shales" and "rock-like shales." Underwood (1967) made a study of data reported by others on the properties of shales. He suggested a procedure for engineering evaluation of shales, but he pointed out that a completely satisfactory engineering classification for shales was difficult to develop due to imprecise data and unstandardized testing methods. Morgenstern and Eigenbrod (1974) proposed a method of classifying argillaceous soils and rocks based on the idea that unconfined samples of soil will disintegrate when exposed in an unconfined manner to water, while unconfined samples of rock will not. They proposed two tests to explore systematically the spectrum of behavior from "clays" to "mudstones." The first test consists of determining the undrained shear strength of the undisturbed material. The second test, called the "Standard Compression Softening Test," determines the loss of shear strength after immersing the unconfined undisturbed specimen in water. If the shear strength is less than 250 psi and loss of shear strength in the compression softening test is greater than 60 percent, the material is classified as "clay." Further, if t_{50} , the softening time for 50 percent loss of original shear strength,


Fig 4.19. Classification of soil samples on plasticity chart.

is 1 hour or less, the clay is classified as "medium to soft," whereas the clay is classified as "stiff" for t_{50} less than 1 day, and as "hard clay" or "clay-shale" if t_{50} is greater than 1 day. Materials with shear strengths greater than 250 psi and loss of shear strength, in compression softening tests, of less than 40 percent, are classified as "mudstones." They are further classified as "claystones" and "siltstones."

In this study, the approach suggested by Morgenstern and Eigenbrod was used to classify the shale at the Montopolis Site. Only two tests were made due to limited numbers of samples available. These tests indicated that the shale at the Montopolis Site is a "clay-shale." Classification tests were not done for the shale at the Dallas Site; however, it is believed that that shale is also a "clay-shale."

Limitations of Shear Strength Information Obtained

The shear strength data obtained for this study by field and laboratory tests have a few limitations.

Probably, laboratory tests indicated shear strengths less than the in-situ shear strengths, mainly because of the possible softening due to the free moisture that was noticed when the samples were unwrapped. The extent to which this reduction in shear strength occurred is not known. A comparison with the Dutch cone and plate load tests indicates that the shear strength may have been reduced by as much as 40 percent during the storage period of about 6 months.

There are several limitations of the dynamic penetration resistance tests. The most important is the fact that reliable correlations between dynamic penetration-resistance values and the shear strength of clays and shales does not exist. Some initiative has been taken in this direction by the Texas Transportation Institute, who recently sponsored a research study for cohesive soils. Results of the study were reported by Hamoudi, Coyle, and Bartoskewitz (1974). Similar studies for shales are not known. Therefore, in this study the results of penetration tests have been supplemented with the results of triaxial tests and in-hole tests to establish correlations between shear strength and load transfer, as will be explained in later chapters. It may be pointed out that triaxial tests and in-hole tests are also subject to certain limitations, although they are believed to approximate in-situ shear strength of soil more accurately than many other tests. This page replaces an intentionally blank page in the original. -- CTR Library Digitization Team

CHAPTER 5. INSTRUMENTATION

Basic Ideas Used for Instrumentation

It was pointed out in Chapter 3 that by using Equations (3.4), (3.5), and (3.6) load transfer information can be obtained at any depth along the shaft. Measurements of the following quantities are necessary to use the equations:

- (1) Load applied at the top of the shaft, $Q_{\rm T}$;
- (2) Movement at the top of the shaft, w_{0} ;
- (3) Slope of the load distribution curve at depth z, $\frac{dQ_z}{dz}$;
- (4) Effective cross sectional area of the shaft concrete, A ; and
- (5) Modulus of elasticity of concrete, E.

The first three quantities mentioned above can be measured by two interdependent instrumentation systems. The first system is designed to measure loads and movements at the top of the shaft. The second system is set up to measure loads at selected locations. Load distribution curves are obtained by statistical methods to "best fit" the load data obtained at discrete points. Then, the slope of the load distribution curve at any depth is calculated mathematically.

Usually the diameter of the drilled hole is assumed 1 in. larger than the nominal diameter of the auger used to drill the hole. This assumption was made in the present study to estimate the effective cross sectional area of the shaft. The area of vertical steel was transformed into equivalent concrete area by multiplying the area of vertical steel by the ratio of the modulus of elasticity of steel to the modulus of elasticity of concrete.

The modulus of elasticity of concrete, E , was determined indirectly from the compressive strength of concrete by using the following equation suggested by the American Concrete Institute (1971):

$$E (psi) = 57,000 \sqrt{f_c}$$
 (5.1)

in which f_c ' is the compressive strength, in psi, of 12-in. long and 6-in. diameter concrete cylinders cured under water for 28 days. The quantity f_c ' was determined in a laboratory by testing concrete cylinders using the same concrete as used for building the test shafts. The value of E determined according to the above approach assumes linear stress-strain relationship at all levels of stress. At stresses below 0.5 f_c ', this assumption does not introduce any significant error. For all the shafts tested in this study, the maximum stress in concrete did not exceed 0.5 f_c '.

After getting A and E, the following two types of measurements were necessary to obtain the remaining quantities:

- (1) Measurement of loads and movements at the top of the shaft; and
- (2) Measurement of load at selected locations within the shaft.

The details of instrumentation used for these measurements are given in the remaining parts of this chapter.

Measurements of Loads and Movements at the Top of the Shaft

Axial loads were applied to the top of the shaft by means of two hydraulic jacks supplied by the Texas Highway Department. Each jack was capable of applying a load of up to 500 tons. The schematic arrangement of using these jacks is shown in Fig 5.1. Pressure was measured in the hydraulic oil lines, running between the air-driven hydraulic pump and the hydraulic jack, and was converted into applied load by use of a calibration chart supplied by the manufacturer of the hydraulic jacks. Two Bourdon pressure gages were used to measure the pressure in the hydraulic oil lines. These gages had pressure measurement ranges of 0-5,000 psi and 0-20,000psi. In the field, the hydraulic pressure needed to apply a particular load through the jacks was determined from the manufacturer's chart. In addition to the Bourdon gages mentioned above, an electrical pressure transducer was attached to the hydraulic oil line for more accurate determination of the applied load. The pressure transducer was calibrated in the laboratory. It allowed measurements of applied loads to a sensitivity of about 0.1 ton. A trailer-mounted air compressor was used to supply compressed air for driving the hydraulic pump. This compressor, powered by gasoline, was capable of delivering 100 cubic feet of air at 120 psi, and was adequate to drive the

64



Fig 5.1. Schematic diagram of loading system.

pump at 90 psi. The system described above worked satisfactorily to measure and apply vertical loads at the top of a test shaft.

The vertical movements, near the top of a test shaft, were measured by dial indicators mounted on a stationary reference frame made of timber beams arranged suitably around the shaft without touching it. Aluminum angles were glued to the shaft by means of an epoxy resin. They were positioned at equal spacing along the circumference of the shaft at a distance of 18 in. vertically below the top of the shaft. The projecting leg of each angle supported the movable stem of a dial indicator. The reference frame itself was supported laterally and vertically at some points which were at least 1C ft away from the vertical axis of the test shaft. Each dial gage could measure a movement as small as 0.001 in. and had a travel of 2 in. Any dial gage was reset when the measured settlement appeared to approach the full extent of its travel. Three dial gages were used at the Montopolis Site, and two were used at the Dallas Site. All dial gages worked satisfactorily throughout their use.

Measurements of Loads at Selected Locations Within the Shaft

Different types of instrumentation systems capable of measuring loads in drilled shafts have been discussed in some detail by Barker and Reese (1969) and O'Neill and Reese (1970). During the past five years the Mustran cell system, developed and fabricated at The University of Texas at Austin, has been successfully used for measurements of axial loads in drilled shafts. The term Mustran is an abbreviation for 'Multiplying Strain Transducer." The statement regarding successful use of a Mustran cell system is based upon the experience reported by O'Neill and Reese (1970), Touma and Reese (1972), Engeling and Reese (1974), and Wooley and Reese (1974). These reporters carried out research on axially loaded drilled shafts at The University of Texas at Austin under the sponsorship of the Center for Highway Research. It was found convenient to use the Mustran cell system for this study as well, since a better load measurement system for drilled shafts has not been reported so far. The Mustran cell system itself has undergone a few minor modifications aimed at getting better response since its inception in 1969. The theory of its use, as reported by Barker and Reese (1969), remains unchanged by modifications.

The components of a typical Mustran cell, used at the Montopolis and Dallas Sites, are shown in Fig 5.2. A mild steel bar, tightly screwed at each end to a flanged cap, provides the surface on which the strain gages are mounted. The flanges of the caps help to bond the Mustran cell to concrete. The butting surfaces of the steel bar and the cell caps are machined to ensure good bearing. A rubber hose, which slips tightly over the cell caps, is clamped to the cell caps at both ends. This arrangement does not allow the concrete to come in contact with the strain gages, and makes it possible to keep the strain gage in a dry environment, as explained below. It is well known that the electrical resistance of any conductor changes erratically in the presence of moisture. Since the measurements of the electrical resistance of the strain gages are the key to measurement of the vertical loads, the strain gages must remain dry. Therefore, in addition to the hose, dry nitrogen under pressure is admitted into the space between the steel rod, the hose, and the cell caps. The lead cable of each Mustran cell is brought to a manifold where the four wires within the lead cable are connected to a properly labeled socket. The socket is provided to later plug in the leads from the data logging system which registers strain measurements during the test. One manifold is used for one test shaft. Each manifold houses two socket boards and each socket board contains several sockets. The manifold is made air tight and nitrogen is admitted into it through an inlet. Thus the manifold acts as the central unit to distribute pressurized nitrogen to each Mustran cell through the lead cable. The picture of a Mustran cell with its lead cable and a manifold ready to be assembled are shown in Figs 5.3 and 5.4 respectively. The shcematic arrangement of pressurizing Mustran cells through the manifold is shown in Fig 5.5. The Mustran cells, connected to the manifold, are placed in a box and transported to the site.

The Mustran cells were clamped to the main reinforcement with their axes parallel to the axis of the test shaft. One leg of a steel angle, made from a 1/2-in. wide and 1/8-in. thick steel strip, is connected to the flange of each cell cap. The outstanding leg of each angle is attached to the main reinforcing steel by means of a hose clamp. This arrangement is shown in Fig 5.6. At any location, two or four Mustran cells were set symmetrically on a circle concentric with the circumference of the shaft. Theoretically, the effects of symmetrical bending on axial strain readings can be cancelled by averaging the readings of two cells placed symmetrically opposite about the



Fig 5.2. Components of a Mustran cell.



Fig 5.3. An assembled Mustran cell with its lead cable.



Fig 5.4. Picture of an unassembled manifold.





.

Fig 5.6. Arrangement of attaching a Mustran cell to the main reinforcement.

axis of bending. Therefore, adjacent cells were spaced 180 or 90 degrees along the circle, depending upon whether two or four cells were used at that cell location.

The steel cage was laid horizontally in the field. Mustran cells were mounted at predetermined locations, proceeding from the bottom of the cage. All Mustran cells and their sockets in the manifold were labeled prior to their shipment to the site. This helped in the identification and positioning of each Mustran cell in the field. The lead cables of the Mustran cells, cut to predetermined lengths, corresponding to each side of the manifold, were tied together near the top of the cage, thus providing two easy-to-handle clusters of lead cables, each leading to a socket board of the manifold. The manifold was tightly closed and securely attached to the cage, ready to be installed in its final position.

The Mustran cell system, described in the preceding few paragraphs, provided the instrumentation to obtain strain readings at discrete locations within a test shaft. With the knowledge of the geometry of the test shaft and its material properties, the strain readings were converted into loads by analytical procedures mentioned earlier and described later in detail in Chapter 8. The strain readings were recorded by a data logging system described next. The relative positions of soil layers and the Mustran cells are shown in Figs 5.7 to 5.9 for all the test shafts.

Data Logging System Used for Tests

The data logging system used for tests on drilled shafts records the voltage output from the Wheatstone bridge formed by the strain gages of a Mustran cell. The output is measured in microvolts. In order to convert this information into load in the pile, the computer program DARES was employed. This program is described in detail by Barker and Reese (1969), and its application is discussed in Chapter 8.

The data logging system used for this study is shown schematically in Fig 5.10. A gasoline-powered 3-kilowatt portable AC generator served as the power source at the site. The Honeywell Data Logging System requires a fluctuation-free, 110-volt AC supply for accurate readings. To achieve this, the 110 volts of AC power were first converted into a 12-volt DC supply through a battery charger, and then reconverted into a stable 110-volt AC supply through an inverter. Two 12-volt batteries were connected in parallel with the battery charger and the inverter to serve as a standby power supply



Fig 5.7. Soil profile and instrumentation at shafts MTl and MT2 built by Casing Method and Slurry Method.



*According to Unified Soil Classification System

Fig 5.8. Soil profile and instrumentation at shaft MT3 built by Dry Method.





Fig 5.10. Schematic arrangement of the data-logging system.

76

source in case of a breakdown of the generator in the course of data acquisition. The balancing circuit panel is powered by a stable 12-volt DC power supply. The output of a Mustran cell is measured at the output points of the corresponding balancing circuit. The panel had 40 balancing circuits built into it to allow measurements of an equal number of Mustran cells. In none of the tests was this number exceeded.

The 40-channel stepping switch scanner (Honeywell Model 700-40) serves to connect the output points of one balancing circuit at a time. The signal received by the scanner is then amplified, on a pre-amplifier (Honeywell Model 623), to be displayed on a digital voltmeter (Honeywell Model 620B). This displayed reading can be printed on a paper tape by means of a digital recorder (Honeywell Model 9047). This arrangement eliminates manual procedures of taking strain readings by means of a conventional strainindicator. The data-logging system used at the site could record the output of 26 Mustran cells in less than 1-1/2 minutes, thus saving time during actual load tests. A picture of the data logging system is shown in Fig 5.11.



Fig 5.11. A picture of the data-logging system.

CHAPTER 6. CONSTRUCTION DETAILS

Preparatory Work for Construction

Considerations for safety and economy governed the details of the test shafts as well as the reaction system. Each test shaft was designed in accordance with current methods to carry safely the load required to fail the soil. The ultimate capacities of the soil were computed roughly from the criteria for clays suggested by Engeling and Reese, recognizing that the soils were clay-shales rather than clays. The main idea was to get the lower and upper bound values of ultimate soil capacities and then, after allowing some margin for error in judgment, arrive at a conservative figure for the ultimate load capacity for a test shaft. This approach had to be taken due to lack of information on the behavior of drilled shafts in shales.

Based on preliminary design considerations, it was decided to use 30-in. and 36-in. diameter shafts with suitable vertical and lateral reinforcement. Stone aggregate concrete with a 28-day compressive strength of about 3500 psi was considered adequate for structural strength. Rough calculations based on preliminary soil information and arbitrary design criteria, as mentioned earlier, showed that the ultimate soil capacity for any of the test shafts would not exceed 1000 tons, the maximum load allowed for the reaction beams and for the pair of hydraulic jacks supplied by the Texas Highway Department. The anchor shafts were taken deeper than the test shaft and underreamed to provide necessary resistance against uplift. The design of the anchor shafts was based on preliminary information and a conservative approach. At the Montopolis Site, all the test shafts were of the same total length to allow ease in the design and construction of test shafts, and the interpretation of test results.

Mustran cells were placed where strata changes were anticipated, and were also placed at two levels between the ground surface and the top of the shaft to act as an "in-shaft" load calibration system, as outlined in Chapter 8.

79

One set of Mustran cells was near the base of the test shaft. At least one additional set of Mustran cells was placed a few feet above the base but within the shale layer. The number of Mustran cells at any location was either two or four. Maximum cells were used at locations which were thought to be important from the standpoint of getting load transfer information.

The need for achieving economy led to the innovation of a reaction system in which the entire tensile steel could be fully recovered after its use. The available reaction beams were utilized by transferring the uplift load to the base of the anchor shaft by means of continuously threaded DYWIDAG bars connected at their tops to an adapter and at their bottoms to a circular plate embedded in the concrete of the underream. The details of this system are discussed later in this chapter.

Construction Details of Test Shafts

Three test shafts were constructed at the Montopolis Site on October 10 and 11, 1974. One test shaft, located at the Dallas Site, was installed on January 30, 1975. The test shafts at the Montopolis Site are designated as MT1, MT2, and MT3. The test shaft at the Dallas Site is referred to as DT1. The layout of test shafts was indicated in Figs 4.2 and 4.4. The test shafts at the Montopolis Site were located, in plan, at the vertices of an equilateral triangle in order to built the least number of anchor shafts using two anchor shafts per test.

The three steel cages, fabricated in a local shop, were delivered at the Montopolis Site on October 7, 1974. A meeting was held at the site on October 8, 1974, between representatives of the contractor, the Texas Highway Department, and the Center for Highway Research. The construction procedures for the three test shafts were discussed at this meeting. MT1 was chosen to be built by the casing method, while MT2 was selected for installation by the slurry displacement method. It was decided that MT3 would be free-standing above the shale layer by isolating it from the surrounding soll with a steel casing. In order to provide suitable arrangements for pouring concrete into this shaft, it was decided to use a Sonotube form in order to leave an annular air space between the steel casing and the form, above the shale layer. It was agreed that the dry method would be used to install MT3 below the top of the shale. Thus, three different construction methods, namely, the casing method, the slurry displacement method, and the dry method, were agreed upon for constructing the test shafts at the Montopolis Site. This decision was made to study the effects of construction methods on the load transfer characteristics of shales.

Mustran cells were installed on the three steel cages at the construction site on October 9, 1974, and on the morning of October 10, 1974. Throughout this period, the weather remained clear and the temperature ranged between about 65 degrees Fahrenheit and 75 degrees Fahrenheit. Initial readings of all Mustran cells were recorded by using a manually operated conventional strain indicator. This was done to locate those cells which showed abrupt changes in readings before or after embedment in concrete. On October 9, 1974, stakes were driven into the ground to locate the center of each test shaft.

MT1 was constructed on October 10, 1974, using the construction procedure known as the casing method. Drilling was started with the use of a 30-in. diameter auger. Drilling was done to about 8 ft from the ground surface without the aid of drilling fluid. Thereafter slurry was used to advance the hole. The level of slurry inside the hole was maintained at about 2 ft from the ground surface, until the hole was advanced to the top of the shale layer. The lumps of soil brought out by the auger after drilling were continuously examined visually so as to mark strata changes. Drilling was temporarily stopped at about the top of the shale layer. At this stage, the 30-in. diameter auger was disconnected from the kelly, and a 30-in. I.D. steel casing was "screwed" into the hole by turning the kelly against a removable rectangular tube fitted diametrically across the top of the casing. By comparing the depth of drilling to the depth of penetration of the casing, it was ascertained that the bottom of the casing was inside the shale layer. Measurements indicated that the bottom of the casing was 19 ft 4 in. below the ground surface. A cleaning bucket was then fitted to the kelly and it was used to bail out the slurry and clear the hole inside the steel casing up to the bottom of the steel casing. There was enough natural light to enable a visual inspection of the bottom of the hole while standing at the ground surface. The bottom of the hole did not show any sign of water seepage.

A 28-in. diameter auger was fitted to the kelly and lowered into the steel casing to reach the bottom of the hole at 19 ft 4 in. below the ground

surface. This auger was used to drill an approximately 29-in. diameter hole from the depth of 19 ft 4 in. to 23 ft 9 in. A man was then lowered with a common bucket into the hole to clean the bottom manually and to see if any seepage was visible on the sides and bottom of the 29-in. diameter uncased hole. He reported that there was no visible seepage inside the hole.

The steel cage for MT1, ready for installation, was gently lifted from its top side by means of the cable of a crane. While its bottom was still resting on the ground, its manifold was securely tied to the main reinforcement. This process is shown in Fig 6.1. Thereafter, the cage was fully lifted into the air, as shown in Fig 6.2, and lowered into the final position. Its projection above the ground surface was checked to ascertain that the intended projection of the shaft would be possible after concreting. No error was detected. The manifold was detached from the cage and placed some distance away from the hole. Nitrogen pressure was maintained to avoid any seepage of moisture into any Mustran cell during the concreting operation, which is described next.

A truck carrying ready-mixed concrete arrived at the site about 3:00 p.m. The slump of concrete was checked and found to be between 6 in. and 7 in. This was judged as acceptable. A 10-in. diameter, 28-ft long steel tube with rectangular openings spaced at about 10 ft throughout its length and with open ends, was lifted by means of a crane into a vertical position and was lowered centrally into the hole. It was supported by the bottom of the shale at its base and it was kept vertical by holding it with the cable of a crane. A steel chute leading from the concrete truck was lined up with the rectangular opening in the tube and concrete was allowed to drop from the chute into the tube so as to travel to the bottom of the shaft. The concreting operation is The steel tube was lifted up as the level of shown in progress in Fig 6.3. concrete rose inside the cased shaft. When the top of the concrete was judged to be about 1 ft from the ground surface, the steel casing was pulled out. This procedure was a departure from the usual casing method of construction as described by O'Neill and Reese (1970), and Touma and Reese (1972). In the usual casing method, the casing is pulled two to three feet at a time and the top of the wet concrete inside the casing is kept several feet above the bottom of the casing. In the case of MT1, the entire casing was pulled out of the ground in one continuous operation when the top of the wet concrete was close to the ground surface. As opposed to the usual casing method, no slurry

82



Fig 6.1. Manifold being tied to the steel cage for shaft MTL.



Fig 6.2. Steel cage fully lifted, ready to be lowered into the predrilled hole.



Fig 6.3. Ready-mixed concrete being poured from a delivery truck with the aid of a steel chute.

was seen as the casing was pulled out, which should not happen when the casing method is used. Concreting was continued inside the uncased hole till the top of the wet concrete reached within 6 in. below the ground surface.

At this stage a 30-in. O.D. steel pipe about 4 ft long was placed concentric to the steel cage, and concrete was poured and tamped into it till the top of the concrete reached 3 ft 3 in. above ground surface. After about an hour, that portion of the 30-in. O.D. steel tube which projected above the concrete surface was cut off with the aid of gas flame. The purpose of this steel tube was to provide lateral confinement to the wet concrete during construction, and later to prevent spalling of concrete near the top of the shaft during load tests. Three concrete cylinders, taken during the concreting operation, were transported to a humidity-controlled room at the end of the day for curing and testing at a later date. Next day, leaving the top one foot of the 30-in. O.D. steel tube in place, the rest of the tube was cut off with gas flame, avoiding sparks on the lead cables connected to the manifold. The geometry of the shaft as built was shown in Fig 5.7 along with the best estimate of the soil profile at the shaft location, and the locations of Mustran cells.

MT2 was built on October 11, 1974, using the slurry displacement method. Drilling was done with a 30-in. diameter auger and the hole was drilled dry to a depth of about 6 ft; slurry was used for subsequent drilling. The hole was drilled to a depth of 23 ft 11 in. from the ground surface with the 30-in. diameter auger. The rig operator pointed out that, in his judgment, some sand and gravel pieces were falling to the bottom of the hole as the auger hit some loose pieces of gravel while traveling in and out of the hole during drilling. He tried to clear the gravel pieces from the bottom as much as possible, but he suspected that some loose gravel and sand had still been left at the bottom. However, visual identification of materials being recovered from the bottom did not show a significant amount of gravel or sand. Drilling was stopped at a depth of 23 ft 11 in. from the ground surface. The steel cage and its manifold, which were lying a few feet away from the drilled hole, were picked up and placed in the hole with the help of a crane. The details of this step were the same as followed for MT1. The manifold was detached from the steel cage and placed a few feet away on the ground. Nitrogen supply was maintained throughout the construction of this shaft.

Concreting of MT2 was done with the help of a tremie which was lifted and positioned coaxially inside the steel cage by means of a crane. The tremie was fitted with a steel hopper at its top to admit wet concrete. The bottom of the pipe had a hinged flap which acted as a value to prevent the slurry from entering the pipe. The tremie, with its bottom almost touching the base of the drilled hole, was held in position with a crane. The ready-mixed concrete delivery truck arrived at the site at about 11:30 a.m. A slump test was done and the concrete slump was found to be 6-1/2 in., which was considered acceptable.

Concrete was poured into the tremie through the hopper, with the bottom of the tremie still closed. When concrete reached the top of the tremie, that is, about 3 ft above the level of slurry in the drilled shaft, the concrete inside the tremie was allowed to flow to the base of the shaft by lifting the tremie a small distance with the help of a crane, thus allowing the flap at the base of the tremie to open out towards the base. The top of the concrete was always kept high enough with respect to the top of the slurry level so as to ensure that a positive displacement of the slurry by concrete was taking place. As the tremie was lifted, the chute from the concrete delivery truck to the tremie was directed towards the closest slot in the wall of the tremie. The slots were spaced at about 10 ft along the length of the tremie. When concrete was about 6 in. below the ground surface, a 30-in. I.D. and 4-ft long steel tube was placed coaxially with the steel cage. This steel tube, near the top of the shaft, was filled with concrete and was later burnt off to leave a 12-in. long sleeve at the top of the shaft in the same manner as was done for MT1. The shape of the test shaft MT2 as built was shown in Fig 5.7 along with the best estimate of the soil profile and the location of Mustran cells in the test shaft. The concreting of this shaft took about 50 minutes. Readings of all Mustran cells were taken as done for MT1.

The test shaft MT3 was built on October 11, 1974. The hole was drilled to a depth of 19 ft from the ground surface with a 36-in. diameter auger without the use of slurry. Shale was encountered at about 19 ft from the ground surface. There was no caving problem during drilling. However, some loose pieces of gravel did drop down occasionally into the hole while drilling was being done. When the top of the shale layer was reached, the auger was withdrawn from the hole and was detached from the kelly. A 36-in. I.D. steel casing was "screwed" into the hole by turning and pushing the kelly against

the casing using a suitable attachment at the top of the casing. The casing was tightly screwed into the shale about 2 in., as determined from field measurements. A cleaning bucket was then used to clean the bottom of the hole. A 28-in. diameter auger was then used to advance the hole from a depth of 19 ft to 24 ft. A 30-in. I.D. and 25-ft long Sonotube (a commercial brand of circular cardboard form) was then lowered into the hole till its bottom hit the shale layer at a depth of 19 ft from the ground surface. The Sonotube was pushed by hand at its top to seat it into the shale as much as possible. Approximate measurements indicated that the Sonotube penetrated the shale by about 4 in. After placing the Sonotube in position, a man, carrying a bucket, was lowered to the bottom of the hole to clean it manually. He did not notice any seepage at the bottom of the hole. The positioning of the steel cage and concreting were done in exactly the same way as for MT1. The slump of concrete used was 6 in., and three concrete cylinders were taken during actual pouring operations. At the end of concreting, the top end of the Sonotube was cut even with the top of the shaft. Mustran cell readings were recorded before the end of the day. The construction of this shaft concluded the installation of all shafts at the Montopolis Site. The shape of the test shaft MT3 as built was shown in Fig 5.8 along with the best estimate of the soil profile and the location of Mustran cells in the test shaft.

The test shaft DTl was built at the Dallas Site on January 30, 1975, by using the casing method. Slurry was not used at any time during the construction of this shaft. The hole was advanced to the top of the shale layer by means of an auger, and then a 36-1/2-in. I.D. steel tube was used as the casing and was "screwed" a distance of 6 in. into the shale layer to ensure an adequate "seal." An auger with a nominal diameter of 34 in. was used to obtain a 35-in. diameter dry hole for the bottom 4-ft-6-in. length of the test shaft. Concreting was done using the same technique as described for the shaft MTl. After the casing was pulled out, additional concrete was poured into the hole until the level of concrete was about 1 ft below the existing ground surface. After the concrete had set, the remaining length of the shaft was built using a sonotube as indicated in Fig 5.9 in order to comply with the construction plans. The concrete used has a slump of 6-1/2 in. and its 28-day compressive strength is estimated to be at least 3000 psi. Readings of all Mustran cells were taken with the help of a strain indicator and the cells having erratic readings were promptly identified to closely observe their behavior during load tests.

Details of Reaction System

Important details of the reaction system are shown in Figs 6.4 to 6.6. The reaction to the applied compression load is furnished equally by two anchor shafts, each located at the same distance from the test shaft. The test shaft and the two anchor shafts are aligned to eliminate eccentric loads. Two parallel plate girders span the anchor shafts. The bottom flanges of the plate girders run about 2 ft above the hydraulic jacks which are symmetrically seated on the test shaft. A 1-ft thick bearing plate is used to distribute the applied load to the bottom flanges of the plate girders. Suitable filler plates are used between the pistons of the jacks and the bearing plate in order to maximize the travel of pistons. An anchor post is suspended from the top flanges of the plate girders above each anchor shaft. Each anchor post is connected at its bottom to an adapter against which 12 DYWIDAG bars, spaced 30 degrees on a 24-in. diameter circle, react in tension. The DYWIDAG bar is a commercial brand of high strength steel bar with coarse threading over its full length. The DYWIDAG bars run to the bottom of the anchor shaft where they are connected to an annular base plate. Each DYWIDAG bar is enclosed in a plastic tube to eliminate its contact with the concrete of the anchor shaft. When a load is applied to the test shaft the pistons of the hydraulic jacks react against the bearing plate, which applies an uplift force to the plate girders. The uplift force is finally transmitted to the bottom of each anchor shaft through the DYWIDAG bars.

The reaction system conceptually described above represents a new and economical reaction system for testing drilled shafts. Prior to this innovation, the uplift force was transmitted to an anchor shaft by a heavy wide flange beam or steel bars properly bonded to the concrete of the anchor shaft. At the end of the test the wide flange beam or steel bars had to be left embedded in the anchor shaft and the portion projecting above the anchor shaft had to be cut off to clear the site of all protruding objects. Thus a considerable amount of steel and labor previously were underutilized. With the use of the new reaction system, the entire quantity of tension steel is



Fig 6.4. Schematic arrangement of the reaction system.





of transferring upward pull on the hanger beam to the adopter

Fig 6.5. Details of adapter.



Fig 6.6. Details of base plate.

recovered and can be used many times. The base plate and the plastic tubes have to be left embedded in concrete, but the overall economy of the system remains highly attractive. It is hoped that this system will prove useful to contractors and engineers to conduct load tests on axially loaded foundation elements.

Three anchor shafts were installed at the Montopolis Site. Their centers were located at the corners of an equilateral triangle, each side of which was 18 ft long. The centers of the test shafts were located at the midpoints of the sides. Each anchor shaft at the Montopolis Site had a total length of 40 ft and had a 45-degree bell. The hole was drilled by a 36-in. diameter auger without the use of slurry. The top of each anchor shaft was about 6 in. below the ground surface.

The procedures for construction of anchor shafts were almost identical at the Montopolis and Dallas Sites. Therefore, in the remaining paragraphs of this chapter, the construction details of the anchor shafts at the Montopolis Site only are presented. However, it should be noted that one anchor shaft at the Dallas Site was actually one of the permanent shafts designed to support the superstructure. Therefore, its design was modified to permit its use as an anchor shaft during load tests.

Proper quantities of 1-3/8-in. nominal diameter DYWIDAG bars and fittings arrived at the Montopolis Site on October 7, 1974. Pipe stubs and anchor plates were welded on opposite faces of the annular base plate. The two sides of an annular base plate are shown in Fig 6.7. A few plain annular plates, without any anchor plate or pipe stub, are also shown in the figure. The top ends of the DYWIDAG bars were slipped about 6 in. through the holes of the plain annular plates and the DYWIDAG nuts were then screwed on, as shown in Fig 6.8. The bottom ends of the DYWIDAG bars, enclosed in plastic tubes, were similarly slipped through the holes of the annular base plates and DYWIDAG nuts with "ears" welded to them were screwed on as shown in Fig 6.9.

A square steel box, as shown in Fig 6.10, was then welded to the anchor plate. The entire assembly was then lifted vertically by a crane hooked to the plain annular plate. Molten wax was then poured into the steel stub around the DYWIDAG bar as shown in Fig 6.11. The plastic tube was then pushed tightly into the pipe stub and cloth tape was wrapped around it. This is shown in Fig 6.12. The entire assembly was then moved to the drilled hole which was only a few feet away from the location of assembly. As the system



Fig 6.7. Two sides of the annular base plate used in the anchor shafts.



Fig 6.8. Plain annular plate used at top of DYWIDAG bars to facilitate lifting of bars together.



Fig 6.9. DYWIDAG nuts with "ears" at bottom ends of DYWIDAG bars.



Fig 6.10. Square steel boxes being welded to the anchor plates which are already welded to the annual base plate.



Fig 6.11. Molten wax being poured into the steel stub around the DYWIDAG bars.



Fig 6.12. Plastic tube pushed into the steel stub and cloth tape wrapped around it.
of DYWIDAG bars, enclosed in plastic pipes, was lowered into the hole, 1-in. wide and 3/8-in. thick steel rings were tightly attached around the circle of plastic pipes at about 10-ft vertical spacing. This was done to provide support to the plastic pipes against lateral movements induced by the tendency of the wet concrete to move from the center towards the circumference of the shaft.

Inadvertently, concrete cylinders were not taken and slump tests also were not performed. It is estimated that the slump was between 6 and 7 in. It is believed that the compressive strength of the concrete met the specification of 3500 psi. After concreting was over, each DYWIDAG bar was turned with a wrench to check that the voids between the plastic pipe and the DYWIDAG bar had not been filled with cement paste or concrete. All DYWIDAG bars could be turned easily by hand or by a wrench applied at the top of a bar.

At each anchor shaft, four DYWIDAG nuts, having the same configuration as the ones at the bottom, were screwed down from the top of four equally spaced DYWIDAG bars to a predetermined elevation above the ground surface. The adapter was then lowered, passing each DYWIDAG bar through the hole in the base plate of the adapter, until the adapter rested on the four DYWIDAG nuts. During the course of work it was found necessary to tape the four DYWIDAG nuts to the DYWIDAG bars so that they would not turn due to the shaking of the bars while the adapter was being lowered into position. After the adapter was placed in position all the DYWIDAG nuts were screwed down from the top of the DYWIDAG bars until they butted against the bearing plates on the adapter. The plate girders and the anchor posts were placed in position and each anchor post was connected to an adapter. The plate girders were held by a crane until both the anchor posts had been connected to the adapters and until the pistons of the hydraulic jacks had applied a nominal uplift force to the anchor shafts.

CHAPTER 7. PARTICULARS OF FIELD TESTS

General Information

Field tests were run on four drilled shafts, three at the Montopolis Site and one at the Dallas Site. The Montopolis tests were conducted between November 14, 1974, and January 9, 1975. The Dallas tests were performed on February 12, 1975, and March 21, 1975. Construction of the test shafts at the Montopolis and Dallas Sites was completed on October 11, 1974, and January 30, 1975, respectively. During the period intervening between the completion of construction and the commencement of field tests, the Mustran cells were kept pressurized with dry nitrogen to keep them free of moisture. For three days following the construction of a drilled shaft, resistance measurements were noted for each Mustran cell in the drilled shaft to identify cells with abrupt resistance changes, which could have resulted from seepage of moisture into the cell.

During a routine visit to the Montopolis Site on November 1, 1974, water was noticed inside the 1-1/2-in. wide annular space of the shaft MT3. Measurements were taken immediately to determine the height of the annular column of water. It was found that the water column was about 16 in. high above the bottom of the 36-in. diameter hole that was augered during construction for installing the steel casing. The water surface was at a depth of 18 ft from the ground surface. Several attempts were made to remove the water, but those attempts were not successful due to non-availability of electric power at the site and the narrow working space. The depth to the top of the water surface was noted on the days of tests on MT3. This information is furnished in the description of tests on this shaft. The effects of the water on the behavior of the test shaft are discussed later.

Details of Field Tests

Coordination among the persons working on the load test was achieved by dividing the team as described next. The team consisted of one plotter, one pump operator, one or two dial readers, and one data logger. The plotter

performed the duties of a dial reader in addition to his other duties. The plotter had a calculator and graph paper to compute and plot settlement data. The pump operator had a calibration chart to enable him to apply the appropriate hydraulic pressure corresponding to a particular load. Settlement readings were taken by the dial readers 30 seconds and two minutes after a particular load was applied. The data logger operated the Honeywell data logging system. The working procedure described below was closely followed.

The plotter called out the desired load to the pump operator. The pump operator then actuated the pump to develop the necessary hydraulic pressure corresponding to the desired load. Upon reaching the necessary hydraulic pressure, the pump operator signalled back to the plotter indicating that the desired load was attained. The plotter waited for 30 seconds after receiving the pump operator's signal, and the plotter then called out to the data logger and the dial readers to take the 30-second readings. The plotter himself took the reading of a dial gage assigned to him. The dial readers called out the dial gage readings to the plotter and he quickly computed and plotted the average settlement corresponding to the load acting on the shaft. The plotter waited for the data logger to signal the completion of recording of the 30second Mustran cell readings on the paper tape. Upon receiving the signal from the data logger, marking the end of 30-second readings, the plotter waited until two minutes had elapsed since the application of the particular load. The plotter then called out to the data logger and the dial readers to take the 2-minute readings. The 2-minute readings were taken and plotted in the same manner as the 30-second readings. When the data logger signalled to the plotter marking the end of the 2-minute readings, the plotter called out to the pump operator the next desired load based upon his judgment by looking at the trend of the load settlement curve already plotted. The load increments were decreased as the test shaft approached plunging failure. During the unloading phase, 30-second and 2-minute readings were taken in the same way as described above. When all the load on the test shaft had been removed, 5-minute, 10-minute, and 15-minute readings were taken in addition to the 30-second and 2-minute readings.

The field tests at the Montopolis Site were first conducted on shaft MT3. These tests were followed by tests on shaft MT1 and finally on MT2. The next few paragraphs describe the field tests on MT3, MT1, and MT2, in that order.

The field tests on DT1, the only test shaft at the Dallas Site, are described after the accounts of the Montopolis tests.

Shaft MT3 had been built to derive its resistance to axially applied loads by interaction with shale only. The bottom 5 ft of this shaft were in contact with the shale. The remaining portion of this shaft was in contact with air as shown earlier in Fig 5.8. It was pointed out earlier in this chapter that water had accumulated in the annular space around this shaft. On the test day, November 14, 1974, all the equipment, instruments, and personnel arrived at the test site by 9:00 a.m. The work on setting up the load application system, consisting of the air compressor, the hydraulic pump, and the hydraulic jacks, was finished while the data logging system was being set up. Beginning at about 10:30 a.m., readings of the Mustran cells were recorded on paper tape every 15 to 30 minutes without applying any load with the hydraulic jacks. This was done to note the drift in the output readings of the Mustran cells. There was evidence of drift in the readings of some of the Mustran cells, and it was found desirable to record readings in multiples of 10^{-5} volts instead of microvolts by suppressing the last digit of the displayed readings. The probable cause of the drift was thought to be the presence of some moisture either in the socket board of the manifold or inside the Mustran cells. The possible error caused by recording the Mustran cell output in multiples of 10^{-5} volts instead of microvolts was considered to be insignificant in comparison to the magnitude of applied loads. The dial gages, to measure settlements near the top of the shaft, were set up on position by noon and the load application began at 12:30 in the afternoon.

The 30-second and 2-minute readings were taken at applied loads of 50, 100, 150, 200, 225, 250, 275, 300, 320, 340, 360, 380, 400, 420, 440, and 460 tons. At 1:30 p.m., when the applied load was 460 tons, the nut connecting the high pressure hose to the hydraulic jack cracked visibly and began leaking. Realizing that the hydraulic pressure at the nut was of the order of about 10,000 psi, and was therefore a potential hazard, the pressure at the pump was carefully and quickly reduced to zero to prevent any sudden bursting at the nut. Thus the shaft was completely unloaded after the applied load had reached 460 tons at a settlement of about 0.9 in. When the shaft was completely unloaded, the 15-minute reading indicated a settlement of about 0.6 in. at the top of the shaft. The nut was replaced and testing was resumed at 2:40 p.m. During this phase, 30-second and 2-minute readings were taken at 50-ton intervals up to 400 tons. At the applied load of 400 tons the settlement was about 0.4 in. against 0.6 in. during the first loading sequence. The applied load was increased from 400 to 440 tons, and thereafter the applied load was increased in 20-ton increments. When the applied load reached 520 tons, the settlement near the top of the shaft was noted as about 1.0 in.

At this stage, it was considered desirable to reset the dial gages so that the settlement readings could proceed uninterrupted at higher loads because the shaft was expected to settle at a faster rate, causing the dial gages to run out of travel at an awkward time if resetting of the dial gages was not done. As the dial gages were being reset, at 3:45 p.m., the high pressure hose suddenly burst at its junction with the replaced nut. The nearly horizontal jet of oil erupting out of the hose with a high velocity, barely missed the face of one person, and hit a vertical board of plywood 15 ft away at a horizontal angle of about 30 degrees with the vertical board. Two layers of the ply on the board were ripped off. The jet was deflected from the plywood board towards an automobile parked about 30 ft away from the board. The automobile was covered with a spray of oil as the travel of the jet ended. The entire incident happened in such a short time-frame that the hydraulic pump was shut only after the jet of oil had lost its entire velocity. Due to the presence of the DYWIDAG nuts below the base plate of the adapter at each anchor shaft, the plate girders remained stable in vertical position despite the sudden release of the applied load of 520 tons. The rest of the day was spent in loading the equipment back into the vehicles in which it had been brought to the site in the morning. It was decided to get the necessary repairs done and to design a fail-safe hydraulic system for future tests. Because the shaft MT3 had not plunged at an applied load of 520 tons, it was decided to retest the shaft when the hydraulic system became operative.

The Texas Highway Department, who own the hydraulic pump and the jacks, decided to repair the connection at their workshop in the Austin area. To guard against the "whip" effect of the hose in case of sudden bursting, it was decided to enclose each end of the hose in a securely fixed steel pipe at the hydraulic pump and at the jack. A valve was introduced at the jack which ensured that the oil inside the jack would remain in without loss of pressure

even if the hose burst at its junction near the jack. The new arrangement, as used, was shown schematically in Fig 5.1.

On January 6, 1975, another attempt was made to load shaft MT3 to failure. All equipment and personnel arrived at the site at about 9:00 a.m. Upon opening the manifold for the test shaft, moisture was seen on the socket boards. These socket boards were dried with a jet of dry nitrogen gas for more than two hours until the readings of Mustran cells, as read on the data logging system, appeared reasonably stable. However, about three or four Mustran cells continued to behave erratically. It was thought probable that the problem existed at the strain gages of these cells rather than at the socket board. The field test on the shaft was started at about 1:00 p.m.

The depth to the water surface in the annular space of the shaft was measured and found to be 10 ft 6 in. from the ground surface. Thus the water level had risen approximately 6 ft 6 in. between November 14, 1974 and January 6, 1975. The load was applied to the shaft in 50-ton and 25-ton increments from 0 to 250 tons and from 250 tons to 500 tons, respectively. After increasing the load from 500 tons to 520 tons, 10-ton load increments were applied up to 570 tons. The shaft plunged at 570 tons at a settlement of 1.9 in. near the top. The shaft is considered to have plunged when settlement continues without increase in load. Throughout the test, the 30second and 2-minute readings were taken following the working procedure described earlier in this chapter. Similar readings were taken during the unloading phase at applied loads of 500, 400, 300, 200, 100, 50, and 0 tons. At the 0-ton applied load, 5-minute, 10-minute, and 15-minute readings were also taken in addition to the 30-second and 2-minute readings. The system worked without any sign of distress during this test. The load-settlement curves for the test shaft MT3 are shown in Fig 7.1.

On January 7, 1975, the reaction system was set at the new position to test the shaft MT1 which had been built by the casing method. The aluminum angles and the reference beams were also set into position on the same day so that testing could begin early on the next day.

Testing of the shaft MT1 started at 10:00 a.m. on January 8, 1975, using the same equipment and working procedures as described earlier in this chapter. Applied load was increased from 0 to 200 tons in 50-ton increments. From 200 tons to 500 tons the applied load was increased in 25-ton increments. Thereafter, the load was increased from 500 tons to 520, 530, and 540 tons.



Fig 7.1. Load settlement curves for shaft MT3 built by Dry Method.

When the load reached 540 tons, it was realized that the hydraulic pump needed a supply of oil in its tank. The hydraulic line from the pump to the jacks was shut off by means of a valve and the pump was stopped. An adequate quantity of oil was filled into the tank of the pump. This process took about 10 minutes, during which time the applied load fell off from 540 tons to 515 tons. After starting the pump again, the applied load was first increased to 525 tons and then to 540 tons, taking the 30 second and 2-minute readings at both 525 tons and 540 tons. From 540 tons to 600 tons the load was increased in 10-ton increments. At 600 tons the settlement near the top of the shaft had reached about 3 in. and the piston of the hydraulic jacks had moved up almost 7-1/4 in., which was believed to be the maximum travel of the piston. At this stage unloading was begun. Appropriate readings were taken at 500, 400, 300, 200, 100, 50, and 0 tons. At 0 ton, 5-minute, 10-minute, and 15-minute readings were taken in addition to the 30-second and 2-minute readings taken at all discrete applied loads. During the process of data acquisition, a few Mustran cells showed clear evidence of malfunction or excessive strains, particularly those near the tip. However, the testing continued uninterrupted. The entire test was finished by 1:30 p.m. Load-settlement curves for the shaft MT1 are shown in Fig 7.2.

In the afternoon of January 8, 1975, the reaction system was moved to the new position for testing the shaft MT2 which had been constructed by the slurry method. In the same afternoon, the reference timber beams and the aluminum angles were also set in position.

Field tests on the shaft MT2 began at about 10:00 a.m. on January 9, 1975. This shaft was loaded in 50-ton increments from 0 tons to 200 tons. The load was increased from 200 tons to 500 tons in 25-ton increments. Thereafter, 20-ton increments were applied up to 600 tons. The shaft plunged at 610 tons at a settlement of about 2.7 in. Readings were taken during the unloading phase at applied loads of 500, 400, 300, 200, 100, and 0 tons. At all applied loads the 30-second and 2-minute readings were taken as described earlier in this chapter. At the 0-ton load, 5-minute, 10-minute, and 15-minute readings were taken in addition to the 30-second and 2-minute readings.

During the loading phase of the tests on MT2, a few Mustran cells located close to the base behaved very erratically. However, the same Mustran cells began showing an apparently acceptable pattern of behavior during the unloading phase. Since the shaft had already been tested to failure, it was



Fig 7.2. Load settlement curve for shaft MT1 built by Casing Method.

decided to watch the behavior of these Mustran cells upon reloading and then unloading. The load was increased on the shaft in 50-ton increments up to 550 tons and all readings were taken as usual. The Mustran cells under watch again started to show erratic behavior as the load increased. However, as the load was being increased from 550 tons to 575 tons, the high pressure hydraulic hose burst at its junction with the hydraulic jacks. This incident marked the end of the tests at the Montopolis Site. At about 2:00 p.m., all the equipment brought to the site was loaded back into the vehicles and returned to the normal place of its storage. The load-settlement curves for the test shaft MT2 are shown in Fig 7.3.

The first load test on the shaft DTl at the Dallas Site was performed on February 12, 1975. The shaft had to be unloaded at an applied load of 75 tons in order to check into the erratic behavior of some Mustran cells. Reloading of the shaft was continued up to 375 tons in 25-ton increments. At the applied load of 375 tons the reaction beam began to tilt due to the "hingelike" behavior of some couplers used to extend the DYWIDAG bars. The load was decreased from 375 tons to 300 tons, and thereafter it was decreased to 0 ton in 100-ton steps. The shaft had a settlement of about 1.0 in. at the applied load of 375 tons. The shaft was tested again on March 21, 1975, after correcting the above noted difficulty regarding the couplers, and the shaft plunged at an applied load of 450 tons at a settlement of 1.9 in. with respect to its last fully unloaded position. The readings during these tests at the Dallas Site were taken in accordance with the procedures followed at the Montopolis Site. The load-settlement curves for the test shaft DTl are shown in Fig 7.4.

Comments on Field Tests

The experience with the hydraulic system during the tests at the Montopolis Site indicates the need to improve its safety and dependability. General discussions with contractors in the drilled shaft and piled-foundations industry indicate that flexible hoses capable of withstanding several cycles of 0-20,000 psi pressure range are not available. Generally, the current practice allows only three or four cycles of loading and unloading on a high pressure hose. Experience at Montopolis seems to confirm the current practice. The main difficulty lies in the fact that manufactured hose cannot



Fig 7.3. Load settlement curves for shaft MT2 built by Slurry Method.



Fig 7.4. Load-settlement curves for the shaft DT1 built by Casing Method.

be adequately tested at sustained high pressures due to lack of suitable testing facilities. It is a common practice to apply the test pressure to a hose in the form of an impulse and then use the hose for pressures not exceeding 25 percent of the maximum impulse pressure. Some people working in the area of high pressure hydraulic hoses believe that the hose will generally fail slowly rather than abruptly, giving enough time to an operator to de-energize the system. Experience at the Montopolis Site indicates that the hose can fail abruptly near the end.

A few Mustran cells in each shaft gave problems and their readings appeared to be of little or no value. It is felt that there were perhaps two possible causes of this behavior: very high stress concentrations near the tip or damage to the strain gages in the Mustran cells. At the present time, a completely reliable method of isolating the cause of the erratic behavior of Mustran cells is not known.

The reaction system designed for the tests worked satisfactorily. All the tension steel consisting of the DYWIDAG bars was recovered and reused after each test, thus proving its potential to achieve overall economy in the cost of testing axially loaded foundation elements.

CHAPTER 8. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION OF TEST DATA

Approach Used for Analysis of Field Data

It was pointed out in the preceding chapter that a few Mustran cells behaved erratically in each test. It was, therefore, essential to evaluate and modify the Mustran cell readings prior to the actual use of the readings for analysis and interpretation. The procedure used for this purpose is explained below.

The Mustran cell readings were arranged in a tabular form to see the pattern in which the readings of the Mustran cells varied along the depth of shaft at different applied loads. Necessary corrections were made in the readings to account for the variation of shaft diameter with depth. In some cases it was observed that a Mustran cell at a particular level gave widely different readings with respect to other Mustran cells at the same level at all applied loads. The readings of such Mustran cells were discarded. For each level of Mustran cells, curves were plotted to show the variation of the readings of each Mustran cell at the level due to variation in the load applied at the top of the shaft. For convenience, all the curves of the readings of Mustran cells at a particular level were plotted on the same sheet. These curves were then smoothed to discount obviously erratic readings. Finally, an average curve for the specific level was drawn on the basis of the smoothed curves. The average curves for each level were then checked to ensure that for any specific applied load the strain at a particular level was not greater than the strain at a lower level, after making necessary adjustments for the difference in the shaft diameter at the particular level with respect to the shaft diameter at the top of the shaft.

The modified Mustran cell readings of each test shaft were analyzed using the computer program DARES developed by Barker and Reese (1970) at The University of Texas at Austin. The theoretical bases of the program may be studied in the above noted reference. A brief description of the important details of the program are furnished next.

The readings of the Mustran cells near the top of the shaft are used to convert the readings of the Mustran cells at all other levels into units of load such as pounds. In view of the fact that the Mustran cells near the top of the shaft are used to calibrate the readings of other cells, these Mustran cells are referred to as the calibration cells and the level of their location is known as the calibration level. The Mustran cells near the top of the shaft are used as calibration cells for two reasons. First, the applied load at the calibration level is known since there is no load transfer above the ground surface. Second, the dimensions of the shaft above the ground surface are known quite accurately by direct measurements. For a particular applied load, the load at any Mustran cell level is obtained by computing the product of three quantities. These quantities are: the applied load; the ratio of the average reading of Mustran cells at the level to the average reading of the calibration cells; and the ratio of the square of the shaft diameter at the level to the square of the shaft diameter at the calibration level. In order to improve the accuracy of analysis, the program first obtains the best fitting polynomial curve which relates the average readings of the calibration cells to the known applied load. The coefficients of the calibration curve are then used to convert the readings of the Mustran cells at all levels to compute loads after making necessary adjustment for variation in the shaft diameter.

After the loads at all Mustran cell levels are computed for an applied load, the best fitting polynomial curve, representing the load distribution curve for the applied load, is then obtained by the method of least squares. The load distribution curve is then used to compute load transfer information using the principles outlined in Chapter 3.

The program DARES has the additional capability of plotting loadsettlement, load distribution, load transfer, and calibration curves after analyzing the Mustran cell readings according to the approach outlined above. The results obtained by the use of this program are discussed in the next few paragraphs. During the forthcoming discussion it will be helpful to note the positions of the soil layers with respect to each test shaft and the positions of the Mustran cells in each test shaft. This information was presented earlier in Figs 5.7 to 5.9.

Load Distribution Curves

The load distribution curves for the shafts DT1 and MT3 were obtained by utilizing all the capabilities of the program DARES. However, in the cases of shafts MT1 and MT2, the program could not be utilized beyond the stage of obtaining loads at all Mustran cell levels for each applied load. This limitation became apparent when preliminary examination of the data revealed that it would be more accurate to fit a load distribution curve over the depth of each soil layer instead of a single polynomial curve, furnished by the program DARES, for the entire penetration length of the shaft. Sudden contrasts in the physical properties of adjacent soil layers indicated the need for fitting individual load distribution curves over the depth of each soil layer.

In view of the above, the load distribution curves for the shafts MT1 and MT2 were fitted by inspection of the load points plotted by the program DARES along the depth of the shaft, with due regard to the vertical extent of each soil layer. It was assumed that a straight line load distribution curve for each soil layer would not cause a significant error in estimating the average load transfer characteristics of the soil within a soil layer. The principles outlined in Chapter 3 were used to compute the load transfer versus pile movement curves for the shafts MT1 and MT2.

The load distribution curves for all the test shafts are presented in Figs 8.1 to 8.4. The dashed segments of the load distribution curves represent those portions of the curves for which an estimate of the Mustran cell readings could not be made.

Load Transfer Curves

Figures 8.5 to 8.7 represent the load transfer curves based on the load distribution curves presented earlier.

A study of the load transfer curves pertaining to the shafts MT1 and MT2 indicated several inconsistencies. For example, in Fig 8.5, the upper clay layer in the shaft MT1 appears to have a higher load transfer capability than the lower clay layer, even for large movements, although the lower clay has about twice the average shear strength of the upper clay. Moreover, the load transfer for the sand and gravel layer is rather high since the \bar{p} tan $\bar{\phi}$ value for this soil is less than the load transfer indicated for the sand and gravel layer. Similar discrepancies exist in the load transfer results of



Fig 8.1. Load distribution curves for shaft MTl built by Casing Method.



Fig 8.2. Load distribution curves for shaft MT2 built by Slurry Method.



Fig 8.3. Load distribution curves for shaft MI3 built by Dry Method.



Fig 8.4. Load-distribution curves for shaft DT1 built by Casing Method.



Fig 8.5. Load transfer curves for shafts MT1 and MT2 built by Casing Method and Slurry Method.



Fig 8.6. Load transfer curves for shaft MT3 built by Dry Method.



Fig 8.7. Load-transfer curves for shaft DT1 built by Casing Method.

the shaft MT2 as well. The load transfer curves for the shafts MT1 and MT2 are, therefore, ignored insofar as the behavior of the soil layers above the shale layers are concerned.

The load transfer curves for the shafts MT3 and DT1 indicate that within the shale layer the load transfer increased with depth. It is also seen that maximum load transfer was achieved at displacements of about 1/4 in. These trends are in general agreement with the results reported by Vijayvergiya, Hudson, and Reese (1969). It should be noted that in all instrumented drilled shafts studied to date the penetration of the shaft into the shale layer was less than 5 ft. It is likely that for large penetrations of drilled shafts into a shale layer the trends of load transfer may vary with changes in the depth of penetration into the shale layer as observed for clays and sands by O'Neill and Reese (1970) and Touma and Reese (1972), respectively.

Base Resistance Curves

The base resistance curves, also known as tip-load versus tip-movement curves, are shown in Fig 8.8 for all the test shafts. These curves were obtained with the help of the program DARES. During the discussions and descriptions that follow, the term ultimate base resistance will be used to indicate the pressure q at which the movement of the tip equals 5 percent of the tip diameter. It is apparent from the tip-load versus tip-movement curves that the ultimate base resistance, q, of the shafts at the Montopolis Site varied from about 53 tsf, for the shaft MT2, to about 63 tsf, for the shaft MT3. The value of q for the shaft DT1 was about 25 tsf. It is also seen from the shapes of these curves that the shale acted as a stiffer material for the shafts MT1 and MT3 in comparison to the shaft MT2, although all these three shafts were located very close to each other. It may be noted that both the shafts MT1 and MT3 were installed into the shale by pouring concrete in a precleaned dry hole, whereas the shaft MT2 was installed into the shale by the slurry displacement method. In the shaft DT1 the shale, although having a relatively low value of $\,{\sf q}\,$, appears to act as stiff soil. The shaft DT1 was installed into the shale layer in the same manner as MT1. In all cases, at least 50 percent of the ultimate base resistance was mobilized at a tip movement of 1/2 in.



Fig 8.8. Tip-load versus tip-movement curves for all test shafts.

Summary of Results and Their Discussion

In order to clearly understand the phenomenon of soil-structure interaction for the test shafts, the following information will be examined closely:

- (1) load-settlement curves observed in the field;
- (2) triaxial test, THD cone resistance, and Dutch cone resistance data;
- (3) base resistance data; and
- (4) load transfer data.

Complete load-settlement curves were presented earlier in Chapter 7. These curves are reproduced in Fig 8.9 excluding the details of the unloading and reloading phases. These curves indicate that the failure loads for the shafts MT1, MT2, MT3, and DT1 were 600, 610, 570, and 450 tons, respectively. The term failure load is used here to indicate the load at which the shaft could not support additional load with additional movement into the ground. In physical terms, at the failure load, additional pressure could not be built into the hydraulic lines by the pump although the shaft kept moving downwards. Sometimes, the failure load, as defined above, is also referred to as the plunging load. The load-settlement curves show that at least 50 percent of the failure load was resisted at a settlement of about 3/8 in., and at least 75 percent of the failure load was resisted at a settlement of 3/4 in. These figures indicate that the clay-shale was generally acting as a stiff brittle material.

The triaxial test, THD cone penetration resistance, the standard penetration resistance, and the Dutch cone penetration resistance data were presented in Chapter 5. These data were evaluated to estimate the variation of the shear strength of soil along the length of the test shafts. Triaxial test data could not be obtained for the shaft DT1. Fig 8.10 shows the various estimates of shear strength along the length of the tests shafts at the Montopolis Site. The shear strength values were estimated from the THD cone penetration resistance and the standard penetration resistance data using the following correlations suggested by Engeling and Reese (1974):

$$c_{Q} = \frac{N_{SPT}}{15}$$

(8.1)





Fig 8.10. Shea

Shear strength profile at the Montopolis Site from field and laboratory data.

$$c_{Q} = \frac{N_{THD}}{21}$$
(8.2)

in which the terms $c_{\mbox{\scriptsize Q}}$, $\mbox{\scriptsize N}_{\mbox{\scriptsize SPT}}$, and $\mbox{\scriptsize N}_{\mbox{\scriptsize THD}}$ are defined as follows:

as follows: $N_{SPT} = \frac{12}{s} \times 100$ where s = spoon penetration in inches due to 100 consecutive blows.

$$N_{THD}$$
 = Number of blows required to penetrate the standard THD
cone a distance of 12 in. into the soil in accordance
with the procedure described in the Foundation Explor-
ation and Design Manual (1972) of the Texas Highway
Department. When the cone cannot penetrate 12 in.
into the soil in 100 consecutive blows, N_{THD} is
defined arbitrarily as follows: $N_{THD} = \frac{12}{s} \times 100$
where s = cone penetration in inches due to 100
consecutive blows.

Fig 8.11 shows the best estimate of shear strength profile at the Montopolis Site. Since both triaxial test and Dutch cone resistance data were available for the Montopolis Site, it was possible to determine N_{c} , cone, the bearing





capacity factor for the cone, using the following approach suggested by Schmertmann (1975) for clay soils:

$$N_{c}, cone = \frac{q_{c} - p_{o}}{c_{Q}}$$
 (8.3)

in which q_c is the unit bearing capacity on cone in a quick cone penetration test, p_o is the overburden pressure at the depth at which the cone penetration test has been performed, and c_Q is the shear strength of the soil in a quick triaxial test. In equation (8.3) above the parameters q_c , p_o , and c_Q have identical units and N_c , cone is a dimensionless parameter. Since the Dutch cone tests were made at the surface of the exposed shale, p_o was taken as equal to zero in equation (8.3). The value of N_c , cone computed thus was found to be about 19. The following equation was then used to estimate c_Q at the Dallas Site, assuming that N_c , cone at both the sites was identical:

$$c_{Q} = \frac{q_{c}}{19}$$
(8.4)

Computations to determine $N_{c, \text{cone}}$ are shown in Table 8.1. The values of c_Q estimated for the Dallas Site are shown in Table 8.2. A possible explanation for the relatively high value of $N_{c, \text{cone}}$ in comparison to the usual bearing capacity factor N_c equal to 9 will be offered later in this chapter after presenting the N_c values obtained for the test shafts.

The base resistance data obtained by analysis of Mustran cell readings can now be correlated to the shear strength of the shale. Table 8.3 is an attempt to estimate the bearing capacity factor N_c and the relationship between N_{THD} and the ultimate tip resistance for all the test shafts.

Depth Below	Dutch Cone Test Results								
Top of Shale	P max	Ac	٩ _c	c _Q (tsf)	qc				
(ft)	(1b)	1b) (sq.in.)	(tsf)	By Triaxial Tests	N_c , cone c_Q				
	3200	1.54	149.7	7.4	20.2				
3	3150	1.54	147.4	7.4	19.9				
	3290	1.54	153.9	7.4	20.8				
	3420	1.54	160.0	8.0	20.0				
5	2800	1.54	131.0	8.0	16.4				
	2872	1.54	134.3	8.0	16.8				

TABLE 8.1. N VALUES FROM DUTCH CONE AND TRIAXIAL TEST DATA AT MONTOPOLIS

Average value of $N_{c,cone} = 19.0$.

P = Maximum force applied to the cone during the test to cause its full penetration into the soil (1b)

 A_{c} = Area of the base of cone (sq.in.)

 $q_{c} = \frac{P_{max}}{A_{c}} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)

TABLE 8.2. ESTIMATE OF c_0 FROM DUTCH CONE TESTS AT DALLAS

	P max	^A c	q _c	N _c , cone	$c_{Q} = \frac{q_{c}}{N_{c}, \text{ cone}}$		
	(1b)	(sq.in.)	(tsf)		(tsf)		
	1350	1.54	63.1	19.0	3.3		
	1260	1.54	58.9	19.0	3.1		
	1300	1.54	60.8	19.0	3.2		

(Depth below top of shale = 5.0 ft)

Average value of c_Q at the Dallas Site = 3.2 tsf.

			CORRELATING AND c _Q	q TO	N _{THD}	
Shaft	q	c _Q	$N_c = \frac{q}{c_Q}$	N THD	$R = \frac{N_{THD}}{q}$	$\frac{N_{THD}}{c_Q} = S$
	(tsf)	(tsf)				
MT1	59.5	7.4	8.0	550	9.2	74.3
MT2	53.5	7.4	7.2	550	10.3	74.3
MT3	64.0	7.4	8.6	550	8.6	74.3
DT1	25.5	3.2	8.5	250	9.8	78.1

TABLE 8.3. ESTIMATES OF N $_{\rm c}$, AND FACTORS

Average value of $N_c = 8.1$

Average value of R = 9.5

Average value of S = 75.3

As pointed out earlier in this chapter, the load transfer results for the shafts MT3 and DT1 could be obtained fairly accurately on the basis of the Mustran cell readings. However, in the case of the shafts MT1 and MT2, the Mustran cell readings were generally questionable. It was, therefore, necessary to employ some indirect means to estimate the load transfer characteristics of the shale in these two shafts. Three different studies were made in this regard, as explained below.

Study No. 1 consisted of the following steps:

- (1) Assume that the portion of the shaft MT1 or MT2 embedded into the shale layer has the same load transfer characteristics as the shaft MT3.
- (2) Using the unit values of base resistance and load transfer in shale obtained for the shaft MT3, compute the tip load versus tip movement values for the shafts MT1 and MT2, assuming that they both terminated at the top of the shale.
- (3) Use the load transfer data obtained for the shafts MT1 and MT2, for the soil layers above the clay shale.
- (4) Use the load transfer results of step 3 and tip load versus tip movement results of step 3 for the shafts to compute the loadsettlement curve for each shaft by using the approach suggested by Coyle and Reese (1966) as outlined in Chapter 2. Use the computer program PX4C3 developed at The University of Texas at Austin for these computations.

Study No. 2 consisted of the same approach as used for Study No. 1 with the exception that the load transfer data for the shaft were used by studying the values of α , the ratio of maximum load transfer to c_Q , determined in several earlier studies on drilled shafts conducted at The University of Texas at Austin by the Center for Highway Research (89 and 176 Series Reports). The values of c_Q as noted earlier were used for this study. In accordance with the procedure suggested by Engeling and Reese (1974), it was assumed that there was no load transfer in the first five feet of penetration of the shaft. Table 8.4 gives a comparison of the experimental failure loads with the failure loads computed by the above studies. The comparisons between computed and experimental load-settlement curves for MT1 and MT2 are shown are shown for Study No. 1 and Study No. 2 in Figs 8.12 and 8.13, respectively.



Fig 8.12. Comparison of experimental and computed load-settlement curves: study no. 1.



Fig 8.13. Comparison of experimental and computed load-settlement curves: study no. 2.
		Study No	» . 1	Study No	. 2
Shaft	Q _{ult} (tons)	Q _{ult} , 1 (tons)	^R 1	Q _{ult} , 2 (tons)	^R 2
MT1	600	700	1.30	655	1.09
MT2	610	760	1.25	720	1.18

TABLE 8.4.COMPARISON OF EXPERIMENTAL AND COMPUTED FAILURE LOAD
FOR SHAFTS MT1 AND MT2 USING INDIRECT METHODS

Q _{u1t} =	Failure load determined by field test (tons)
Q _{ult,1} =	Failure load determined by Study No. 1 (tons)
Q _{ult} , 2 =	Failure load determined by Study No. 2 (tons)
^R 1 =	Ratio of Qult, 1 ^{to Q} ult
^R 2 =	Ratio of Qult, 2 ^{to Q} ult

From the relatively large values of R_1 and R_2 as determined above, it became apparent that the assumption made in step 1 for the above two studies was not applicable and that in both the shafts MT1 and MT2 the load transfer was relatively less than in MT3. It was, therefore, decided to compute load transfer in the shale for the shafts MT1 and MT2 in accordance with the steps for Study No. 3, outlined below:

- (1) Use the Reese and Engeling (1974) load transfer criteria and determine the load transferred to the layers above the shale.
- (2) Subtract the load transferred to the layers above the shale, Q, from the experimental failure load, Q_{ult}.
 Designate the net quantity as Q_{top}.
- (3) Subtract the tip load Q_B at failure from Q_{top} . Designate the net quantity as Q_{side} .
- (4) Load transferred to the shale is then computed as

$$\tau_{max} = \frac{Q_{side}}{2\pi D \ell}$$

in which

D	=	diameter of the portion of shaft embedded
ł	=	in shale (ft), length of the portion of shaft embedded in
т max	=	shale, and maximum load transfer in shale (tsf).

Table 8.5 shows the τ_{max} and α values computed for the shafts MT1 and MT2 using the approach outlined above.

Table 8.6 summarizes the relationships noted between load transfer and undrained shear strength for the shale on the basis of the four load tests.

TABLE 8.5.	ESTIMATE OF	F T max	AND α	VALUES	FOR	SHAFTS	MT1	AND	MT2
	USING THE	INDIRECT	APPROACE	H					

Shaft	Q _{ult}	Q	Qtop	Q _B	Q side	D	e	max	cq	α
	(tons)	(tons)	(tons)	(tons)	(tons)	(ft)	(ft)	(tsf)	(tsf)	I
MT1	600	83	517	273	244	2.42	3.75	4.28	7.4	0.58
MT2	610	89	521	278	243	2.58	3.92	3.82	7.4	0.52

TABLE 8.6. LOAD TRANSFER DATA FOR SHALE ON THE BASIS OF LOAD TESTS

٠

Shaft	c _Q (tsf)	^T max (tsf)	$\alpha = \frac{c_Q}{\tau_{max}}$	Installation Method
MT1	7.4	4.28	0.58	Casing, dry in shale
MT2	7.4	3.82	0.52	Slurry displacement
MT3	7.4	7.2	0.97	Dry
DT1	3.2	2.9	0.91	Casing, dry in shale

Note: c_Q is the shear strength obtained by a quick test in a triaxial testing machine.

It can be seen from Table 8.6 above that the load transfer characteristics of shale vary significantly. The shafts MT1 and DT1 were both installed by the casing method, and even the shaft MT3 was installed into the shale in a precleaned dry hole as was done for the shafts MT1 and DT1. The value of α for the shaft MT1 is rather low in comparison to the α values found for DT1 and MT3. It may be recalled that the construction of shaft MT1 was not strictly in accordance with the casing method as was pointed out in Chapter 5. The casing of the shaft MT1 was pulled suddenly and continuously in single operation, and no slurry was noticed near the top of the shaft after the casing was pulled out completely. No slurry was used to construct DT1. It is difficult to relate this departure from the construction procedure to the low value of α , but it is desirable that future investigations be directed towards evaluation of the effects of construction procedures on the values of τ_{max} or α .

The α value for the slurry shaft is the lowest of all other α values. Engeling and Reese (1974) had suggested an α value of 0.5 in clay for those shafts in which there is a possibility of entrapment of the drilling mud between the sides of the shaft and the natural soil. A value of 0.5 for α appears reasonable for drilled shafts under 30 ft long installed into clayshales whose shear strength as determined by quick triaxial tests is under 10 tsf. This statement is based upon very limited information obtained in this study. Under ideal conditions and when the method of installation is similar to the dry method, the value of α may be slightly increased, perhaps to 0.75 only for the type of drilled shafts and clay-shales mentioned above.

The base resistance data presented in Table 8.3 indicate that the shaft MT2 constructed by the slurry displacement method had the lowest ultimate base resistance value. For such shafts a conservative value of 7.0 for N_c appears reasonable. N_c may be increased to 8.0 if the dry method of construction is used.

For a circular footing resting on the surface of an elastic half space, the value of N_c is about 7.4. In the case of the Dutch cone tests, N_c , cone was found to be about 19. According to Schmertmann (1975), the N_c , cone values have been reported to range from 5 to 70. It is believed that in the case of the clay-shale the size effects were responsible for yielding a high value of N_c for the cone in comparison with the N_c for the test shafts. Bishop and Little (1967) reported similar experience for the fissured London clay. They concluded that small size samples or footings considerably overestimated the undrained shear strength of fissured London clay, not only at shallow depths where fissures were predominant but even at large depths where the fissures could not be visually detected.

Limitations of Test Results

The data on the behavior of drilled shafts in shales are very limited at the present time. The results of this study would have been more conclusive had the instrumentation for the shaft MT1 and the shaft MT2 behaved normally. Lack of triaxial test data for the shaft DT1 made it necessary to use an indirect approach to estimate the undrained shear strength of the clay-shale at the Dallas Site. In view of these limitations a conservative approach has been adopted for suggesting the design parameters to predict the axial capacity of drilled shafts in clay-shales. The suggested design values based on this study are included in the next chapter. This page replaces an intentionally blank page in the original. -- CTR Library Digitization Team

CHAPTER 9. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Introductory Remarks

The conclusions made in this study are based upon limited data on instrumented drilled shafts in clay-shales loaded axially to failure. Such data were not available prior to this study. It is hoped that future investigators will add to the knowledge gained through this research effort.

Some uncertainties were imposed because of limitations in determining the in situ shear strength of clay-shale. Further, in some instances the pattern of load distribution above the base could not be determined due to erratic behaviour of Mustran cells. These experimental difficulties necessitate recourse to a conservative approach in selection of design parameters.

However, the values of the ultimate base resistance obtained through field measurements are judged to be within 10 percent of actual values for all test shafts. A significant finding in this study is that the clayshale at Montopolis provided an ultimate base resistance value ranging from 53.5 to 64.0 tsf; the clay-shale at Dallas provided an ultimate base resistance of 25.5 tsf. These values are considerably higher than the values adopted by many agencies for design of drilled shafts. It is hoped that these data will provide useful guidelines to engineers and contractors. It should be noted that the clay-shale, which could be easily drilled with augers had high base resistance values. Recognition of this fact may be helpful in considering the use of drilled shafts as an economical alternate in many foundation designs.

General Conclusions

An understanding of the behavior of axially loaded drilled shafts in clay-shales can be achieved through proper combination of field and laboratory tests. Design inferences can be drawn only through adequate information about the in-situ shear strength profile and the load transfer characteristics of

137

the supporting soils media. It is possible to estimate in-situ shear strength by means of in-hole tests in the field and triaxial tests in the laboratory. Load transfer characteristics can be determined by performing field tests on properly instrumented drilled shafts. The results of this study have led to the following general conclusions:

- The load-carrying capacity of axially loaded drilled shafts can be significantly affected by construction methods.
- (2) The dry method of construction yields the highest load transfer in clay-shales.
- (3) The shear strength of clay-shales of the same geologic formation can be significantly different at different locations. Therefore, the axial capacity of drilled shafts in clay-shales can be widely different at different locations even though identical construction methods are used.
- (4) The peak load transfer in clay shales is mobilized at movements of 1/4 in. or less.
- (5) The reaction system used in this study worked very satisfactorily and can be used to cut down the cost of load tests on drilled shafts or piles.

Design Conclusions

The following design conclusions have been reached on the basis of this study.

(1) An α value of 0.5 can be used for drilled shafts in clay-shales if the slurry displacement method or the casing method of construction is employed. This α is correlated to the shear strength of the clay-shale obtained by a quick triaxial test in which the confining pressure is almost equal to the overburden pressure. The α value can be increased to about 0.75 if the shaft is constructed by the dry method. These α values apply to shafts whose penetration into the clay-shale is about 5 ft and whose total length is under 30 ft.

(2) From a design standpoint, the bearing capacity factor, N_c , is about 7.0 for shafts built by the slurry displacement method. Its value may be increased to 8.0 for shafts built by the casing method or dry method. These values of N_c are probably conservative due to limited data obtained in this study.

(3) Unit base resistance, q , may be obtained from dynamic penetration

resistance data using the following equation:

$$q(tsf) = \frac{N_{\text{THD}}}{10}$$
(9.1)

where q and N_{THD} are as defined in the preceding chapters. The above correlation must be used with great caution since it is based on very meager data.

(4) The shear strength of the clay-shale may be roughly estimated from the following equation:

$$c_{Q}(tsf) = \frac{N_{THD}}{75}$$
(9.2)

The above equation has the same limitations as equation (9.1). A similar correlation reported by Hamoudi, Coyle and Bartoskewitz (1974) suggests the following equation for CH soils with secondary structure:

$$c_{Q}(tsf) = \frac{N_{THD}}{55}$$
(9.3)

On the basis of the conclusions outlined in the preceding paragraphs of this chapter, a procedure to estimate the axial capacity of drilled shafts in clay-shales is suggested next.

Suggested Design Procedure

The following tentative design procedure is suggested to estimate the axial capacity of drilled shafts in clay-shales.

(1) Estimate the base resistance, Q_B (tons), using the following equation:

$$Q_{\rm B} = q A_{\rm b} \tag{9.4}$$

where Q_B is the base resistance in tons, q is the ultimate base resistance in tons per sq.ft., and A_b is the base area in sq.ft. The value of q can be determined by using the following equation:

$$q = c_Q N_C$$
(9.5)

where c_Q is the shear strength, in tsf, of the clay-shale obtained in a quick triaxial test in which the confining pressure is almost equal to the estimated effective vertical overburden pressure. If only dynamic penetration resistance data are available, a rough approximation of the value of c_Q may be made using equation (9.2).

The following values of N are suggested:

- N_c = 7.0 if the shaft is constructed by the slurry displacement method
 - = 8.0 if the shaft is constructed by the casing method or the dry method

(2) Estimate the side resistance, $Q_{\mbox{s}}$ (tons) , using the following equation:

$$Q_{s} = \alpha c_{Q} A_{s}$$
(9.6)

where α is the shear strength reduction factor (dimensionless), c_Q is the same as defined above, and A_s is the circumferencial area, in sq.ft., of the shaft in contact with the clay-shale. The suggested values of α are as indicated below:

- α = 0.5 for shafts constructed by the slurry displacement or the casing method
 - = 0.75 for shafts constructed by the dry method

(3) Estimate the total ultimate axial capacity, $Q_{\rm T}$ (tons), of the shaft using the following equation:

$$Q_{\rm T} = Q_{\rm B} + Q_{\rm s} \tag{9.7}$$

(4) The total allowable load, Q_A (tons) , may be obtained from the following equation:

$$Q_{A}$$
 (tons) = $\frac{Q_{B}}{2} + Q_{s}$ (9.8)

Equation 9.8 takes into account the relatively small movements required to mobilize full side resistance and 50 percent of the ultimate base resistance. Suitable adjustments may be made to Equation 9.8 to accommodate special criteria of allowable movements. Table 9.1 compares the values of ultimate axial capacity in clay-shale determined by field experiments and the suggested design procedure outlined above.

TABLE 9.1.	COMPARATIVE	ULTIMATE	AXIAL	CAPACITIES	IN	CLAY-SHALES:
	EXPERIMENTA	L AND COM	PUTED			

Shaft No.	Construction Method	Experimental Axial Capacity (tons)	Computed Axial Capacity (tons)
MT1	Casing	517	396
MT2	Slurry	521	404
MT3	Dry	570	485
DT1	Casing	290	237

It may be seen from Table 9.1 that the Suggested Design Procedure is somewhat conservative.

Limitations of the Suggested Design Procedure

The following limitations exist in the tentative design procedure suggested above.

(1) It is based upon limited information obtained by field tests on only four test shafts whose embedment lengths were under 30 ft and which penetrated about 5 ft into clay-shale. The data obtained from these tests are not conclusive at the present time.

(2) The design procedure can be applied to single axially loaded drilled shafts whose vertical axes are spaced at least 3 shaft-diameters apart.

(3) The recommendations made in this study are based upon experience with clay-shales whose shear strength in a quick triaxial test is less than 10 tsf.

Recommendations for Future Studies

Drilled shafts installed into clay-shales offer an economical and sound foundation alternate for several types of structures. They can support heavy loads at a low cost per ton of load to be supported. With this study, the initial step has been taken to understand their behavior under axial loads. It is recommended that future studies should be conducted as indicated below.

- (1) The effect of construction methods on the load transfer characteristics of clay-shales should be studied in detail and appropriate design values should be arrived at based upon additional data obtained from tests on instrumented shafts of different lengths in clay-shales of a wide range of shear strength.
- (2) A practical procedure should be established to estimate the in-situ shear strength of clay-shales.

REFERENCES

- American Concrete Institute (1971), <u>Building Code Requirements for</u> <u>Reinforced Concrete (ACI 318-71)</u>, American Concrete Institute, Detroit, Michigan, 1971.
- Baker, Clyde N., and Khan, Fazhur (1971), "Caisson Construction Problems and Correction in Chicago," Journal of the Soil Mechanics and Foundations Division, Proceedings of the ASCE, Vol 97, No. SM2, February 1971, pp 417-440.
- Barker, Walter R., and Reese, Lymon C. (1969), "Instrumentation for Measurement of Axial Load in Drilled Shafts," Research Report 89-6, Center for Highway Research, The University of Texas at Austin, 1969.
- Barker, Walter R., and Reese, Lymon C. (1970), "Load Carrying Characteristics of Drilled Shafts Constructed with the Aid of Drilling Fluids," Research Report 89-8, Center for Highway Research, The University of Texas at Austin, 1970.
- Beckwith, George H., and Bendenkop, Dale V. (1973), "An Investigation of the Load Carrying Capacity of Drilled Cast-in-Place Concrete Piles Bearing on Coarse Granular Soils and Cemented Alluvial Fan Deposits," Final Report AHD-RD-10-122, Submitted to The Arizona Highway Department, Phoenix, Arizona, 1973.
- Bhanot, K. L. (1968), Behaviour of Scaled and Full-Length Cast-in-Place Concrete Piles, thesis presented to The University of Alberta, at Edmonton, Alberta, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, 1968.
- Bishop, A. W., and Henkel, D. J. (1964), <u>The Measurement of Soil</u> <u>Properties in the Triaxial Test</u>, Edward Arnold Ltd., London, 1964.
- Bishop, A. W., and Little, A. L. (1967), "The Influence of the Size and Orientation of the Sample on the Apparent Strength of the London Clay at Maldon, Essex," Proceedings, Geotechnical Conference, Oslo, Vol 1, pp 89-96, 1967.
- Burland, J. B. (1963), Discussion in Grouts and Drilling Muds in Engineering Practice, Butterworths, London, 1963, pp 223-225.
- Burland, J. B., Butler, F. G., and Dunican, P. (1966), "The Behaviour and Design of Large Diameter Bored Piles in Stiff Clay," Proceedings of the Symposium on Large Bored Piles, Institution of Civil Engineers, London, February 1966.

- Butterfield, R., and Bannerjee, P. K. (1970), "A Note on the Problem of Pile-Reinforced Half Space," Geotechnique, Vol XX, No. 1, pp 100-103, 1970.
- Butterfield, R., and Bannerjee, P. K. (1971), "The Elastic Analysis of Compressible Piles and Pile Groups," Geotechnique, Vol XXI, No. 1, pp 43-60, 1971.
- Clisby, Barret M., and Mattox, Robert M. (1971), "Comparison of Singleand Multiple-Underreamed Bored Piles Based on Laboratory and Field Experiments," Highway Research Board, Washington, D.C., 1971.
- Cooke, R. W., and Whitaker, Thomas (1961), "Experiments on Model Piles with Enlarged Bases," Geotechnique, Vol XI, No. 1, pp 1-13.
- Coyle, H. M., and Reese, L. C. (1966), "Load Transfer for Axially Loaded Piles in Clay," Journal of the Soil Mechanics and Foundations Division, Proceedings of the ASCE, Vol 92, No. SM2, March 1966, pp 1-26.
- D'Appolonia, E., and Romualdi, J. P. (1963), "Load Transfer in End-Bearing Steel H-Piles," Journal of the Soil Mechanics and Foundations Division, Proceedings of the ASCE, Vol 89, No. SM2, March 1963, pp 1-25.
- Deb, A. K., and Chandra, S. (1964), "Short Bored Piles for Foundations in Expansive Clays," Proceedings of the Symposium on Bearing Capacity of Piles, Central Building Research Institute, Roorkee, India, 1964.
- Desai, C. S., and Abel, J. F. (1972), <u>Introduction to the Finite Element</u> <u>Method</u>, Von Nostrand-Reinhold Co., New York, 1972.
- Desai, Chandrakant S. (1974), "Numerical Design-Analysis for Piles in Sands," Journal of the Geotechnical Engineering Division, Proceedings of the ASCE, Vol 100, No. GT6, June 1974, pp 613-635.
- DuBose, L. A. (1955), "Load Studies of Drilled Shafts," Proceedings, Highway Research Board, Vol 34, Washington, D.C., 1955.
- DuBose, L. A. (1956), <u>A Comprehensive Study of Factors Influencing the</u> <u>Load Carrying Capacities of Drilled and Cast-in-Place Concrete</u> <u>Piles</u>, Texas Transportation Institute, A&M College of Texas, College Station, Texas, 1956.
- Ellison, R. D., D'Appolonia, E., and Thiers, G. R. (1971), "Load-Deformation Mechanism for Bored Piles," Journal of the Soil Mechanics and Foundations Division, Proceedings of the ASCE, Vol 97, No. SM4, July 1971, pp 661-678.
- Engeling, Donald E., and Reese, Lymon C. (1974), "Behavior of Three Instrumented Drilled Shafts Under Short Term Axial Loading," Research Report 176-3, Center for Highway Research, The University of Texas at Austin, 1974.

- Farmer, I. W. (1969), "Leaching of Cement from a Concrete Pile Section by Groundwater Flow," Civil Engineering, London, 1969, Vol 64, pp 457-458.
- Fleming, W. G. K., and Salter, T. H. (1962), "Reports on Loading Tests on a Large Diameter Underreamed Bored Pile," Civil Engineering and Public Works Review, London, October 1962.
- Frischmann, W. W., and Fleming, W. G. K. (1962), "The Use and Behaviour of Large Diameter Piles in London Clay," The Structural Engineer, London, April 1962.
- Golder, H. Q., and Leonard, M. W. (1954), "Some Tests on Bored Piles in London Clay," Geotechnique, Vol IV, No. 1, London, March 1954.
- Green, H. (1961), "Long-Term Loading of Short Bored Piles," Geotechnique, Vol XI, No. 1, London, March 1961.
- Hamoudi, Manaf H., Coyle, Harry M., and Bartoskewitz, Richard E. (1974), "Correlation of the Texas Highway Department Cone Penetrometer Test with Unconsolidated-Undrained Shear Strength of Cohesive Soils," Research Report 10-1, Texas Transportation Institute, Texas A&M University, College Station, Texas, 1974.
- Harris, F. A. (1951), "Plum Creek Load Test Results, Progress Report No. 2 on Skin Friction Investigation," Texas Highway Department, Houston Urban Expressways Office, May 1951.
- Komornik, A., and Wiseman, G. (1967), "Experience with Large Diameter Cast-in-Situ Piling," Proceedings, Third Asian Regional Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, Jerusalem Academic Press, Jerusalem, 1967.
- Lee, I. K. (1974), <u>Soil Mechanics New Horizons</u>, Newnes-Butterworths, London, 1974, pp 237-279.
- Mansur, Charles I., and Hunter, Alfred H. (1970), "Pile Tests Arkansas River Project," Journal of the Soil Mechanics and Foundations Division, Proceedings of the ASCE, Vol 96, No. SM5, September 1970, pp 1545-1604.
- Matich, M. A. J., and Kozicki, P. (1967), "Some Load Tests on Drilled Cast-in-Place Concrete Caissons," Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. IV, No. 4, November 1967.
- Mattes, N. S. (1969), "The Influence of Radial Displacement Compatibility on Pile Settlements," Geotechnique, Vol XIX, pp 157-159, 1969.
- Mattes, N. S., and Poulos, H. G. (1969), "Settlement of Single Compressible Pile," Journal of the Soil Mechanics and Foundation Division, Proceedings of the ASCE, Vol 95, No. SM1, January 1969, pp 189-207.
- Mead, W. J. (1936), "Engineering Geology of Damsites," Transactions, Second International Congress on Large Dams, Stockholm, Sweden, pp 171-192, 1936.

- Meyerhof, G. G., and Murdock, L. J. (1953), "An Investigation of the Bearing Capacity of Some Bored and Driven Piles in London Clay," Geotechnique, Vol III, No. 7, London, September 1953.
- Mindlin, R. D. (1936), "Force at a Point in the Interior of a Semi-Infinite Solid," Journal of Applied Physics, Vol 7, No. 5, pp 195-202, 1936.
- Mohan, Dinesh (1961), "Bearing Capacity of Bored Piles in Expansive Clays," Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, Paris, Vol II, Division 3, pp 117-121, 1961.
- Mohan, Dinesh (1975), Discussion of paper by Gerald J. Gromko published in June 1974, Journal of the Geotechnical Engineering Division, Proceedings of the ASCE, Vol 101, No. GT3, March 1975, pp 347-349.
- Mohan, D., and Chandra, S. (1961), "Frictional Resistance of Bored Piles in Expansive Clays," Geotechnique, Vol XI, No. 4, London, December 1961.
- Mohan, D., and Jain, G. S. (1961), "Bearing Capacity of Bored Piles in Expansive Clays," Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, 1961.
- Mohan, D., Murthy, V. N. S., and Jain, G. S. (1969), 'Design and Construction of Multi-Under-Reamed Piles," Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, Mexico, Vol II, pp 183-186, 1969.
- Morganstern, Norbert R., and Eigenbrod, Kurt D. (1974), "Classification of Argillaceous Soils and Rocks," Journal of the Geotechnical Engineering Division, Proceedings of the ASCE, Vol 100, No. GT10, October 1974, pp 1137-1156.
- Newland, P. L. (1968), "The Behaviour of a Pier Foundation in a Swelling Clay," Proceedings - Fourth Conference, Australia Road Research Board, Vol 4, Part 2, 1968, pp 1964-1978.
- O'Neill, Michael W., and Reese, Lymon C. (1970), "Behavior of Axially Loaded Drilled Shafts in Beaumont Clay," Research Report 89-8, Center for Highway Research, The University of Texas at Austin, 1970. Parts 1-5.
- Peck, R. B., Hanson, W. E., and Thornburn, T. H. (1974), <u>Foundation</u> <u>Engineering</u>, Second Edition, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1974.
- Perry, G. C., and Lissner, H. R. (1962), <u>The Strain Gage Primer</u>, 2nd Edition, McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York, 1962.

- Poulos, H. G., and Davis E. H. (1968), "The Settlement Behaviour of Axially Loaded Incompressible Piles and Piers," Geotechnique, Vol XVIII, No. 3, pp 351-371, 1968.
- Poulos, H. G., and Davis, E. H. (1974), "Elastic Solutions for Soil and Rock Mechanics," John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1974, pp 269-282.
- Poulos, H. G., and Mattes, N. S. (1969), "The Behaviour of Axially Loaded End-Bearing Piles," Geotechnique, Vol XIX, pp 285-300, 1969.
- Reese, L. C., and Hudson, W. R. (1968), "Field Testing of Drilled Shafts to Develop Design Methods," Research Report 89-1, Center for Highway Research, The University of Texas at Austin, 1968.
- Reese, L. C., Hudson, W. R., and Vijayvergiya, V. N. (1969), "An Investigation of the Interaction Between Bored Piles and Soil," Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, 1969.
- Salas, J. A. J., and Belzunce, J. A. (1965), "Resolution Theorique de la Distribution des Forces dans les Pieux," Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, Vol II, Division 4, pp 309-313, 1965.
- Schmertmann, John H. (1975), "The Measurement of In-Situ Shear Strength," ASCE Specialty Conference on In-Situ Measurement of Soil Properties, Advance Copy, Raleigh, North Carolina, June 1975.
- Seed, H. B., and Reese, L. C. (1957), "The Action of Soft Clay Along Friction Piles," Transactions of the American Society of Civil Engineers, Vol 122, 1957, pp 731-764.
- Skempton, A. W. (1959), "Cast-in-Situ Bored Piles in London Clay," Geotechnique, Vol IX, No. 4, London, December 1959.
- Snow, R. (1965), "Telltales," Foundation Facts, Vol 1, No. 2, Raymond International New York, Fall 1965.
- Terzaghi, Karl, and Peck, Ralph B. (1967), <u>Soil Mechanics in Engineering</u> Practice, Second Edition, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1967.
- Texas Highway Department (1972), <u>Foundation Exploration and Design</u> Manual, The Bridge Division, Second Edition, July 1972.
- The Dallas Geological Society (1963), "Geological Highway Map of Texas," 1963.
- Thurman, A. G., and D'Appolonia, E. (1965), "Computed Movement of End-Bearing Piles Embedded in Uniform and Stratified Soils," Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, Vol II, Division 4, pp 323-327, 1965.

- Touma, Fadlo T., and Reese, Lymon C. (1972), "Behavior of Axially Loaded Drilled Shafts in Sand," Research Report 176-1, Center for Highway Research, The University of Texas at Austin, 1972.
- U.S. Army Engineer District, Fort Worth, Texas (1968), Investigation for Building Foundations in Expansive Clays, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Fort Worth, Texas, April 1968.
- Underwood, Lloyd B. (1967), "Classification and Identification of Shales," Journal of the Soil Mechanics and Foundations Division, Proceedings of the ASCE, Vol 93, No. SM6, November 1967, pp 97-116.
- Van Doren, L. M., Hazard, S. G., Stallings, J. R., and Schnacke, D. P. (1967), "Drilled Shaft Foundation Test Program for State Highway Commission of Kansas," Van Doren-Hazard-Stallings-Schnacke Engineers-Architects, Topeka, Kansas, August 1967.
- Vesic, A. S. (1970), "Load Transfer in Pile-Soil Systems," Proceedings of the Conference on Design and Installation of Pile Foundations and Cellular Structures, Lehigh University, Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, Envo Publishing Company, Inc., Lehigh Valley, Pennsylvania, 1970, pp 47-84.
- Vijayvergiya, Vasant N., Hudson, W. Ronald, and Reese, Lymon C. (1969), "Load Distribution for a Drilled Shaft in Clay Shale," Research Report 89-5, Center for Highway Research, The University of Texas at Austin, 1969.
- Watt, W. G., Kurfurst, P. J., and Zeman, Z. P. (1969), "Comparison of Pile Load-Test-Skin-Friction Values and Laboratory Strength Tests," Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol VI, No. 3, August 1969.
- Whitaker, T., and Cooke, R. W. (1966), "An Investigation of the Shaft and Base Resistance of Large Bored Piles in London Clay," Proceedings of the Symposium on Large Bored Piles, Institution of Civil Engineers, London, February 1966.
- Williams, G. M. J., and Colman, R. B. (1965), "The Design of Piles and Cylinder Foundations in Stiff, Fissured Clay," Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, 1965.
- Woodward, R. J., Lundgren, R., and Boitano, J. D., Jr. (1961), "Pile Loading Tests in Stiff Clay," Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, 1961.
- Wooley, John A., and Reese, Lymon C. (1974), "Behavior of an Axially Loaded Drilled Shaft Under Sustained Loading," Research Report 176-2, Center for Highway Research, The University of Texas at Austin, 1974.
- Zienkiewicz, O. C. (1967), <u>The Finite Element Method in Structural and</u> Continuum Mechanics, McGraw-Hill, London, 1967.

DRILLING LOGS

APPENDIX A

This page replaces an intentionally blank page in the original. -- CTR Library Digitization Team

Tunns Highway Department Form 584

DRILLING REPORT (For use with Undisturbed Sampling & Testing)

Sheet <u>1</u> of <u>1</u>

29-860 F291 2-69 10M

County _ Highway Control _ Project 1	No	Tray SH 7	71 & US	183		Structure Hole No Station	Test B-1 See	Sha Bori	ing	: M Loca	Iontopolis Site District No14 Date 12-6-1974 Ition Plan Grd. Elev
Riov. (Ft.)	Dopth (Ft.)	+ soldmag	THD PE No. of Lat 6"	N. TEST Riews Ind 6"	Sample Number	Lat. Pressure Lat. Stress (psl)	Wet Denalty (pef)	Malsture Content (%)	Liquid Limit (%)	Plaaticity Inder (%)	DESCRIPTION OF MATERIAL AND REMARKS
	0										
		╉─			1	<u> </u>		12	38	22	Dark gray sandy clay 0 - 2 ft (24"*)
	5				2	_		14	40	18	Dark gray sandy clay 2 - 4 ft (24"*)
	10				3 4			16 17	38 39	12	Tan sandy clay4 - 6 ft (24"*)Tan sandy clay6 - 7 ft (12"*)Hole stopped at 7 ft depth due to suspectedobstruction of an outfall sewer pipe.*Recovery
	· ·										
		┥┤─ ┥┤──									
		┥┤									
						-					
Defilies			uis Gourle	v		Lorgor	Ra	l Ivi F	P. A	uror	

fIndicate each foot by shading for core recovery, leaving blank for no core recovery, and crossing (X) for undisturbed laboratory samples taken.

Form 564						(For use wit	h Und	isturi	i KE bed S	ampl	ng & Testing) Sheet 1. of 1.
County . Highway	v No	<u>Trav</u> SH 7	<u>is</u> 1 & US	183		Structure	<u>Test</u> B-2	Sha	fts:	M	District No. 14 District No. 14 Date 12-6-1974 and 12-9-1974
Control	, 100,					Sistion	See F	Sori	ng L	oca	tion Plan Grd Elev
Project	No	3-5-	72-176			Loc. from Co	enterlin			F	t. I.t. Grd. Water Elev.
	1				1	1	1	T	T		
Elev. (P1.)	Dopth (Ft.)	t Log	THD PE No. of Lat 6"	N. TEST Blows 2nd 6"	Sample Number	Lat. Pressure & Ult. Stress (psi)	Wet Density (pef)	Mointure Content (%)	Llqald Llmit (%)	Plasticity Index (%)	DESCRIPTION OF MATERIAL AND REMARKS
	0.										5-1/2-in, I.D. casing embedded 14 ft after drilling
L											with mud to 14 ft depth.
	-				1			11	40	20	Dark gray sandy clay 0 - 2.0 ft (18"*)
						L				+	
					2		ļ	13	40	15	Dark gray sandy clay 2.0 - 4.0 ft (18"*)
	- 5-				3	+		15	32	10	Tan sandy clay with gravel 4.0 - 6.0 ft
					4		<u> </u>	16	4.5	20	The conduction into arrival $6.0 - 8.0.6t$
					4			10	45	20	Tan sandy cray into graver 0.0 - 0.0 [L
	-	TNI					1			1	
	10						1			1	
									1—		8.0 - 14.0 ft with caving problems
											while drilling.
		X			5			25	60	27	Tan clay with sand & gravel 14.0 - 16.0 ft
	15						<u> </u>		ļ	 	
						ļ			<u> </u>		Dark gray shale 16.0 - 18.0 ft No sample
					-	<u> </u> ,		<u> </u>		ļ	recovered as inner barrelrotated
					+			24	6.0	36	
	20			-	e			24	122	20	Dark gray share 18.0-20.0 ft (25 ^)
					7			26	50	25	Dark gray shale $20.0 - 22.0 \text{ ft} (22'' +)$
					<i>L</i>	<u> </u>	· ·	<u>- v</u> -		-	
					8			27	50	25	Dark gray shale 22.0-24.0 ft (24" *)
									i		
	25_				9			25	50	26	Dark gray shale 24.0-26.0 ft (17-1/2"*)
										l	
	+			l	10		<u> </u>	24	60	26.	Dark gray shale 26.0-28.0 ft (21-1/2"*)
	4				11				50	20	Deple such a la $28.0, 20.0, 54, (17.1/2)$
}	30				11			44	24	46	Dark gray share 20.0 - 50.0 IC (1/-1/2"*)
					12			20	53	24	Dark grav shale $30.0 - 32.0 \text{ ft } (24'' +)$
						<u>+</u>		- -			WAR DENT CHMAN DUIL DUIL DUIL DUIL DUIL DUIL DUIL
	1				13	1		21	56	26	Dark gray shale $32.0 - 34.0$ ft (18" *)
											End of drilled hole at 34 ft depth
						1				<u> </u>	•
Driller .		Lou	is Gourle	y y		Logger	R	avi	P.	Auro	Dra Title

Logger Ravi P. Aurora Title

29-850 F291 2-69 10M

Texas Highway Department

DRITTING DEDORT

Taxas Higi Form 554	hway Dep	eriment				[For use wit	DRILI h Und	LING isturb	RE ed S	POF	CT (ng & Testing)	Sheet 1 of 1
County_ Highway	7 No	Trav SH.7	is 1 & US	183		. Structure Hole No.	Test B-3	t Sha	afts	:]	Montopolis Site	District No14
Control						Station	See	Bor	ing	Loc	ation Plan	Grd. Elev.
Project 1	No	3-5-	72-176			Loc. from Co	enterlin	10		Lt	Grd. Water Elev.	
Elev. (Ft.)	Depth (FL)	t Log	THD PE No. of 1st 6"	N. TEST Blows 2nd 6"	Sample Number	Lat. Pressure & Uit. Stress (psi)	Wet Donaity (pot)	Moisture Centent (%)	Limit (%)	Plasticity Index (%)	DESCRIP	TION OF MATERIAL
	0				_			1			5-1/2 in. I.D. casing en	mbedded 15 ft after drilling
											with mud to 16 ft	depth.
					1		1	12	35	19	Lt. Br. sandy clay	
					2	CL		14	45	35	Tan and gray clay with	sand & gravel 2 - 4 ft
		4.4										-
	5_											
		4			3	CL		26	31	19	Tan and gray clay	<u>4 - 5.5 ft (10 in.*)</u>
	ļ.,											
					4				I		Tan and gray clay	<u>5.5 - 7.5 ft (14.5 in.*)</u>
								<u> </u>	<u> </u>			
	10_			ļ		CL		14	27	14	Tan sandy clay	<u>7.5 - 9.5 ft (16.5 in.*)</u>
					6	CL	· ·	16	26	17	Tan sandy & gravelly cla	y 9.5-10.5 ft
					7			15	-		Tan clayey gravel & sand	<u>10.5 - 11.2 ft</u>
					8			15	-	-	Tan clayey gravel& sand	<u>11.2 - 12.3 ft</u>
	<u> </u>				9						Top: tan " " " "	<u>12.3 - 14.0 ft</u>
	15_					<u> </u>	<u>+</u>	26	62	36	Bottom: tan sandy clay	<u>14.0 - 14.5 ft</u>
				+·	10	CH		23	65.	39	Tan clay slickenzided	14 <u>.5 - 16.0 ft</u>
					+							14 0 17 5 6
		╉				СН		21	<u> 61</u>	33	Tan clay slickenzided	16.0 - 1/.5 IL
	20				12	011		2/		1/1		17.5.10.5.5
	- 20 -			<u> </u>		<u> </u>		- 24	00	<u> </u>	Tan Clay Silckenzided	1/.5 - 19.5 It
	+							1		-		
					13	CH	+	22	61	38	Tan clay slickenzided	20.0 - 22.0 ft
										1.00		
					14	Сн		23	60	35	Gr. clay with shale	22.0 - 24.0 ft
	25	É.			15						Dark gray shale	24.0 - 24.5 ft
					16	Сн		20	53	32	Dark gray shale	24.5 - 26.0 ft
				<u> </u>	17	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	-	<u> </u>	I	Dark gray shale	26.0 - 28.0 ft
L	30_				18	СН		20	54	30	Dark gray shale	28.0-30.0 ft
I	┨────	-										
					19	СН		21	54	29	Dark gray shale	30.0-31.5 ft
<u> </u>				├ ───	20		·	21		27	Denk anay shale	22 0 - 34 0 55
		┍╤╡			20		<u> </u>	1 21	22	-41	End of drilled hole of	34 ft depth
		• • •		1	1	1	1	·	I	1	ising of diffied hole at	
Driller		Lou	is Gourle	у		Logger		Ravi	Р.	Au	ora Title_	

Louis Gourley Logger <u>Ravi P. Aurora</u> Title ______ Title _______ Title ______ Title _______ Title _______ Title ______ Title _______ Title _______ Title _______ Title ______ Title Title Title Title Ti

Texas Highway Department Form 554 DRILLING REPORT Sheet _1_ of _1_ (For use with Undisturbed Sampling & Testing) Travis County_ Test Shafts: Montopolis Site 14 _____ District No. ___ Structure ____ SH 71 & US 183 Highway No. SP-1 12-12-1974 Hole No. _ Date ___ Control. See Boring Location Plan Station _ _ Grd. Elev. ___ 3-5-72-176 Project No. Loc. from Centerline Rt. _____ Lt. __ Grd. Water Elev. _ Standard Penetration Moisture Content (%) Wet Denalty Liquid Limit (%) DESCRIPTION OF MATERIAL Test Plasticity Index (%) ^NSPT Elev. Depth E Los (bef) (PL) AND REMARKS (FL) Value 1st 6" 2nd 6" 3rd 6" 0 3 7 12 5 Dark gray sandy clay 0 - 1.5 ft 5 13 15 5 - 6.5 ft 9 28 Tan sandy clay 10 8 Tan sandy and gravelly clay 7.5-9 ft 11 19 10 11 13 14 27 Tan sand and gravel 10 - 11.5 ft Top 9" stiff gray clay 12.5 - 13.25 ft 23 6 13 36+ 15 Bottom 9" dark gray shale 13.25 - 14.0 ft End of hole at 14 ft depth 20 25 Louis Gourley Ravi P. Aurora Driller ___ Logger _____ _ Title ----29-850 F291 2-69 10M findicate each foot by shading for core recovery, leaving blank for no core recovery, and crossing (X) for undisturbed laboratory samples taken.

Construint Tray is Burnet No. 14 Michaev No. 31/1 6. US 183 How No. TP-1 Date 129-1974 and 12-11-15 Control 3-5-22-176 No. TP-1 Date 129-1974 and 12-11-15 See Foring Location Plan Ord Weir Fire Ord Weir Fire Ord Weir Fire Tro, rest Sharks See Foring Location Plan Ord Weir Fire Tro, rest Sharks See Foring Location Plan Ord Weir Fire Tro, rest Sharks See Foring Location Plan Ord Weir Fire 10 See Foring Location Plan Ord Weir Fire Ord Weir Fire 11 Image See Foring Location Plan Ord Weir Fire 10 See Foring Location Plan Ord Weir Fire Ord Weir Fire 11 Image See Foring Location Plan Description Ord Weir Fire 11 Image See Foring Location Plan Description Description 12 12 Image See Foring Location Plan Description Description 13 See Foring Location Plan	Texas Hig Form 564	hway Dep	ert	mont				[For use wit	DRILI h Undi	LING	RE	POR	RT Sheet 1 of 1
Project No. 3-5-72-176 Loc. from Centerline RL LA Ord. Water Elev. No. 1 as et sizes THO FEX. TEBY No. of Sizes<	County . Highway Control	7 No		Tra SH	vis 71 & US	183		. Structure	Test TP-1 See	Sha Bori	fts:	Montopolis Site District No. 14 Date 12-9-1974 and 12-11-197 ation Plan Oct Flag	
Her. Depth I THD VEN.THET Destb Lat Pressure (net) I Lat Pressure (net) I <thi< th=""> I <thi< th=""> <thi< th=""></thi<></thi<></thi<>	Project]	No		3-5	-72-176			Loc. from Co	enterlin	le		Rt. Grd. Water Elev.	
0 * *No cores taken. Visual identification only. 16 17 1 5 Dark gray sandy clay 0 - 2.5 ft 5 Dark gray sandy clay 2.5 - 5 ft 10 26 20 2 11 Dark gray sandy clay 5 - 7.5 ft 10 10 26 24 4 10 26 24 4 10 26 24 4 10 26 24 4 11 Tan sandy and gravel y clay 7.5 ft 10 26 24 4 11 Tan sandy and gravel y clay 7.5 ft 12 50(5-1/2") 50(1-1/2") 50 15 Dark gray shale 15 - 17.5 ft 15 Dark gray shale 15 - 17.5 ft 16 Dark gray shale 20 - 22.5 ft 17.5 50 (1/2") 50 (3/4") 9 Dark gray shale	Kiev. (Ft.)	Depth (FL)	Bamples +	Log	THD PE No. of 1st 6"	N. TEST Blows Ind 6"	Sample Number	Lat. Pressure & Ult. Stress (psl)	Wet Density (pcf)	Molsture Content (%)	Liquid Limit (%)	Plaetiolty Endex (%)	DESCRIPTION OF MATERIAL AND REMARKS
16 17 1 Dark gray sandy clay 0 - 2.5 ft 5 26 20 2 Dark gray sandy clay 2.5 - 5 ft 10 26 20 2 Dark gray sandy clay 5 - 7.5 ft 10 26 24 4 Tan sandy and gravelly clay 7.5 - 10 ft 10 26 24 4 Tan sandy and gravelly clay 7.5 - 10 ft 10 26 24 4 Tan sandy and gravelly clay 7.5 - 10 ft 10 26 24 4 Tan sandy and gravelly clay 7.5 - 10 ft 11 50(5-1/2") 50(5-1/4") 5 Tan clayey sand & gravel 10 - 12.5 ft 15 50(5-1/2") 50(1/2") 6 Dark gray shale 15 - 17.5 ft 15 50(1-1/2") 50(1/2") 7 Dark gray shale 10 - 12.5 ft 16 50(1/2") 50(1/2") 7 Dark gray shale 10 - 12.5 ft 16 50(1/2") 50(1/2") 10 Dark gray shale 20 - 22.5 ft 17 50(1/2") 50(1/2") 10 Dark gray shale 20 - 22.5 ft 18 50(1/2") 50(1/2")		0	Ţ	*									*No cores taken. Visual identification only.
5 \therefore 26 20 2 10 \therefore 26 24 4 10 $7.5 - 10$ fr 10 \therefore 26 24 4 7an sandy and gravelly clay $5 - 7.5$ ft 10 \therefore 26 24 4 7an sandy and gravelly clay $7.5 - 10$ fr 10 \therefore 26 24 4 7an sandy and gravelly clay $7.5 - 10$ fr 10 \therefore 26 24 4 7an sandy and gravelly clay $7.5 - 10$ fr 10 \therefore $50(5-1/2^m)$ $50(5-1/4^m)$ 5 7an clayey sand & gravel 10 -12.5 ft 15 $50(2-1/2^m)$ $50(1/2^m)$ 6 9ark gray shale 15 -17.5 ft 20 $50(1-1/2^m)$ $50(1/2^m)$ 7 9ark gray shale 17.5 - 20 ft $12 - 9-74$ 20 $50(1/2^m)$ $50(3/4^m)$ 8 9ark gray shale 20 - 22.5 ft $12 - 9-74$ 25 $50(1/2^m)$ $50(1/2^m)$ 10 9ark gray shale 20 - 22.5 ft $12 - 9-74$ <				`, 	16	17	1						Dark gray sandy clay 0 - 2.5 ft
18 12 3 Dark gray sandy clay 5 7.5 ft 10 26 24 4 Tan sandy and gravelly clay 7.5 ft 10 26 24 4 Tan sandy and gravelly clay 7.5 ft 10 26 24 4 Tan sandy and gravelly clay 7.5 ft 10 50(5-1/2") 50(5-1/4") 5 Tan clayey sand & gravel 10 -12.5 ft 15 50(2-1/2") 50(1-1/2") 6 Dark gray shale 15 -17.5 ft 20 50(1-1/2") 50(1/2") 7 Dark gray shale 15 -17.5 ft 20 50(2") 50(3/4") 8 Dark gray shale 20 -22.5 ft 12-9-74 20 50(1/2") 50(3/4") 9 Dark gray shale 20 -22.5 ft 12-11-74 25 50(1/2") 50(1/2") 10 Dark gray shale 20 -27.5 ft 30 50(1-3/4") 50(1/2") 11 Dark gray shale 25 -27.5 ft 30 50(2-1/4") 50(1/2") 12 Dark gray shale 30		5_		•••	26	20	2						Dark gray sandy clay 2.5 - 5 ft
10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 11 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 11 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 50(5-1/2") 50(5-1/2") 50(1-1/2") 50 10 10 12.5 ft 15 50(2-1/2") 50(1-1/2") 6 0ark gray shale 15 -17.5 ft 20 50(1-1/2") 50(1/2") 7 0ark gray shale 17.5 - 20 ft 12-9-74 20 50(1/2") 50(3/4") 9 0ark gray shale 20 -22.5 ft 12-9-74 20 50(1/2") 50(3/4") 9 0ark gray shale 20 -22.5 ft 12-9-74 25 50(1") 50(1/2") 10 0ark gray shale 20 -22.5 ft 12-11-74 25 50(1") 50(1/2") 10 0ark gray shale 22.5 - 25 ft 12-11-74 30 50(1-3/4") 50(1/2") 11 0ark gray shale 25 -2		×			18	12	3						Dark gray sandy clay 5 - 7.5 ft
i 50(5-1/2") 50(5-1/4") 5 Tan clayey sand & gravel 10 - 12.5 ft 15 i 50(2-1/2") 50(1-1/2") 6 Dark gray shale 50(1-1/2") 50(1/2") 7 Dark gray shale 15 - 17.5 ft 20 50(2") 50(3/4") 8 Dark gray shale 17.5 - 20 ft 12- 9-74 20 50(1/2") 50(3/4") 9 Dark gray shale 20 - 22.5 ft 12- 11-74 25 50(1") 50(1/2") 10 Dark gray shale 20 - 22.5 ft 12- 11-74 25 50(1") 50(1/2") 10 Dark gray shale 20 - 22.5 ft 12- 11-74 25 50(1") 50(1/2") 10 Dark gray shale 21.5 - 25 ft 30 50(1") 50(1/2") 11 Dark gray shale 25 - 27.5 ft 30 50(2") 50(1/4") 12 Dark gray shale 27.5 - 30 ft 30 50(2-1/4") 50(1/4") 12 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50(2-1/4") 50(1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50(2-1/4") 50(1/2") 13 Dark gray shale		10		•••	26	24	4						Tan sandy and gravelly clay 7.5 - 10 ft
15 50(2-1/2") 50(1-1/2") 6 Dark gray shale 50(1-1/2") 50(1/2") 7 Dark gray shale 15 - 17.5 ft 20 50(2") 50(3/4") 8 Dark gray shale 17.5 - 20 ft 12- 9-74 50(1/2") 50(3/4") 9 Dark gray shale 20 - 22.5 ft 12-11-74 50(1/2") 50(1/2") 10 Dark gray shale 20 - 22.5 ft 12-11-74 25 50(1") 50(1/2") 10 Dark gray shale 22.5 - 25 ft 30 50(1-3/4") 50(1/4") 12 Dark gray shale 25 - 27.5 ft 30 50(1-3/4") 50(1/4") 12 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50(2-1/4") 50(1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50 14 25 ft - 30 ft Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft				. A .	50(5-1/2")	50(5-1/4") 5						Tan clayey sand & gravel 10 - 12.5 ft
20 = 50 (1-1/2") 50 (3/4") 7 Dark gray shale 15 - 17.5 ft 20 = 50 (2") 50 (3/4") 8 Dark gray shale 17.5 - 20 ft 12-9-74 20 = 50 (1/2") 50 (3/4") 9 Dark gray shale 20 - 22.5 ft 12-11-74 25 = 50 (1") 50 (1/2") 10 Dark gray shale 22.5 - 25 ft 12-11-74 25 = 50 (1") 50 (1/2") 10 Dark gray shale 25 - 27.5 ft 12-11-74 26 = 50 (1-3/4") 50 (1/2") 11 Dark gray shale 25 - 27.5 ft 12-11-74 30 = 50 (1-3/4") 50 (1/2") 11 Dark gray shale 25 - 27.5 ft 12-11-74 30 = 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 11 Dark gray shale 25 - 27.5 ft 12-11-74 30 = 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 12 Dark gray shale 27.5 - 30 ft 12-11-74 30 = 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 27.5 - 30 ft 12-11-74 31 = 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 12-11-74 32 = 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale					50(2-1/2")	50(1 - 1/2") 6						Dark gray shale
20 20 20 20 17.5 - 20 11 12- 9-74 25 50 (1/2") 50 (3/4") 9 Dark gray shale 20 - 22.5 ft 12-11-74 25 50 (1") 50 (1/2") 10 Dark gray shale 22.5 - 25 ft 26 50 (2") 50 (1/2") 10 Dark gray shale 25 - 27.5 ft 30 50 (1-3/4") 50 (1/2") 11 Dark gray shale 27.5 - 30 ft 30 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50		20	<u> </u> +-		50(1-1/2")	50 (1/2")	7						Dark gray shale 15 - 17.5 ft Dark gray shale 17.5 gray shale 17.5 gray shale
25 50 (1/2") 50 (3/4") 9 Dark gray shale 20 - 22.5 ft 12-11-74 25 50 (1") 50 (1/2") 10 Dark gray shale 22.5 - 25 ft 30 50 (2") 50 (1/2") 11 Dark gray shale 25 - 27.5 ft 30 50 (1-3/4") 50 (1/4") 12 Dark gray shale 27.5 - 30 ft 30 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft 50 (2-1/4") 50 (1/2") 13 Dark gray shale 50 (1/2") 50 (2-1						50 (5/4 /				· · · · · · · ·			
30		25			50 (1/2") 50 (1")	50 (3/4") 50 (1/2")	<u>9</u> 10						Dark gray shale 20 - 22.5 ft 12-11-74 Dark gray shale 22.5 - 25 ft 12-11-74
30					50 (2")	50 (1/2")	11						Dark gray shale 25 - 27.5 ft
		30			50(1-3/4")	50 (1/4")	12						Dark gray shale 27.5-30 ft
35 **Tests done from 2.5 ft - 30 ft at 215-ft intervals. Last test at 33 ft depth.					50(2-1/4")	50 (1/2")	13						Dark gray shale 30 - 33 ft End of hole at 33.2 ft
		35	1		**Tests	done from	2.5 ft	- 30 fr	at 2	<u>5-f</u>	t ir	ter	rvals. Last test at 33 ft depth.

findicate each foot by shading for core recovery, leaving blank for no core recovery, and crossing (X) for undisturbed laboratory samples takes.

29-850 F 291 2-69 10M

155

This page replaces an intentionally blank page in the original --- CTR Library Digitization Team

APPENDIX B

RESULTS OF IN-HOLE TESTS

This page replaces an intentionally blank page in the original. -- CTR Library Digitization Team

LocationMontopolisProject3-5-72-176Date12/16/1974TestStatic Dutch ConeNo. 1Strain Indicator Constant for Pressure Transducer:1 microinch/inch =2.0lb. ByR. Aurora & J. AnagnosDepth from Existing Ground Surface to Top of Exposed Shale =16ft.I.D. of Steel Casing =48in.Cone Size:1.4 in. dia(A = 10 sq.cm. =1.55 sq.in.)Plate Size:2.5 in. dia(A = 4.91 sq.in.)

Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks	Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks
*	28	56	2.6	*Contact	2.00	890	1780	82.7	
** = 0.00	425	850	39.5	Cone Full in **	2.25	1010	2020	93.8	
0.25	655	1310	60.9		2.50	1065	2130	98.9	
0.50	778	1556	72.3		2.75	1240	2480	115.2	
0.75	672	1344	62.4		3.00	1302	2604	121.0	-
1.00	860	1720	79.9		3.25	1318	2636	122.4	
1.25	872	1744	81.0		3.50	1370	2740	127.3	
1.50	942	1884	87.5		3.75	1600	3200	148.6	See Note 3
1.75	993	1986	92.3		4.00	1955	3910	181.6	

Notes: 1. It was not possible to penetrate the shale in a truly vertical direction. The steel rod tended to slide sideways as small chunks of shale came off with increased penetration of the cone.

2. The ram of the jack was probably at the end of travel at a penetration of 4 in. below the top of the shale. Last reading should be ignored.

3. P_{max} = 3200 lb; q_c = ultimate cone bearing pressure = 148.6 tsf.

Location	Montopolis	Project	3-5-72-1	.7 <u>6</u> Da	ate <u>1</u> 2	/16/19	74	Test	St	atic	Duto	ch Co	ne	No	· _2
Strain Ind	licator Constan	t for Press	ure Transd	ucer: 1	microir	ich/inc	h =	2.0	_1b.	By	<u>R. A</u>	uror	a &	<u>J. A</u>	nagnos
Depth from	Existing Ground	nd Surface	to Top of E	xposed Sh	nale =	16	_ft.	I.D.	ofSt	tee1	Casir	ng =		48	in.
Cone Size	: 1.4 in. dia	(A = 10)) sq.cm. =	• 1.55 so	q.in.)	Pl	late	Size:	2.5	in.	dia	(A	= 4	.91	sq.in.)

Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks	Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks
*	18	36	1.7	*Contact	2.00	922	1844	85.7	
** = 0.00	448	896	41.6	**Cone Full in	2.25	990	1980	92.0	
0.25	584	1168	54.3		2.50	1150	2300	106.8	
0.50	742	1484	68.9		2.75	1280	2560	118.9	
0.75	682	1364	63.4		3.00	1342	2684	124.7	
1.00	857	1714	79.6		3.25	1420	2840	131.9	
1.25	620	1240	57.6		3.50	1532	3064	142.3	-
1.50	790	1580	73.4		3.75	1575	3150	146.3	S ee Note 3
1.75	906	1812	84.2		4.00	2832 ?	_	-	See Note 2

Notes: 1. Same as Note 1 for Static Dutch Cone Test No. 1.

2. Same as Note 2 for Static Dutch Cone Test No. 2.

3. $P_{max} = 3150$ lb; $q_c =$ ultimate cone bearing pressure = 146.3 tsf.

*Tip of cone just touching shale.

Location <u>Montopo</u>	<u>lis</u> Project	3-5-72-176	Date	12/16/1974	_ Test	Static	Dutch Cone	No	3
Strain Indicator Co	onstant for Pres	sure Transducer	: 1 micr	oinch/inch	=	_1b. By	R. Aurora 8	🕹 J. Anas	<u>gnos</u>
Depth from Existing	Ground Surface	to Top of Expose	d Shale	= <u>16</u> f	t. I.D.	ofSteel	Casing = _	48	_in.
Cone Size: 1.4 in	n. dia (A = 1	0 sq.cm. = 1.5	5 sq.in	.) Plat	e Size:	2.5 in.	dia (A =	4.91 sq.	in.)

Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks	Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks
*	12	24	1.1	*Contact	2.00	1220	2440	113.3	
** = 0.00	462	924	42.9	**Cone Full in	2.25	1180	2360	109.6	
0.25	590	1180	54.8		2.50	1210	2420	112.4	
0.50	530	1060	49.2		2.75	1320	2640	122.6	
0.75	737	1474	68.5		3.00	1452	2904	134.9	
1.00	660	1320	61.3		3.25	1625	3250	151.0	
1.25	910	1820	84.5		3.50	1645	3290	152.8	See Note 2
1.50	958	1916	89.0		3.75	1550	3100	144.0	
1.75	1106	2212	102.8						

Notes:

1. Same as Note 1 for Static Dutch Cone Test No. 1. 2. $P_{max} = 3290$ lb; $q_c =$ ultimate cone bearing pressure = 152.8 tsf.

*Tip of cone just touching shale.

4

Location	Montopolis	Project	3-5-72-17	<u>6</u> Date	12/17/19) 74	Test	Sta	tic	Dutc	h Cone	N	ю.	_4
Strain Ind	dicator Constan	t for Press	ure Transdu	cer: 1 mic	roinch/in	ch =	0	_1b.	Ву	<u>R.</u>	Aurora	& J.	An	agnos
Depth from	m Existing Grour	d Surface t	to Top of Exp	osed Shale	= <u>18</u>	ft,	I.D.	ofSt	eel (Casir	ng = _	4	•8	_in.
Cone Size	; 1.4 in. dia	(A = 10	sq.cm. =	1.55 sq.in	.) P	'late	Size:	2.5	in.	dia	(A =	4.91	. sq	.in.)

Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks	Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks
** = 0.00	510	1020	47.4	Cone Full in **	3.25	1210	2420	112.4	
0.50	580	1160	53.9		3.50	1323	2646	122.9	
1.00	800	1600	74.3		3.75	1416	2832	131.6	
1.50	784	1568	72.8		4.00	1510	3020	140.3	
2.00	916	1832	85.1		4.25	1568	3136	145.7	
2.25	966	1932	89.7		4.50	1620	3240	150.5	
2.50	972	1944	90.3		4.75	1710	3420	158.9	S ee Note 3
2.75	1055	2110	98.0		- End of	Ram Travel -			
3.00	1132	2264	105.2						

Notes: 1. Same as Note 1 for Static Dutch Cone Test No. 1.

2. More than 2 in. eccentricity at end of test. 3. $P_{max} = 3420$ lb; $q_c =$ ultimate cone bearing pressure = 158.9 tsf.

Location <u>Montopolis</u> Project <u>3-5-72-176</u> Date <u>12/17/1974</u> Test <u>Static Dutch Cone</u> No. <u>5</u> Strain Indicator Constant for Pressure Transducer: 1 microinch/inch = <u>2.0</u> lb. By <u>R. Aurora & J. Anagnos</u> Depth from Existing Ground Surface to Top of Exposed Shale = <u>18</u> ft. I.D. of Steel Casing = <u>48</u> in. Cone Size: 1.4 in. dia (A = 10 sq.cm. = 1.55 sq.in.) Plate Size: 2.5 in. dia (A = 4.91 sq.in.)

Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks	Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks
** = 0.00	428	856	39.8	**Cone Full in	2.25	1284	2568	119.3	
0.25	628	1256	58.3		2.50	1305	2610	121.3	
0.50	626	1252	58.2		2.75	1372	2744	127.5	
0.75	565	1130	52.5		3.00	1318	2636	122.5	
1.00	784	1568	72.8		3.25	1300	2600	120.8	
1.25	904	1808	84.0		3.50	1400	2800	130.1	See Note 4
1.50	955	1910	88.7						
1.75	1014	2028	94.2						
2.00	1126	2252	104.6						

Notes: 1. Same as Note 1 for Static Dutch Cone Test No. 1.

2. Eccentricity at end of test was more than 2 in.

3. Ram leaked in this test. Results of this test may be questionable.

4. $P_{max} = 2800 \text{ lb}; q_c = \text{ultimate cone bearing pressure} = 130.1 \text{ tsf.}$

Location	Montopolis	Project	3-5-72-17	6 Date	12/17/1	<u>974</u>	Test _	Sta	tic D	utch	Cone	_ No	• <u>6</u>	_
Strain Ind	icator Constan	t for Press	ure Transduc	er: 1 micr	oinch/inc	:h = _	2.0	1Ъ.	By <u>R</u>	. Aur	ora 8	<u>× J. A</u>	nagnos	_
Depth from	Existing Grour	d Surface t	to Top of Exp	osed Shale	=18	_ft.	I.D.	ofSt	eel Ca	asing	1	48	in .	
Cone Size	: 1.4 in. dia	(A = 10)	sq.cm. =	1.55 sq.in	.) PI	late S:	ize:	2.5	ín. d	ia (A	/ =	4.91	sq.in.))

Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks	Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks
** = 0.00	490	980	45.5	**Cone Full in	2.25	1174	2348	109.1	
0.25	616	1232	57.2		2.50	770	1540	71.5	See Note 3
0.50	730	1460	67.8		2.75	830	1660	77.1	
0.75	854	1708	79.3		3.00	1106	2212	102.8	
1.00	768	1536	71.3		3.25	1194	2388	110.9	
1.25	886	1772	82.3		3.50	1275	2550	118.5	
1.50	998	1996	92.7		3.75	1436	2872	133.4	See Note 4
1.75	992	1984	92.2		- End of	Ram Travel -			
2.00	1022	2044	95.0						

1. Same as Note 1 for Static Dutch Cone Test No. 1. Notes:

2. Eccentricity was in excess of 1 in. at end of test.

Soil broke loose at penetration of 2-1/2 in.
 P_{max} = 2872 lb; q_c = ultimate cone bearing pressure = 133.4 tsf.

Location _	Dallas	Project	3-5-72-176	Date	8/15/	1975	Test	Sta	tic	Dutcl	n Cone		No.	7
Strain Ind:	icator Constant	for Press	ure Transducer	: 1 micr	coinch/i	nch =	1.0	1b.	By	R. 4	Aurora	& J	<u>Ane</u>	ignos
Depth from	Existing Groun	d Surface (to Top of Expose	ed Shale	= **:	<u>*</u> ft	. I.D.	ofSt	eel	Casi	ng =		54	_ in.
Cone Size:	1.4 in. dia	(A = 10)	sq.cm. = 1.5	55 sq.in	.)	Plate	Size:	2.5	ín.	dia	(A =	4.9	1 sq	.in.)

Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks	Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks
** = 0.00	480	480	22.3	**Cone Full in					
0.25	950	950	44.1						
0.50	1110	1110	51.6						
0.75	1270	1270	59.0						
1.00	1150	1150	53.4						
1.25	1120	1120	52.0						
1.50	1270	1270	59.0						
1.75	1350	1350	62.7	See Note 3					

Notes: 1. Top of exposed shale 5 ft below top of shale layer. ***

2. Same as Note 1 for Static Dutch Cone Test No. 1. 3. $P_{max} = 1350$ lb; $q_c =$ ultimate cone bearing pressure = 62.7 tsf.

Location _	Dallas	Project	3-5-72-176	Date	8/15/1975	Test	Sta	tic Dutc	h Cone	N	10. <u>8</u>	
Strain Ind:	icator Constan	t for Press	ure Transduce	er: 1 micr	oinch/inch =	1.0	1b.	By <u>R.</u>	Aurora	& J.	Anagno	<u>s</u>
Depth from	Existing Grou	d Surface	to Top of Expo	sed Shale	= <u>***</u> ft	. I.D.	ofSt	eel Casi	ng = _		ir	1.
Cone Size:	1.4 in. dia	(A = 10)	sq.cm. = 1	.55 sq.in.) Plate	Size:	2.5	in. dia	(A =	4.91	. sq.in.)

Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks	Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks
** = 0.00	570	570	26.5	**Con e Full in	2.25	1260	1260	58.5	See Note 3
0.25	845	845	39.3		2.50	1180	1180		
0.50	550	550	25.5						
0.75	790	790	36.7						
1.00	860	860	39.9						
1.25	1030	1030	47.8						
1.50	1125	1125	52.3						
1.75	1230	1230	57.1						
2.00	1260	1260	58,5						

Notes: 1. Top of exposed shale 5 ft below top of shale layer. ***

2. Same as Note 1 for Static Dutch Cone Test No. 1.

3. P_{max} = 1260 lb; q_c = ultimate cone bearing pressure = 58.5 tsf.

Location	Dallas	Project	3-5-72-176	Date	8/15/1975	Test	Static	Dutch Con	e_ No.	9
Strain Indi	cator Constant	t for Pressu	ire Transducer:	1 microi	inch/inch =	1.0	_1b. By	R. Aurora	& J. An	agnos
Depth from E	Existing Groun	d Surface t	o Top of Expose	d Shale =	<u>***</u> ft.	I.D.	ofSteel	Casing =	54	in.
Cone Size:	1.4 in. dia	(A = 10)	sq.cm. = 1.5	5 sq.in.)	Plate	Size:	2.5 in.	dia (A =	4.91 s	q.in.)

Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks	Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks
** = 0.00	760	760	35.3	**Cone Full in	2.25	1300	1300	60.4	See Note 3
0.25	805	805	37.4						
0.50	710	710	33.0						
0.75	840	840	39.0						
1.00	950	950	44.1						
1.25	1140	1140	53.0						
1.50	980	980	45.5						
1.75	960	960	44.6						
2.00	1170	1170	54.3						

Notes: 1. Top of exposed shale 5 ft below top of shale layer. ***

2. Same as Note 1 for Static Dutch Cone Test No. 1.

3. $P_{max} = 1300$ lb; $q_c =$ ultimate cone bearing pressure = 60.4 tsf.
LocationMontopolisProject3-5-72-176Date12/16/1974TestPlate Load TestNo.1Strain Indicator Constant for Pressure Transducer:1 microinch/inch =21b.ByR. Aurora & J. AnagnosDepth from Existing Ground Surface to Top of Exposed Shale =16ft.I.D. of Steel Casing =48in.Cone Size:1.4 in. dia(A = 10 sq.cm. = 1.55 sq.in.)Plate Size:2.5 in. dia(A = 4.91 sq.in.)

Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/in c h	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Rem ar ks	Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks
** = 0.00	44	88		**Contact					
0.25	332	664							
0.50	688	1376							
0.75	1025	2050							
1,00	1300	2600							
1.25	1505	3010							
1.50	1715	3430							
1.70	2108	4216							
2.00	2170	4340		See notes below					

Notes: 1. There was excessive horizontal sliding of plate at soil-plate interface.

2. Chunks of shale about 0.50 - 0.75 in. thick and 8 to 10 in. long in radial sectors came off as plate penetrated the shale. Radial cracks in shale always started from the edge of plate and extended outwards towards edge of the test hole. Eccentricities exceeded 2 in. at the end of test.

3. Due to conditions in notes 1 and 2 above it is not possible to determine plunging conditions.

Location	Montopolis	Project .	3-5-72-1	.76 Date	12/17/	<u>1974</u>	Test	P1	<u>ate</u>	Load	Test	1	₹o	2
Strain India	cator Constant	for Press	ure Transdi	ucer: 1 mic	roinch/ir	1ch =	2.0	16.	Ву	R	Aurora	& J.	Ana	ignos
Depth from E	xisting Groun	d Surface (to Top of Ex	posed Shale	= <u>16</u>	ft.	. I.D.	ofSt	eel	Casi	ng = _	4	8	_in.
Cone Size:	1.4 in. dia	(A = 10	sq.cm. =	1.55 sq.i	n.)	Plate	Size:	2.5	in.	dia	(A =	4.9	l sq.	.in.)

Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks	Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks
** = 0.00	0	0	0	**Contact					
0.25	594	1188	17.4						
0.50	905	1810	26.5						
0.75	1277	2554	37.5						
1.00	1570	3140	46.0						
1.25	1820	3640	53.4	·					
1.50	2252	4504	66.0						
1.75	2532	5064	74.3	See Note 1					
2.00	2373	4746	69.6						

Location _	Montopolis	Project	3-5-72-176	Date	12/17/2	1974	Test	Pl	late	Load	l Test	·	No.	
Strain Ind:	icator Constant	for Press	ure Transducer	: 1 mic:	roinch/in	ch =	2.0	1b.	By	<u>R.</u>	Auror	a &	J. Ar	nagnos
Depth from	Existing Ground	dSurface	to Top of Expose	d Shale	= <u>18</u>	ft	. I.D.	ofSt	eel:	Casi	ng =		48	in.
Cone Size:	1.4 in. dia	(A = 10	sq.cm. = 1.5	5 sq.in	1.) I	21ate	Size:	2.5	ín.	dia	(A :	= 4.	91 so	q.in.)

Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks	Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks
* = 0.00	18	36	0.5						
0.25	908	1816	26.6						
0.50	2182	4314	64.0	See Note 1					
0.75	590	1180	17.3						
									_

Location	Montopolis	Project	3-5-72-	176	Date _	12/17/1	1974	Test	<u>P</u>	late	Load	Test		No.	
Strain Ind	licator Consta	nt for Press	ure Transo	lucer:	1 micro	oinch/in	ch =	2.0	1Ъ.	By	R	Aurora	1 & J	J <u>. An</u>	<u>agnos</u>
Depth from	nExisting Grou	nd Surface	to Top of E	xposed :	Shale	= <u>18</u>	ft.	. I.D.	ofSt	teel	Casi	ng =		48	in.
Cone Size	: 1.4 in. dia	a (A = 10) sq.cm. =	= 1.55	sq.in.) I	Plate	Size:	2.5	in.	dia	(A =	4.9)1 sq	.in.)

Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks	Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks
** = 0.00	12	24	0.4						
0.25	1623	3246	47.6						
0.50	2110	4220	61.9						
0.75	2276	4552	66.8						
1.00	2460	4920	72.1	See Note 1					

.

Location	Montopolis	Projec	t <u>3-5-7</u>	2-176	Date _	12/17/	1974	Test	P	late	Load	Test	N	lo	_5
Strain Ind	licator Const	ant for Pre	ssure Tran	nsducer:	l mícr	oinch/ir	nch =	2.0	_1ь.	By	R.	Aurora	& J.	Ana	ignos
Depth from	n Existing Gro	und Surfac	e to Top of	Exposed	Shale	=18	ft.	. 1.D.	ofS	teel	Casi	ng = _	4	8	_in.
Cone Size	: 1.4 in. d	ia (A =	10 sq.cm.	= 1.55	sq.in	.)	Plate	Size:	2.5	in.	dia	(A =	4.91	sq.	in.)

Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (lb.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks	Penetration Below Top of Shale (in.)	Strain Indicator Reading microinch/inch	Load P (1b.)	Bearing Pressure $\frac{P}{A} \times \frac{144}{2000}$ (tsf)	Remarks
** = 0.00	38	76	1.1	**Contact					
0.25	1314	2628	38.5						
0.50	1970	3940	57.8						
0.75	1904	3808	55.8						
1.00	1380	2760	40.5	See Note 1					